DESIGN, FABRICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF ION TRAPS BASED ON INDUSTRIAL MICROFABRICATION TECHNOLOGIES

SILKE AUCHTER

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Mathematics, Computer Science and Physics of the Leopold-Franzens University of Innsbruck in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (Physics)



Carried out at the Institute for Experimental Physics under supervision of o. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Rainer Blatt in the group for Quantum Optics and Spectroscopy.

May 31, 2023

Abstract

Ion traps are one of the most promising platforms to host a future quantum computer, as they combine the lowest error rate to date with a realistic path towards scalability. Performing useful tasks on a trapped-ion quantum computer, which have a meaningful impact in areas such as material science, logistics or security, will require hundreds or thousands of interacting ions. Although strings of more than 100 ions have been confined in linear traps, no individual control of the single ions in these devices has been achieved. Thus, scaling this technology to thousands or even more ions remains a major challenge, with one reasonable approach being the modularization of the ion trap. An important step towards realizing a large-scale trapped-ion quantum computer is the design, fabrication and characterization of microstructured ion traps. These enable complex trap designs for confining and individually controlling large numbers of single ions. Therefore, this thesis focuses on the realization of ion traps on microchips by means of industrial microfabrication technologies.

I present the fabrication and testing of a 2D ion trap array, which forms a prototype for a quantum-information processor composed of a 2D lattice of single ions. The lattice is generated by separate potential wells, each hosting one or multiple single ions. Coupling of individually trapped ions can be achieved via Coulomb interaction by reducing the distance between the lattice sites.

Furthermore, a second ion trap design was developed to face the challenge of insufficient confinement potential in surface ion traps, in which the trap electrodes reside in only one plane. An ion trap with three-dimensional architecture is presented: a surface trap created by the bottom layer of the trap is extended by a top layer with additional DC electrodes to enhance the trap depth by a factor of around ten compared to a surface trap with the same ion-electrode distance. This ion trap prototype provides a promising basis for upcoming scalable 3D ion traps with additional integrated functionality.

Zusammenfassung

Ionenfallen sind eine der vielversprechendsten Plattformen zur Umsetzung eines zukünftigen Quantencomputers, da sie die bisher niedrigste demonstrierte Fehlerrate mit einem realistischen Skalierungspfad kombinieren. Zur Durchführung nützlicher Aufgaben auf einem ionenbasierten Quantencomputer in Bereichen wie Bio- und Materialwissenschaften, Logistik oder sichere Kommunikation, werden jedoch Hunderte oder Tausende von wechselwirkenden Ionen benötigt. Obwohl bereits Ketten von mehr als 100 Ionen in linearen Fallen gespeichert wurden, konnte bisher keine Kontrolle der einzelnen Ionen in solchen Ketten erreicht werden. Die Skalierung der Technologie auf Tausende oder mehr Ionen ist deshalb eine große Herausforderung, wobei ein möglicher Ansatz die Modularisierung der Ionenfalle darstellt. Ein wichtiger Schritt auf dem Weg zur Realisierung eines skalierbaren, ionenbasierten Quantencomputers ist die Entwicklung, Herstellung und Charakterisierung von mikrostrukturierten Ionenfallen. Solche Mikrofallen ermöglichen komplexe Fallendesigns zur Speicherung einer großen Anzahl einzelner Ionen und unterstützen eine individuelle Kontrolle der gefangenen Ionen. Aus diesem Grund konzentriert sich diese Arbeit auf die Realisierung von Ionenfallen auf Mikrochips mit Hilfe industrieller Mikrofabrikationstechnologien.

Ich beschreibe die Herstellung und die Charakterisierung einer Ionenfalle bestehend aus einem zweidimensionalen Ionen-Gitter, die den Prototyp eines Quanteninformationsprozessors bildet. In dieser Ionenfalle können einzelne Ionen in separaten Potentialtöpfen gespeichert werden, die in einem zweidimensionalen Gitter angeordnet sind. Die Kopplung der einzelnen Ionen erfolgt durch Coulomb-Wechselwirkung.

Darüber hinaus wurde ein zweites Ionenfallendesign mit stärkerem Einschlusspotential als in üblichen Oberflächenfallen entwickelt. Diese Ionenfalle besitzt eine dreidimensionale Architektur: Eine untere Schicht bildet eine Oberflächenfalle, die durch eine obere Schicht mit zusätzlichen DC Elektroden erweitert wird. Diese zusätzlichen Elektroden erhöhen das Einschlusspotential im Vergleich zu einer Oberflächenfalle mit demselben Abstand zwischen Ionen und Elektroden um den Faktor zehn. Dieser Ionenfallen-Prototyp bildet eine vielversprechende Grundlage für kommende skalierbare 3D-Ionenfallen, in die zusätzliche Funktionalität wie Optik oder Elektronik integriert werden kann.

Contents

1	Introduction								
2	Fundamentals of ion trapping								
	2.1	Radio	-frequency ion traps	6					
	2.2	The ca	alcium ion	9					
	2.3	3 Ion-laser interaction							
	2.4	ng, initialization and detection	13						
		2.4.1	Doppler cooling	14					
		2.4.2	Sideband cooling	14					
		2.4.3	State initialization	15					
		2.4.4	State detection	16					
3	Scalable ion traps 17								
	3.1	Micros	structured ion traps	19					
		3.1.1	Surface traps	19					
		3.1.2	Three-dimensional ion traps	23					
3.2 Motional heating									
		3.2.1	Sources of heating	25					
		3.2.2	Measuring the heating rate	27					
4	2D linear ion trap array 29								
	4.1	Conce	pt	30					
		4.1.1	Trap geometry	32					
		4.1.2	Routing and layer stack	34					
		4.1.3	Design rules	39					
	4.2	Trap f	abrication	40					
		4.2.1	Silicon as basis material for ion traps	40					
		4.2.2	Basic fabrication steps	42					
		4.2.3	Fabrication changes for multiple trap generations	46					

		4.2.4	Dicing
		4.2.5	Packaging
	4.3	Electr	ical characterization $\ldots \ldots 51$
		4.3.1	Resistance of metal layers and vias
		4.3.2	Breakdown tests
		4.3.3	Capacitance measurements
	4.4	Exper	imental setup $\ldots \ldots 57$
		4.4.1	Cryostat and vacuum chamber
		4.4.2	Trap setup
		4.4.3	Optical setup
		4.4.4	Experiment control
	4.5	Ion tra	ap performance
		4.5.1	Substrate influence on the RF resonator
		4.5.2	Ions trapped in two arrays
		4.5.3	RF induced magnetic fields
		4.5.4	Heating rate measurements $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 71$
		4.5.5	Discussion and outlook
F	٩D	ллблла	Rion trop 76
J	5 1	Trop	losign 77
	0.1	511	Trap concept 77
		512	Geometry and simulations 70
		513	Routing and laver stack 84
		5.1.4	Design rules 86
	52	Tran f	Design futes
	0.2	5.2.1	Bottom wafer 80
		5.2.1	Spacer wafer 00
		5.2.2	Top wafer 92
		5.2.0	Wafer bonding 96
		525	Dicing and Packaging 100
	5.3	Qualit	v analysis 102
	0.0	531	Inline measurements 102
		5.3.2	Surface characterization
		5.3.3	Waferbond characterization
		5.3.4	Detection and solving of failures
	5.4	Ion tr	ap performance
		5.4.1	Preparation and trap setup
		· · · · ·	

		5.4.2 Trap characterization	114			
		5.4.3 Discussion	117			
6	Proposal for a 3D ion trap array					
	6.1	Trap concept	120			
	6.2	Design challenges	122			
	6.3	Simulations	130			
	6.4	Implementation and fabrication challenges	132			
	6.5	Outlook	136			
7	Sun	nmary and Outlook	137			

Acronyms

- **AFM** atomic force microscopy
- AOM acousto-optical modulator
- **CCD** charge-coupled device
- ${\bf CD}\,$ critical dimension
- $\mathbf{CMOS} \ \text{complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor}$
- \mathbf{CMP} chemical-mechanical polishing
- CSAM confocal scanning acoustic microscopy
- \mathbf{CTE} coefficient of thermal expansion
- ${\bf DAC}$ digital-to-analog converter
- $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{C}$ direct current
- **DRIE** deep reactive ion etching
- EDX energy dispersive X-Ray analysis
- EPIG electroless palladium / immersion gold
- ${\bf F}{\bf A}$ failure analysis
- ${\bf FEM}$ finite-element method
- **HF** hydrofluoric acid
- HV high vacuum
- $\mathbf{imox}\ \mathrm{inter-metal}\ \mathrm{oxide}$
- ${\bf JN}$ Johnson-Nyquist noise

- KAI Kompetenzzentrum für Automobil- und Industrieelektronik
- $\mathbf{LGA}\ \mathrm{land}\ \mathrm{grid}\ \mathrm{array}$
- **LIDE** laser-induced deep etching
- ${\bf LPCVD}$ low-pressure chemical vapour deposition
- **MEMS** micro-electro-mechanical systems
- **NA** numerical aperture
- PCB printed circuit board
- \mathbf{PDH} Pound-Drever-Hall
- **PIEDMONS** Portable Ion-Entangling Devices for Mobile-Oriented Next-generation Semiconductor-Technologies
- \mathbf{PMT} photomultiplier tube
- **POR** process of records
- QCCD quantum charge-coupled device
- \mathbf{RF} radio frequency
- **SEM** scanning electron microscopy
- **SOI** silicon on insulator
- **TEOS** tetraethyl orthosilicate
- **TGV** through-glass via
- **TLF** two-level fluctuator
- ${\bf TSV}$ through-substrate via
- ${\bf UHV}\,$ ultra-high vacuum
- via vertical interconnect access

Chapter 1 Introduction

With the increasing attention on quantum computing, the question arises what advantage this technology has over classical computing. The advantage of quantum computers is mainly given by the fast and efficient solution to special mathematical problems, such as optimization problems and the simulation of quantum systems, where classical computers quickly reach their limits. Examples for such algorithms are Shor's algorithm [1] for the factorization of large numbers, or Grover's search algorithm [2] for scanning through large sets of unstructured data. Moreover, as suggested by Richard Feynman [3] as early as 1982, such a quantum system can also be used to simulate and understand the behavior and dynamics of other quantum systems. Currently, the search for new quantum algorithms is ongoing, with potential applications in a wide range of fields, such as materials science, in the search for room-temperature superconductors [4], or life sciences, to improve the efficiency of fertilizer production [5], or to find new pharmaceuticals [6]. However, the mentioned computational advantage can only be achieved when the quantum computer system reaches a sufficient size, which is currently still a major technological challenge.

Quantum computing with trapped ions

There are various physical systems for constructing a quantum processor, such as superconducting circuits [7], trapped ions [8], photonic qubits [9], quantum dots [10], neutral atoms [11] or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) devices [12]. In order to assess the suitability of a technology for the development of a quantum computer, David DiVincenco [13, 14] has established the following criteria:

- 1. A scalable physical system formed by well-characterized qubits
- 2. Initialization of the qubit to a suitable state

- 3. Long coherence times exceeding the time necessary to perform gate operations
- 4. A universal set of quantum gates
- 5. A reliable method for detecting the qubit state

Trapped-ion quantum systems satisfy most of these criteria: The two-state qubit system is formed by two electronic states of the ion. The initialization of the qubit state is achieved by laser cooling of the motional modes and optically pumping the ion to the desired electronic state. Coherence times in the range of minutes can be achieved [15], exceeding typical gate times in the range of microseconds. Moreover, a universal set of quantum gates has been found, and these gates have already been implemented with high fidelities of > 99.99 % for single qubit gates and > 99.9 % for two-qubit gates [16, 17]. State-dependent fluorescence detection gives a reliable method to read out the qubit state [18]. Moreover, as an additional prerequisite, moving ions inside the trap, also referred to as *ion shuttling*, has been demonstrated for different ion trap geometries [19–21].

While most of these requirements have already been individually demonstrated, scaling the number of ions to hundreds or thousands of ions still remains one of the major challenges towards a universal trapped-ion quantum computer. Today, experiments with trapped ions are often conducted in ion traps, where the ions are trapped inside a single confining potential well [22–25]. These traps are easy to fabricate and are well suited for operation with a limited number of ions. However, trapping long strings of ions in a single potential leads to several complications: With the number of ions trapped in the same potential, also the number of motional modes increases, which hinders the spectral isolation and addressing of individual motional frequencies of the ions. This poses a challenge for the implementation of high-fidelity two-qubit gates. Furthermore, the axial confinement along the trap axis needs to be reduced for stable trapping of a long 1D ion chain, and low axial frequencies are very sensitive to heating up. Therefore, long linear ion traps are not suitable for scaling to more than 100 ions, which triggers the need for new concepts.

One solution to this problem is to divide the string of trapped ions into smaller modules in separate confining potential wells. Depending on the desired quantum operation, the ion strings are then shuttled and combined within the trap. One approach of such a modularization of the quantum register is the implementation of the quantum charge-coupled device (QCCD) architecture [26–28], which contains multiple functional trapping zones. Smaller modules of trapped ions are shuttled in between these zones to fulfill different tasks such as storage, interaction or read-out. A challenge of such an architecture is the requirement of junctions to connect multiple functional zones within a reasonable scalable geometry in two dimensions. Besides QCCD, another approach towards a scalable trap architecture is a two dimensional trap array [29]. In such an array, single ions are trapped in individual trapping sites, forming a two-dimensional lattice. Coupling of ions in the array is achieved by reducing the inter-ion distance to allow for Coulomb interaction of the charged particles. In this approach, the ions do not have to be shuttled between different zones. In addition, simultaneous coupling between linear ion strings is possible. Figure 1.1 shows a schematic of both mentioned geometries.



Figure 1.1: Approaches for the scaling of ion traps. a) Two-dimensional ion trap lattice array. b) QCCD architecture divided into functional zones.

Both approaches can only be realized by microfabrication of the ion trap due to the complexity of the electrode geometry. The number of required electrodes, which usually have to be individually controllable, increases with the number of trapped ions. This scaling problem can be solved by fabricating ion traps on microchips, since in this case several metal layers can be used for routing the electrical connections. Reliable and reproducible devices are required, which can be realized by an industrial fabrication based on productive standard processes from semiconductor manufacturing.

The first part of this thesis is focused on the development of a 2D ion trap array. In the developed prototype, ions are trapped in two parallel linear trap arrays, forming a two-dimensional lattice. Trapping in separate potential wells enables individual control of the single ions. By shuttling, the inter-ion distance between neighboring ions can be reduced to achieve coupling via well-to-well interactions [30–32]. A microfabrication process using a total of three metal layers separated by silicon dioxide layers is employed to achieve the routing of the 80 segmented electrodes to the bond pads at the edge of the ion trap chip for electrical connection.

The 2D ion trap has planar electrodes, which are in principle scalable. They exhibit a low confinement potential of typically a few tens to hundreds of electronvolts, decreasing ion storage times due to background gas collisions [23, 33]. In contrast, macroscopic traps show an intrinsically much higher confinement potential generated by the symmetrical configuration of the RF electrodes. However, these traps are not scalable, since the possibilities of complex layouts are severely limited. Thus, a microstructured ion trap was developed, in which a surface trap as a bottom layer was extended with additional DC electrodes in a top layer to enhance trap depth. The increased confinement potential is generated by the effect of the top electrodes pushing the trapped ions towards the bottom electrodes, as well as by more symmetrical electric field lines in the area of the trapping site. The 3D architecture is realized by anodic wafer bonding [34] of the top and bottom wafer to a glass spacer. This trap serves as a prototype with a single trapping site, but can be scaled due to the multi-metal layer technology provided by the bottom wafer. Such a microstructured ion trap also allows for the integration of functionality in multiple layers such as electronics [35-37] or optics [38-40], which is essential for scaling beyond hundreds of controlled ions.

Finally, the concept of a 2D trap array combined with a 3D architecture for an enhanced confinement potential is presented. Basic simulations of a potential trap geometry are shown, and possible realizations through industrial manufacturing methods as well as technological challenges are described. This concept is intended to indicate a path towards large-scale trapped-ion quantum information processors.

Thesis outline

The remainder of this thesis focuses on the development, manufacturing and testing of scalable ion traps by exploiting the potential of an industrial microfabrication. Both a surface trap with 2D array geometry and a linear ion trap with 3D architecture are discussed. The thesis is structured as follows:

Chapter 2 introduces the fundamentals of ion trapping, including the working principle of Paul traps as well as experimental methods for cooling and manipulating the ion's state. **Chapter 3** gives an overview of different types of microstructured ion traps. Multiple approaches to measure and mitigate heating of the ion trap are discussed. In the following **chapter 4**, the concept and realization of a two-dimensional ion trap array based on two parallel linear strings of ions are presented. The industrial fabrication routine and electrical characterization to test the functionality are described. Moreover, the influence of different materials, used as wafer substrate and trap electrodes, on the trap performance is investigated. Simultaneous trapping and shuttling of multiple ions

is demonstrated. The next **chapter 5**, focuses on a microstructured ion trap with 3D architecture to enhance the confinement potential. The trap design, microfabrication including wafer bonding, and a quality analysis of the trap is presented. Furthermore, the performance of the trap is discussed with a basic analysis of heating rates and stray fields. In **chapter 6**, a proposal to combine the concept of the two-dimensional trap array and the hybrid ion trap with enhanced trap depth due to a 3D architecture is given. **Chapter 7** summarizes the main findings of the thesis.

Chapter 2

Fundamentals of ion trapping

In this chapter, an overview over quantum information processing in radio frequency (RF) Paul traps is given. First, the confinement and motion of ions in a radio-frequency ion trap is described. Moreover, the interaction of a trapped 40 Ca⁺ ion with laser light is discussed, which is essential for the manipulation of the ion's state and thus forms the basis for quantum operations. The last section is dedicated to the quantum optics toolbox used in the experiment, including laser cooling techniques as well as state preparation and readout methods.

2.1 Radio-frequency ion traps

In order to use ions as a basis for quantum information processing, they need to be harmonically confined in all three dimensions. Using only static electric fields, a harmonic potential

$$\phi = \frac{\phi_0}{2d^2} (\alpha x^2 + \beta y^2 + \gamma z^2), \qquad (2.1)$$

is formed with d being the distance of the particle to the nearest electrode, also referred to as ion-electrode distance, which is dependent on the trap geometry. Here, the Laplace equation $\Delta \phi = 0$ must be fulfilled, so that $\alpha + \beta + \gamma = 0$. Therefore, at least one of the coefficients α, β, γ has to be negative, resulting in an anti-confinement of the particle in one direction. For this reason, a charged particle cannot be confined only by an electrostatic potential in all three dimensions [41].

To circumvent this problem, a periodic voltage can be used that creates an oscillating electric field in two dimensions [42]. Figure 2.1 shows a linear Paul trap with hyperbolically shaped trap electrodes confining the trapped ions.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of a Paul trap. a) RF (red) and DC (gray) electrodes form a quadrupole potential that confines the ions (blue circles) in the xy-plane. Additional DC endcap electrodes (yellow) provide confinement in the third dimension. b) Cross section through a Paul trap's electrodes forming the quadrupole potential. Gray lines indicate the electric field lines confining the ion.

Applying an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t)$ with amplitude $V_{\rm RF}$ at an RF drive frequency $\Omega_{\rm RF}$ to the trap electrodes, which are positioned in parallel to the trap axis, generates a time-varying quadrupole potential given by

$$\phi_{\rm RF}(t) = \frac{\kappa_d V_{\rm RF}}{2d^2} (x^2 - y^2) \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t)$$
(2.2)

with the assumption of infinitely long electrodes. Here, κ_d is a dimensionless parameter related to the geometry of the trap electrodes. It defines the strength of the quadrupole potential for a certain ion-electrode distance d and trapping voltage amplitude $V_{\rm RF}$ [43]. As a crude simplification, dynamic trapping is realized for sufficiently fast oscillating RF fields compared to the ion's motion: the direction of the oscillating potential changes faster than the ion can escape in the direction of the anti-confinement. In a Paul trap, the RF quadrupole potential is combined with a static potential $\phi_{\rm DC}$ that confines the ion in the third dimension. This static potential is generated by applying a DC voltage $U_{\rm DC}$ to the so-called endcap electrodes. The total potential of the ion trap is then given by

$$\phi(t) = \phi_{\rm RF}(t) + \phi_{\rm DC}$$

= $\frac{\kappa_d V_{\rm RF}}{2d^2} (x^2 - y^2) \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t) + \frac{\kappa_s U_{\rm DC}}{2d^2} (2z^2 - x^2 - y^2),$ (2.3)

with a geometric factor κ_s , analogous to κ_d . In this electrode configuration, a direct current (DC) potential statically confines the ion in the axial (z) direction and an RF

quadrupole potential dynamically confines the ion in the radial (x-y) directions of the ion trap.

The ion's motion in a potential as defined in equation (2.3) is given by a set of differential equations; the equation of motion in the quadrupole potential is given by

$$\ddot{x}(t) = \frac{-Qx}{Md^2} \left(U_{\rm DC} + V_{\rm RF} \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t) \right)$$
(2.4)

$$\ddot{y}(t) = \frac{-Qy}{Md^2} \left(U_{\rm DC} - V_{\rm RF} \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t) \right), \qquad (2.5)$$

where Q and M are the ion's charge and mass. These equations correspond to a special form of the Mathieu equation [43], by introducing the substitutions

$$q = \frac{2QV_{\rm RF}}{Md^2\Omega_{\rm RF}^2} \text{ and } a = \frac{4QU_{\rm DC}}{Md^2\Omega_{\rm RF}^2},$$
(2.6)

also referred to as *stability parameters*. In the limit of $|a|, q^2 \ll 1$, stable solutions of the ion motion can be derived [44], leading to an approximate ion motion of

$$x, y(t) \propto \cos(\omega_r t) \left[1 - \frac{q}{2} \cos(\Omega_{\rm RF} t) \right]$$
 (2.7)

with the radial frequency ω_r of the ion. The stable regime of the ion motion is found for values q < 0.908 in linear Paul traps [44]. Note, that stability conditions have to be satisfied in all three dimensions simultaneously. For the ion traps presented in this work, stability parameters $q \leq 0.4$ are chosen, as instabilities in the ion motion arise at higher values of q [45].

One method to describe the ion's motion is the *pseudopotential approximation*. Here, the ion's motion is understood as an oscillation caused by a ponderomotive potential induced by the RF field, resulting in the pseudopotential given by

$$U_{\rm ps} = \frac{Q^2}{4M\Omega_{\rm RF}^2} |\nabla\phi_{\rm eff}(x, y, z)|^2, \qquad (2.8)$$

where ϕ_{eff} relates to the RF quadrupole potential from equation (2.2) for $\cos(\Omega_{\text{RF}}t) = 1$. This corresponds to a pseudopotential of

$$U_{\rm ps} = \frac{Q^2 V_{\rm RF} \kappa_d^2}{M \Omega_{\rm RF}^2 d^4} (x^2 + y^2).$$
 (2.9)

The ion's motion at the radial frequency ω_r is then approximately given by

$$\omega_r = \frac{\Omega_{\rm RF}}{2} \sqrt{a + \frac{q}{2}},\tag{2.10}$$

and is also called *secular motion*. The secular motion is modulated by the RF drive frequency, resulting in a fast oscillation, the so-called *micromotion*. Micromotion occurs in trap areas where the RF field is not zero, e.g. due to poorly aligned electrodes, defects, or in junctions. Note, that micromotion can also occur in perfectly aligned ion traps. Excess micromotion is usually caused by stray electric fields that push the ion out of the potential minimum. To compensate for excess micromotion, additional static electric fields are used to control the ion's position in the trap. Moreover, the ion's harmonic motion in the static potential along the trap axis is described by the axial frequency

$$\omega_z = \frac{2Q\kappa_s U_{\rm DC}}{Md^2}.\tag{2.11}$$

The pseudopotential approximation was used to simulate the ion traps presented in this thesis, since it enables a quasi-static simulation of the dynamic trap confinement via the RF field amplitudes.

2.2 The calcium ion

Multiple types of ion species have proven to be a reasonable basis for quantum information processing with trapped ions [46]. An important requirement to the ion species is a simple energy structure that allows for the use of common laser cooling methods [33]. Moreover, it is also advantageous if solid-state laser systems are available for all relevant optical transitions. The ion traps described in this thesis are designed for trapping calcium ions. Calcium is in the second main group of the periodic system, the alkaline earth metals. The ⁴⁰Ca⁺ isotope has only one valence electron in the outer shell and has no nuclear spin.

The ground state of the ⁴⁰Ca⁺ ion is the $4S_{1/2}$ state. All relevant dipole-allowed and quadrupole-allowed transitions of the level structure are depicted in figure 2.2. The dipole-forbidden transition from the $4S_{1/2}$ to the $3D_{5/2}$ state is driven through a quadrupole transition ($\Delta l = +2$) with narrow bandwidth $\lambda_{qubit} = 729$ nm laser light. Due to its long lifetime of around 1 s [47], which is the ultimate limit for decoherence, the $3D_{5/2}$ state is chosen as the qubit state. This lifetime is sufficient for the target quantum operations [33]. Applying laser light with 854 nm wavelength pumps population back to the ground state via the $4P_{3/2}$ state, which is used for quenching the lifetime of the qubit state during state initialization as well as for sideband cooling. The $4P_{1/2}$ state with a decay time of 10 ns [48] is used for detection and laser cooling of the ion with a transition frequency of $\lambda_{cooling} = 397$ nm. Depletion of the long-lived $3D_{3/2}$ state is implemented through repumping to the $4P_{1/2}$ state with 866 nm laser light. Subsequently, the ion will decay with high probability to the ground state for reinitialization.

When applying an external magnetic field of a few Gauss to define the quantization



Figure 2.2: Energy levels of the Ca ion. Transitions are marked with corresponding wavelengths. Blue lasers are used for cooling and detection, red lasers for manipulation and lasers colored in purple for repumping.

axis of the ion trap, the degeneracy of the energy levels in the fine structure is lifted. For the $4S_{1/2} \rightarrow 3D_{5/2}$ transition the splitting due to the Zeeman effect results in 10 resolved quadrupole transitions with $m_j = (-J, -J + 1, ..., +J)$, as shown in figure 2.3. Three of these transitions are of interest for the experiment:

- $4S_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2) \to 3D_{5/2}(m_j = -1/2)$ defines the qubit transition
- $4S_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2) \rightarrow 3D_{5/2}(m_j = -5/2)$ is used for sideband cooling (further details will follow in section 2.4.2)
- $4S_{1/2}(m_j = 1/2) \rightarrow 3D_{5/2}(m_j = 3/2)$ to apply optical pumping.



Figure 2.3: Zeeman sublevels of the Ca ion for the $4S_{1/2}$ and the $3D_{5/2}$ states. Highlighted transitions are used for sideband cooling (blue), optical pumping (purple) and the qubit encoding (red).

2.3 Ion-laser interaction

To define the two-level system presenting an optical qubit, two states of the calcium ion can be used. The ion's state can be in a superposition of the ground state $|g\rangle$ given by $4S_{1/2}$ and the excited qubit state $|e\rangle$ given by $3D_{5/2}$ as described by

$$\psi = \alpha |\mathbf{g}\rangle + \beta |\mathbf{e}\rangle \tag{2.12}$$

where the complex numbers α and β satisfy the condition $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$. The Hamiltonian of the system is then given by

$$H = H_a + H_m + H_i, (2.13)$$

where H_a describes the electronic state of the ion, H_m is associated to the ion's motion in the harmonic trap potential, and H_i represents the interaction of the ion with the light-field. The atomic Hamiltonian is given by

$$H_a = \frac{\hbar\omega_0}{2} \left(|g\rangle\langle g| - |e\rangle\langle e| \right) \tag{2.14}$$

with the energy difference $\hbar\omega_0$ between the ground state and the excited state. Using the Pauli spin matrices [44], equation (2.14) can be written as

$$H_a = \frac{\hbar\omega_0}{2}\sigma_z.$$
(2.15)

The ion's motion in the harmonic potential with the motional secular frequency ω_m is given by

$$H_m = \hbar \omega_m \left(\frac{1}{2} + a^{\dagger} a\right) \tag{2.16}$$

with the creation and annihilation operators a^{\dagger} and a of the harmonic oscillator, respectively.

The optical qubit is controlled by a manipulation of the ion's state by resonant laser light. An electromagnetic wave is defined as

$$E(z,t) = E_0 \left[e^{i(kz - \omega_l t + \phi)} + c.c. \right] \epsilon$$
(2.17)

with the amplitude E_0 , the phase ϕ and frequency ω_l of the laser, propagating along the direction k. The interaction Hamiltonian of the ion with the light field is then given by

$$H_i = \frac{1}{2}\hbar\Omega\left(\sigma^+ + \sigma^-\right)\left(e^{i(kz-\omega_l t+\phi)} + e^{-i(kz-\omega_l t+\phi)}\right)$$
(2.18)

with $\sigma^{\pm} = \frac{\sigma_x \pm i\sigma_y}{2}$ [44]. The parameter Ω denotes the *Rabi frequency*, defining the coupling strength of the ion to the light field. In case of a quadrupole transition, where a metastable state is coupled to the electronic ground state of the ion, the interaction is described by the coupling of the electric-quadrupolar moment \hat{Q} to the gradient of the electromagnetic field [49]

$$H_i = \widehat{Q}\nabla E(t). \tag{2.19}$$

After transformation to the interaction picture and using the rotating wave approximation, equation (2.18) can be written as

$$H_{i} = \frac{1}{2}\hbar\Omega \left(\sigma^{+}e^{i\eta(\tilde{a}+\tilde{a}^{\dagger})}e^{-i\Delta t} + \sigma^{-}e^{-i\eta(\tilde{a}+\tilde{a}^{\dagger})}e^{i\Delta t}\right)$$
(2.20)

with the detuning of the laser with respect to the transition frequency $\Delta = \omega_l - \omega_0$ and introducing the transformations $z = \eta(a + a^{\dagger})$ and $\tilde{a} = ae^{-i\omega_0 t}$. The Lamb-Dicke parameter η is given by

$$\eta = k \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2M\omega_0}}.$$
(2.21)

Dependent on the specific detuning Δ of the laser, different motional states are coupled when driving the transition between the ground state $|g\rangle$ and the excited state $|e\rangle$, described by $|g,n\rangle \leftrightarrow |e,m\rangle$. The coupling strength of a transition can be determined by the Rabi frequency, defined as [49]

$$\Omega_{n,m} = \Omega_{m,n} = \Omega_0 |\langle n | e^{i\eta(a+a^{\dagger})} | m \rangle|.$$
(2.22)

When the ion is cooled to the Lamb-Dicke regime, defined as $\eta^2(2n+1) \ll 1$, the interaction Hamiltonian can be further simplified and three resonances are identified [44]: if the motional state does not change, a carrier transition is observed, and the interaction Hamiltonian is given by

$$H_{\rm car} = \frac{1}{2} \hbar \Omega \left(\sigma^+ e^{i\phi} + \sigma^- e^{-i\phi} \right).$$
(2.23)

If the ion is in the initial state |g| and the motional state increases (decreases), a so-called blue (red) sideband transition takes place, as depicted in figure 2.4. The interaction Hamiltonian then takes the form

$$H_{\rm bsb} = \frac{1}{2} \hbar \Omega \eta \left(a^{\dagger} \sigma^{+} e^{i\phi} + a\sigma^{-} e^{-i\phi} \right)$$
(2.24)

$$H_{\rm rsb} = \frac{1}{2}\hbar\Omega\eta \left(a\sigma^+ e^{i\phi} + a^{\dagger}\sigma^- e^{-i\phi}\right)$$
(2.25)

for the blue and red sideband transition, respectively.



Figure 2.4: Carrier and motional sidebands of the quadrupole transition. The carrier transition (black arrows) does not change the motional state of the ion, whereas a blue sideband transition (blue arrows) reduces and a red sideband transition (red arrows) increases the motional quantum number by one phonon when driving the $|e\rangle \rightarrow |g\rangle$ transition.

2.4 Cooling, initialization and detection

A requirement for successful quantum operations is cooling the ion close to the motional ground state by laser cooling. The cooling process for a trapped ${}^{40}\text{Ca}^+$ ion contains two

steps: first, the motional quantum number \overline{n} is reduced by Doppler cooling to around $\overline{n} = 10$, reaching the Lamb-Dicke regime. Second, resolved sideband cooling is employed to further cool the ion close to its motional ground state.

This section is dedicated to the experimental methods used in the experiment for cooling the ion, preparing the ion in the desired ground state, also referred to as state initialization, and detecting the ion's internal state.

2.4.1 Doppler cooling

The first cooling method facilitated in the experiment is Doppler cooling [50]. A reddetuned laser with 397 nm wavelength is guided towards the ion, driving the $4S_{1/2} \rightarrow 4P_{1/2}$ transition. Due to the Doppler effect, the ion preferentially absorbs a photon when it is moving towards the laser beam. When absorbing a photon, it gains momentum along the laser direction and thus gets decelerated in this direction. The following spontaneous emission of a photon occurs in arbitrary direction, leading to a random walk in momentum space. This results in a decrease of the ion's motional state during photon absorption for irradiation with red-detuned laser light, and heating for blue-detuned laser light. Due to the random photon emission, Doppler cooling has a certain limit (Doppler limit), giving a minimum temperature achievable with this technique. With an optimal red-detuning of the Doppler cooling laser of $-\frac{\Gamma}{2}$ [44], the minimum mean phonon number [50] is given by

$$\overline{n} = \frac{\Gamma}{2\omega_m}.$$
(2.26)

Since there is a non-negligible probability of ~ 6 % [51] of the ion to spontaneously decay into the $D_{3/2}$ state, a 866 nm repumping laser is used to pump population back to the $P_{1/2}$ state, thus realizing a closed cooling cycle. In order to cool the ion in all motional modes, the cooling laser needs to have a component in parallel to each of the three trap axes.

2.4.2 Sideband cooling

Below the Doppler cooling limit, resolved sideband cooling is used to further reduce the motional quantum number [52]. As a requirement, the ion has to be cooled to the Lamb-Dicke regime and sidebands need to be resolved. A laser pulse of the 729 nm qubit laser with a detuning of $\delta = -\omega_{\rm m}$ is applied. The detuned laser addresses the first red sideband and drives the $|g, n\rangle \rightarrow |e, n - 1\rangle$ transition. This decreases the motional quantum number by one phonon. Repeating the cooling cycle multiple times decreases the motional quantum number of the ion close to the motional ground state [53]. To increase the cooling rate, a resonant 854 nm repumping laser is used to couple the metastable $D_{5/2}$ state to the short living $P_{3/2}$ state. This state decays with high probability via the carrier transition to the $S_{1/2}$ ground state. The sideband cooling process is sketched in figure 2.5 for visualization.



Figure 2.5: Sideband cooling process for a red detuned ($\delta = -\omega_{\rm m}$) qubit laser with 729 nm wavelength. The laser drives the transition $|S, n\rangle \rightarrow |D, n - 1\rangle$, thereby reducing the motional quantum number by one phonon. The population is pumped to the $P_{3/2}$ state by using the 854 nm repumping laser, from where it rapidly decays to the ground state.

2.4.3 State initialization

The first step before quantum operations are performed on a trapped ion is to prepare the ion in the desired initial state, which is the $S_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2)$ state in this work. This process is also called *state initialization*. Two methods for state initialization are used for the ion traps presented in this thesis, either driving an electric dipole transition, or an electric quadrupole transition, both also referred to as optical pumping.

In order to populate the ground state using a dipole transition, a common technique is to use circularly polarized laser light of 397 nm wavelength, aligned along the quantization axis. Laser light with this polarization drives only the $S_{1/2}(m_j = 1/2) \rightarrow P_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2)$ transition. Occupation of the desired ground state $S_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2)$ is typically realized in less then 1 ms with high probability of > 0.99 [54] and thus gives a reliable technique for state initialization. Nevertheless, this process is limited by the polarization and alignment of the laser with respect to the quantization axis [45].

The second scheme to prepare the ion in the desired ground state is to address the optical pumping transition $S_{1/2}(m_j = 1/2) \rightarrow D_{5/2}(m_j = -3/2)$ [55]. The metastable $D_{5/2}$ state is coupled to the $P_{3/2}$ state by applying the 854 nm repumping laser, from

where it decays to the $S_{1/2}(m_j = -1/2)$ ground state. Additionally, the 866 nm repumping laser is used to increase the speed of the initialization process by repumping population from the $D_{3/2}$ to the ground state via the P state. Since this method is based on a quadrupole transition, the initialization process generally takes longer compared to the first described technique.

2.4.4 State detection

To detect the electronic state of an ion, we make use of the state-dependent fluorescence when illuminating the ion with the 397 nm cooling laser, driving the transition between the $S_{1/2}$ ground state and the $P_{1/2}$ state. Fluorescence photons are scattered and collected electronically with a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera or photomultiplier tube (PMT) (see section 4.4.3). If the ion is in the $S_{1/2}$ ground state, photons are emitted and the ion appears *bright*. If the ion is in the $D_{5/2}$ qubit state when illuminated with the laser, no photons are scattered, thus appearing *dark*. This technique is also called *electron shelving* [56].

Chapter 3

Scalable ion traps

There are several challenges to perform large-scale quantum information processing with trapped ions, with three major ones given by: i) scaling the ion trap to a large number of individually controllable qubits, ii) a constant gate performance when increasing the number of trapped ions, and iii) a high connectivity of single ions in the trap. Today, quantum registers with up to 150 ions have been trapped in a linear ion trap within one potential well [23]. However, there are challenges in scaling up to a large number of ions [33]. Individual addressing of single ions for manipulation and readout requires tightly focused laser beams. Due to a weaker coupling of the laser to the motion of the ions with an increased mass of the quantum bus, gate times increase and gate fidelities drop [57]. Moreover, with an increasing number of ions also the number of motional modes increases, causing spectral crowding. This prevents the spectral separation and thus individual motional frequencies of the ions cannot be addressed. In order to circumvent these issues in the scaling of ion traps, the following two approaches are pursued:

• modular ion traps: The ion string can be divided into smaller modules in order to mitigate the aforementioned drawbacks of long ion chains. Connecting these modules is either realized by directly shuttling the trapped ions in between different functional zones of the ion trap, also referred to as quantum charge-coupled device (QCCD) architecture [26], or by photonic interconnects used for remote entanglement between distant ion traps [58, 59]. Entangling ions trapped in separate potential wells in the QCCD architecture requires shuttling and reordering of ion strings. When using a two-dimensional geometry to form a network of entangled ions, the integration of junctions is necessary [26, 60]. However, during transport through junctions the ions gain kinetic energy, exciting the motional state [61]. One approach to address this problem is the implementation of sympathetic cooling with a second ion species to avoid destroying the stored information [62].

The approach of integrating photonic interconnects allows for entangling ions which are trapped in isolated traps or even in separate vacuum systems. Though, the collection of photons emitted by the ions is limited as the photons propagate in all directions of space, with the highest achieved collection efficiencies being in the range of 0.02 - 0.04 [33]. Most likely, photonic interconnects will be needed for all architectures with more than 1000 ions.

• ion trap lattice arrays: Single ions are confined in individual trapping sites, enabling a two-dimensional lattice of trapped ions. Therefore, single ions are controlled individually in the trap. In order to perform quantum operations, the inter-ion distance needs to be small enough to achieve significant coupling via Coulomb interaction between neighboring ions [32]. Gate operations between two ions in adjacent potential wells have already been demonstrated [30, 31]. However, the speed achievable when moving quantum information in a 2D array is slow compared to a QCCD architecture [33].



Figure 3.1: Approaches for the scaling of ion traps. a) Two-dimensional ion trap array. This architecture allows for individual trapping of single ions, forming a lattice array. b) QCCD architecture. The ion trap is divided into functional zones, between which the ions are shuttled. c) Photonic interconnects. In this modular approach, distant ions are connected via remote entanglement through emitted photons.

Both modular ion traps as well as ion trap lattice arrays require a segmentation of the trap electrodes, to generate a lattice of potential wells, referred to as a multi-well. In figure 3.1, all three scaling approaches are sketched. Segmented ion traps can be manufactured by microfabrication, allowing for complex trap layouts that support scaling to large numbers of trapped ions. In this thesis, two microstructured ion trap architectures are discussed, one of them being a surface trap with electrodes in a single plane, and the other one consisting of two electrode layers to form a 3D architecture. This chapter focuses on the scaling of ion traps via microfabrication and the associated challenges related to motional heating due to a smaller ion-surface distance.

3.1 Microstructured ion traps

Early Paul traps used in ion trap experiments have been macroscopic traps with electrodes formed by rods [63]. Later, the rod electrodes have been exchanged by blades to allow for better optical excess [64, 65]. These traps facilitate a deep confinement potential and enable trapping of long ion strings. Nevertheless, to achieve a better control of single trapped ions, an increasing segmentation of the trap electrodes is necessary. Thus, the electrode size as well as the ion-electrode distance decreases to reduce distance to and time for shuttling operations. Thus, microstructured ion traps were developed, that can be manufactured precisely and enable the electrical connection of highly segmented electrodes. We distinguish between microstructured surface traps, in which the electrodes reside in only one plane, and three-dimensional traps, which make use of multiple layers to create the confining potential.

3.1.1 Surface traps

In a surface ion trap, all trap electrodes reside in a single plane, confining the ion in the generated electric field [66]. Two parallel RF rails alternate with GND/DC electrodes, creating the quadrupole potential, which confines the ion in the radial direction. A segmentation of the DC electrodes, as shown in figure 3.2, enables confinement along the trap axis (axial direction). Depending on the electrode segmentation, ions can be trapped either in a single potential or in a multi-well along the trap axis. In figure 3.3 a schematical cross section of a standard electrode geometry as well as the corresponding pseudopotential is depicted.

Initial attempts to make the ion trap smaller were based on laser-machined wafers made of insulating material that are subsequently coated with a single metal to generate electrodes [67]. Later, various surface traps have been fabricated and tested, with different substrate materials such as fused-quartz [68], fused silica [69], sapphire [70], or silicon [71, 72], using electrode materials such as gold, copper, aluminum, or highlydoped silicon. However, these traps were limited in complexity, because only a single metal layer was used to electrically connect all trap electrodes. In order to realize more complex trap layouts, recent traps were fabricated using complementary metal-oxide-



Figure 3.2: Schematic of a standard surface ion trap with RF (red) and segmented DC electrodes (gray, orange, yellow) with one potential well to trap multiple ions (blue circles).

semiconductor (CMOS) compatible technologies [73]. In this way, multiple functional metal layers can be used for electric leads. Moreover, this opens the possibility to include functionality such as integrated electronics [36, 37] or through-substrate vias (TSVs) [35], for connecting electrodes to an underlying carrier board and thus minimizing the trap size.

Surface traps facilitate optical access laterally as well as from top. Lasers are



Figure 3.3: Surface ion trap with RF (red) and DC (gray) electrodes. a) Schematic cross section of the electrode geometry in a standard surface trap. The ion (blue circle) is confined in the stray field of the RF (red) and DC (gray) electrodes, generated by the electric field lines (black lines). b) Simulated pseudopotential in a surface ion trap with a minimum (blue) above the trap center, in which the ion is trapped.

generally aligned in parallel to the trap surface to avoid stray light reflected from the chip surface. However, this limits the NA of the lateral optical access dependent on the ion-surface distance. As the laser has no propagation component in the vertical direction (see section 2.4), a tilt of the ion's motional mode axis is necessary to enable laser cooling in all three directions. A tilt of the mode axis can be realized by an asymmetric electrode geometry, where the RF electrodes have different widths [74], or by applying an appropriate voltage set to the segmented DC electrodes to rotate the potential [69]. If the size of the ion trap increases, clipping of the laser light on the chip edges can lead to increased stray light. Thus, integrating a vertical slit through the trap chip allows for laser access perpendicular to the trap surface [75, 76], which reduces stray light and laser-induced charging of the trap chip. Moreover, such a slit could also be used for ion loading.

Due to the rather weak confinement potential of surface traps of typically a few tens to hundreds of electronvolts, the lifetime of the ions in the trap is reduced, as the probability of ion loss due to collisions with background gas molecules is increased compared to three-dimensional traps. Therefore, an ultra-high vacuum environment is needed. Operating the trap at cryogenic temperatures of a few Kelvin reduces both the amount of background gas due to a higher vacuum, as well as the inherent kinetic energy of remaining particles [77, 78].

Surface trap arrays

A precise microfabrication of ion traps allows for segmenting the trap electrodes to thousands and more electrodes arranged in a complex geometry. Therefore, scalable designs such as the QCCD architecture or 2D lattice arrays can be realized. In this thesis, a surface trap forming a two-dimensional ion trap array is presented (see section 4). One approach to create a 2D lattice of trapped ions is to use multiple RF rails alternated with segmented DC electrodes, thus creating parallel linear traps, as depicted in figure 3.4. Here, the axial multi-well is provided by segmented DC electrodes. Because the RF electrodes are formed by parallel rails, multiple ions can be trapped in one trapping site along the trap axis [79].

To perform quantum operations on the trapped ions, one requirement is entanglement of the ions. While ions in a single potential well are coupled via their shared motion, motional coupling of ions in separate potential wells can be achieved by the Coulomb interaction. Such a link via the Coulomb interaction requires small inter-ion distances sof a few tens of micrometers [80]. The coupling strength Ω_c through Coulomb interaction between two ions in separate potential wells is given by



Figure 3.4: Schematic of a 2D ion trap lattice array with alternating RF (red) and segmented DC electrodes (orange, yellow) to create a confining multi-well for trapping ions (blue circles) in two dimensions.

$$\Omega_{\rm c} = \frac{Q^2}{2\pi\varepsilon_0 M} \frac{\varsigma_j}{\omega_m s_j^3} \tag{3.1}$$

with the motional frequency ω_m of the ions [31]. Here, $\varsigma_j = 1$ for the coupling direction j = z along the axial multi-well, and $\varsigma_j = 1/2$ for the coupling direction j = x in radial direction across the multi-well defined by the RF electrodes. The spacing between the ions in z-direction (x-direction) is denoted s_z (s_x). Equation (3.1) indicates a strong dependence of the coupling strength on the inter-ion distance, therefore a small distance between neighboring trapping sites is desirable. The potential generated by the trap electrodes decreases exponentially with an increasing ion-surface distance [81]. This limits the ion-surface distance dependent on the electrode dimensions, with a suitable potential multi-well requiring an ion-surface distance d smaller than the lattice constant s $(d \leq s)$. Electrodes with the size of only a few micrometers can be precisely manufactured by microfabrication techniques, enabling a small inter-ion distance at a low ion-surface distance. However, motional heating of the ions significantly increases with a decreasing ion-surface distance [82]. Hence, a sufficiently large ion-surface distance (usually a few tens to hundreds of micrometers) is necessary to achieve high-fidelity qubit gates. To be able to meet both requirements of high-reliability gates as well as a small inter-ion distance for the exchange of quantum information, shuttling of the ions inside the trap array is needed to reduce the inter-ion distance for appropriate coupling strengths while keeping heating rates low. A description of ion shuttling in the 2D array is given in section 4.1. A scheme how to entangle ions in a 2D ion lattice array is given in [79].

3.1.2 Three-dimensional ion traps

In contrast to surface traps, multiple layers of electrodes are used to confine ions in 3D ion traps. A schematic of a two-layer ion trap is depicted in figure 3.5. A simple two-layer ion trap consists of two pairs of RF and DC electrodes, which are arranged diagonally to each other in order to generate a point symmetrical confining potential in radial direction. A segmentation of the DC electrodes provides confinement along the trap axis. Implementing a further segmentation of the DC electrodes allows for multiple individual trapping sites and enables ion shuttling along the trap axis. A schematic of a 3D ion trap cross section and the corresponding pseudopotential is shown in figure 3.6.



Figure 3.5: Schematic of a segmented two-layer ion trap. A segmentation of the DC electrodes (gray, orange, yellow) creates a confining potential in axial direction (z-direction). In combination with the RF electrodes (red) the ions (blue) are confined in all three dimensions.



Figure 3.6: Two-layer ion trap. a) Electrode geometry with two pairs of RF (red) and DC (gray) electrodes arranged to trap an ion (blue circle) in the trap center. b) Pseudopotential of the two-layer ion trap with a potential minimum (blue) in the trap center.

Arranging the electrodes in a 3D architecture with diagonally configured RF and GND electrodes leads to a notably deeper trap depth in multilayer-traps of 1 eV and higher compared to surface traps with trap depths in the range of a few tens to hundreds of electronvolts [23, 33]. Due to the associated higher confinement, 3D traps are less susceptible to ion loss caused by collisions with background gas molecules. Moreover, these traps show a higher curvature at the ion's position, that needs to be compensated for in surface traps.

To achieve a high level of segmentation of the trap electrodes combined with a smaller trap size, laser-machined ion trap devices based on metal-coated alumina have been developed [67, 83]. In such traps, several wafers are stacked and connected by either glueing or clamping to generate a 3D trap architecture. A different approach uses electrodes patterned on the front and back side of a silicon wafer, thus creating a three-dimensional trap structure, given by the thickness of the silicon substrate of 340 µm [84]. The silicon substrate as well as additional layers of silica, which support the gold electrodes, are etched to form the aperture for ion trapping in the center between the electrodes. Ion shuttling [19, 83, 85, 86] as well as ion transport through junctions [61, 87] have been demonstrated in stacked alumina traps. Recently, laser-machined fused-silica wafers were investigated as ion trap substrates [21, 88], as these can be fabricated with a precision up to 1 - 2 µm and allow for more complex trap layouts.

Moreover, commercial semiconductor microfabrication techniques such as microelectro-mechanical systems (MEMS) technology can be used to fabricate multilayer ion traps. MEMS technology is attractive due to its compatibility with dielectric substrates such as fused silica or sapphire, as well as the possibility to realize 3D structures by electrodes on multiple wafers bonded to each other [89]. Furthermore, the technology allows the processing of wafers with through-substrate vias (TSVs) and holes (e.g. loading or detection slits). One approach using MEMS technology [90] to form a monolithic, three-dimensional ion trap is based on alternating layers made of GaAs and AlGaAs on a GaAs substrate. By etching, a through-hole as well as cantilever electrodes are generated, forming a 3D architecture. The use of commercial MEMS processes is advantageous because, next to a 3D architecture, also additional functionality such as photonics (e.g. waveguides) or electronics can be integrated, which is important for the further scaling of the ion trap.

3.2 Motional heating

An important condition for the execution of reliable quantum gates with ions is motional coherence. Electric field noise can lead to the excitation of secular modes, resulting in an increase of the motional quantum number n. The motional heating rate $\Gamma_{\rm h}$ is defined by the change of the mean motional quantum number \overline{n} with time

$$\Gamma_{\rm h} = \dot{\overline{n}} \tag{3.2}$$

or, in other words, how fast an ion in the trap heats up when it is not laser cooled. Heating of the ions leads to decoherence and can shift the ion out of the Lamb-Dicke regime, thus reducing the number of gates that can reliably be performed sequentially on the ions without the need of cooling. Moreover, the fidelity of entangling gates reduces due to motional decoherence [91]: a heating of motional modes during gates increases the chance of errors.

3.2.1 Sources of heating

Electric field noise at the ion's position results in an increasing temperature of the ion. With the electric field noise spectral density S_E , the heating rate of the ion is then given by [92]

$$\Gamma_{\rm h} = \frac{Q^2}{4M\hbar\omega_m} S_E,\tag{3.3}$$

where Q and M are the ion's charge and mass, ω_m its motional frequency, and \hbar the reduced Planck constant. There are various sources for electric field noise, such as technical noise caused by the drive electronics, Johnson-Nyquist noise [93, 94], and surface noise [92]. Technical noise is usually related to the DC and RF voltage supply and is not dependent on the trap temperature. Electrical filters in the supply lines of the trap electrodes are a common method to reduce technical noise. In the following, we briefly discuss the most important sources of electric field noise in ion traps and present different concepts for noise mitigation.

Note, that the electric field noise present in ion traps is not fully understood yet [92]. Therefore, the heating caused by electric field noise is also known as *anomalous heating*.

Johnson-Nyquist noise

The motion of charge carriers in the trap electrodes due to thermal fluctuations causes electric noise, known as Johnson-Nyquist noise (JN) [93, 94]. At a resistor with resistance R, the spectral density of voltage noise is given by

$$S_V = 4k_{\rm B}TR\tag{3.4}$$

with $k_{\rm B}$ the Boltzmann's constant and the temperature T of the resistor. This voltage noise relates to electric field noise at the ion's position

$$S_E = \frac{S_V}{\delta_c^2} \tag{3.5}$$

with δ_c the characteristic distance. This parameter is dependent on the trap geometry and translates the voltage noise of an electrode to the corresponding electric field noise at the ion's position [92]. The model for estimating JN relies on an ideal resistor generating white noise. JN is especially important in highly-segmented, microstructured ion traps, where small electrical leads with corresponding resistance are needed for contacting all trap electrodes [29]. In most cases, the resistance of the electrical leads is higher than that of the electrodes themselves.

Surface noise

Another source of noise for ion traps is *surface noise*, which is caused primarily by effects on the trap surface. A common explanation of surface noise is based on so-called patch potentials, which are found on non-homogeneous electrode surfaces, that arise due to different crystal orientations, grain structures or adsorbates on the surface [92]. Example models are two-level fluctuators (TLFs), where electrons or atoms collect in local minima, or adatom diffusion, in which adsorbed atoms diffuse on the trap surface, resulting in a changing dipole distribution with time [92].

Surface noise is strongly dependent on the ion-surface distance, with a scaling of around $S_E \propto d^{-4}$ [95, 96] dependent on the geometry. In some cases, the noise was found to increase with rising temperature [97, 98], thus trap operation at cryogenic temperatures helps to reduce electric field noise induced by the trap surface.

Noise mitigation

There are several methods to reduce motional heating of the ions and thus preventing motional decoherence. One technique is to use low-noise electronics and integrate low-pass filters for the DC supply lines in order to decrease technical noise generated by the electrodes. The electric filters should be placed as close as possible to the ion trap to reduce the unfiltered lead length, and the filter design should not produce JN due to additional resistors. To reduce JN, the resistance of the leads connecting the trap electrodes to the bonding pads used for wirebonding should be as low as possible, thus conducting materials with a low resistivity (e.g. copper) are recommended. The question of the perfect material for reduced surface noise in ion traps is still open, while requirements like a high conductivity and low power dissipation are clearly defined [99]. However, implementing an in-situ surface cleaning of the trap electrodes by ion bombardment with argon ions proved to be useful in reducing the heating rate up to a factor of 100 [100]. Moreover, operating the ion trap at cryogenic temperatures helps decreasing motional heating due to thermally activated surface noise sources by about two orders of magnitude [92].

3.2.2 Measuring the heating rate

There are different methods to determine the heating rate of an ion trap. In this section, we look at two techniques performed on the ion traps presented in this thesis. Both of these methods are based on Rabi oscillations of the motional sidebands of the quadrupole transition. First, the ion is laser cooled by Doppler cooling followed by resolved sideband cooling. After a certain waiting time, a laser pulse with the 729 nm qubit laser drives Rabi flops on the red or blue sideband. The occupation probability of the sideband is then used to gain information about the motional state. As the last step, the ion's electronic state is detected with the ion shelving method as described in section 2.4.4.

Rabi oscillations

If the heating rate of an ion trap is in the moderate regime with a quantum number $\overline{n} = 5 - 20$, investigating the Rabi oscillations on a sideband for the $S_{1/2} \rightarrow D_{5/2}$ transition can be used to determine the heating rate. The first order Rabi frequencies for the red and blue sideband in the Lamb-Dicke regime are defined as [44]

$$\Omega_{\rm red} = \Omega_{n,n-1} = \Omega_0 \eta \sqrt{n} \tag{3.6}$$

$$\Omega_{\text{blue}} = \Omega_{n,n+1} = \Omega_0 \eta \sqrt{n+1} \tag{3.7}$$

with the Lamb-Dicke parameter η and the carrier Rabi oscillation frequency Ω_0 . The excitation probabilities for red and blue sideband transitions are given by

$$P_D^{\text{RSB}} = \frac{1}{2} + \left(1 - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n \cos\left(\Omega_{n,n-1}t\right)\right)$$
(3.8)

$$P_D^{\text{BSB}} = \frac{1}{2} + \left(1 - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n \cos\left(\Omega_{n,n+1}t\right)\right),$$
(3.9)

where P_n is the occupation probability for the motional state n. $\Omega_{n,n\pm 1}$ are the coupling rates defined in equations (3.6) and (3.7), and t is the pulse length of the laser. Here, the distribution is assumed to be thermal

$$P_n = P_{th} = \frac{\overline{n}^n}{(1+\overline{n})^{n+1}}.$$
(3.10)

By fitting the excitation probability from equation (3.8) or (3.9) to the measured Rabi oscillation data, the mean phonon number and thus the heating rate can be extracted.

Sideband ratio method

If the motional quantum number is small ($\overline{n} \leq 1$), a similar method based on the sideband Rabi oscillations can be used, also referred to as the *sideband ratio method*. The ratio between the excitation probabilities for the red and the blue sidebands prepared in identical motional states is given by

$$\overline{n} = \frac{R}{1 - R} \tag{3.11}$$

for the assumption of a thermal distribution of the state and with

$$R = \frac{P_D^{\text{RSB}}}{P_D^{\text{BSB}}}.$$
(3.12)

Since this method is independent of the Rabi frequency, the Lamb-Dicke parameter and the pulse length, the mean quantum number for different wait times can be determined, enabling the calculation of the heating rate.
Chapter 4

2D linear ion trap array

The contents of this chapter have been published in the article "2D Linear Trap Array for Quantum Information Processing", P. Holz et al., Advanced Quantum Technologies (2020) [29].

The 2D ion trap array was designed by Philip Holz and Gerald Stocker. Fabrication and electrical characterizations were carried out at Infineon Technologies by the author. Investigations on the trap performance in the experiment were conducted by the author and Marco Valentini.

Ion trap lattice arrays exhibit two main advantages: i) ions trapped in a single trapping site do not show excessive micromotion compared to a 2D ion string consisting of multiple ions formed in a single potential well in linear traps [101], and ii) a precise control of the confinement potential is provided, therefore enabling the realization of different array structures, such as a rectangular or triangular lattice, depending on the geometry and control voltages [29]. A segmentation of the trap electrodes provides multiple trapping sites structured in an array, forming a so called potential multi-well. However, confining a large number of ions in a potential multi-well requires complex trap layouts with a large number of individually controllable trap electrodes, which can only be realized by microfabrication.

This chapter concentrates on the microfabrication and characterization of a twodimensional linear ion trap array designed to perform quantum information processing based on ions trapped in two parallel linear arrays. First, the trap design and layout is discussed, followed by a detailed description of the microfabrication conducted at the cleanroom facilities of Infineon Technologies Austria in Villach. Then, an overview of the electrical characterization of the trap chips is given. In the last section experimental results with respect to the ion trap performance are presented.

4.1 Concept

The goal of a 2D ion trap array is a well-connected lattice of qubits to facilitate gate operations on a large scale. Such a lattice array can be realized by microstructured ion traps that are highly segmented, so that every single ion is trapped in an individual trapping potential. A first approach to form a 2D ion trap lattice in this research group was based on multiple point traps, arranged in an array [102]. This method has the disadvantage of requiring multiple RF sources to provide independent RF voltages for every single point trap in the array. A different approach is given by linear arrays of ions, arranged in parallel to form a two-dimensional lattice. Here, the 1D ion trap array is confined in z-direction using segmented DC electrodes, thus forming a multi-well along the trap axis.

To enable gate operations between ions in different trapping sites of such a 2D trap array, motional coupling of the ions is required. The motional coupling rate Ω_c between two ions through Coulomb interaction as defined in equation (3.1) is strongly dependent on the inter-ion distance s_j with $\Omega_c \propto s_j^{-3}$ [31]. Thus, to entangle two ions in the lattice array, a maximum distance of a few tens of micrometers between the ions is required to achieve a coupling strength in the range of kHz, which allows for coherent operations [29–31]. The spacing between two neighboring ions is given by the width of the trap electrodes providing the trapping potential. Between the linear arrays this is defined as $s_x = w_{RF} + w_{DC}$, with the width of the RF electrode w_{RF} and the segmented DC electrodes w_{DC} , respectively. Aiming for an inter-ion distance of around 40 µm to enable coherent operations, a maximum ion-surface distance of $d \approx 30 \, \text{um}$ can be achieved [29]. However, since the anomalous heating of trapped ions increases with d^{-4} with the ion-surface distance 3.2.1, sufficiently large ion-surface spacings are desirable [103]. In this case, neighboring ions need to be moved in the trap by applying suitable voltage sets to DC and RF electrodes to reduce their distance and therefore enable motional coupling, while maintaining a suitable ion-surface distance.

Shuttling of the ions in the array is achieved by suitable tuning of RF and DC voltages, as described in figure 4.1. The inter-ion spacing in axial direction is tuned by applying appropriate voltages to the segmented DC electrodes. With this method, either the whole 1D ion array is moved in the same direction, or the inter-ion distance is reduced to enhance coupling in axial direction. Coupling between ions in two parallel linear ion traps is achieved by decreasing the voltage amplitude of the RF electrode in between the ion strings. This leads to a shift of the potential minimum for both

trapping sites, reducing their distance, as visualized in figure 4.2. If multiple 1D ion arrays are placed in parallel, only two alternating, independent RF voltages are needed to achieve coupling of the ions between the 1D ion arrays in the whole lattice. Using a tunable RF electrode is advantageous to reduce anomalous heating, since it enables a significantly increased ion-surface separation compared to ion traps with fixed RF voltage.



Figure 4.1: Schematic illustration of next-neighbor coupling in a 2D ion lattice array. a) Ions (blue circles) are trapped in a two-dimensional multi-well created by RF (red) and DC (shades of yellow) electrodes with inter-ion distance s_x in radial (x) and s_z in axial (z) direction. b) By reducing the voltage of the central RF electrode (light red) the distance of ions in adjacent trapping sites in radial direction decreases, enabling coupling of the ions via Coulomb interaction. c) By changing the voltages of the segmented DC electrodes, the inter-ion distance is tuned to achieve coupling along the axial direction.

Ion shuttling in the trap allows not only for coupling neighboring ions, but also supports different lattice connectivities like a rectangular and triangular configuration, see figure 4.3. Furthermore, by shuttling ions along the array followed by an entangling operation in the perpendicular lattice direction, coupling between next-nearest ions or ones that are even further apart can be achieved. This allows for complicated lattice



Figure 4.2: Schematic illustration of shuttling ions in a 2D ion lattice array by changing the voltages of RF (red) and DC (shades of yellow) electrodes to manipulate the lattice potential. a) Ions (blue circles) are shuttled along the radial direction (x) of the array by reducing the RF voltage of the central RF electrode (light red). b) By reducing the voltage of a DC electrode (gray) between two trapped ions, the inter-ion distance is tuned to achieve coupling along the axial direction (z).

connectivities and moreover for the transport of quantum information through the lattice [29].

A design for a prototype 2D ion trap array was developed by Philip Holz and Gerald Stocker at the University of Innsbruck. This ion trap provides two parallel 1D ion strings confined in a microfabricated ion trap and is referred to as the 2D twin trap. It represents a minimum instance design of two ion strings forming a 2D lattice array. An extension of the layout in both directions enables a larger lattice with more than 100 trapped ions used as qubits for quantum information processing and quantum simulations [79]. This section reviews the trap geometry, and describes the used layer stack and design rules for the fabrication process.

4.1.1 Trap geometry

The concept of the 2D twin trap is based on forming a potential multi-well in two directions, using segmented DC electrodes along the trap axis and in total three RF electrodes. A detailed simulation of the geometry and operating parameters of the ion trap is given in Philip Holz's PhD thesis [79] and Gerald Stocker's master thesis [104].



Figure 4.3: Illustration of a a) rectangular and b) triangular two-dimensional lattice of ions (blue circles) with corresponding next-neighbor interactions (connecting gray lines).

Two designs of the 2D twin trap are developed, aiming for an ion-surface distance of 80 µm and 120 µm. The dimensions of several electrodes for the 120 µm design are listed in table 4.1. The inner RF rail has a width of 64 µm, both outer RF rails are 243 µm wide. The segmented DC electrodes have a dimension of 93 µm \times 93 µm. These electrodes are also referred to as "island" electrodes as they need to be routed in a lower metal layer due to a lack of space in the top metal layer. In the trap center, the innermost DC island electrode is further split into three equally-sized parts adding up to a normal-sized DC segment to reduce the inter-ion distance between ions in z-direction. Next to the outer RF electrodes additional DC electrodes are placed as these are needed for micromotion compensation. These compensation electrodes have a width of 193 µm. Gaps between trap electrodes are 9 µm.

electrode	width along x (μm)	length along z (µm)
RF _{out}	243	6000
$\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{center}}$	64	6000
$\mathrm{DC}_{\mathrm{island}}$	93	93
$\mathrm{DC}_{\mathrm{interaction}}$	93	25
$\mathrm{DC}_{\mathrm{com,out}}$	193	2842
$\mathrm{DC}_{\mathrm{com},\mathrm{center}}$	193	297

Table 4.1: Electrode dimensions of the 2D twin trap in radial direction (x) and along the trap axis (z).

This electrode geometry enables two different configurations of operation, dependent on the connectivity of the segmented DC electrodes. In the first configuration, the segmented DC electrodes forming the potential multi-well along the trap axis are periodically connected so that every third electrode shares the same voltage. This allows for shuttling the whole ion chain along the trap axis, see figure 4.4a. In the second configuration, the interaction zone in the trap center is used to reduce the inter-ion distance of two ions trapped in the innermost trapping sites along the trap axis. Here, the central DC electrode is further split into three independent electrodes, as shown in figure 4.4b.



Figure 4.4: Schematic geometry of the 2D twin trap with two operation configurations. a) The segmented DC electrodes forming the potential multiwell along the trap axis (shades of yellow) are periodically connected so that every third electrode shares the same voltage. Thus, above every third electrode an ion (blue circle) is confined. b) The interaction zone in the trap center is used to reduce the inter-ion distance of the two ions trapped in the innermost trapping sites. Here, the central DC electrode is split into three independent electrodes (shades of purple). Electrode sizes are noted in micrometer units.

4.1.2 Routing and layer stack

Due to the large number of trap electrodes, multiple metal layers are necessary for routing the electrical leads from the island electrodes to the bond pads located at the edge of the trap chip. In total, six functional layers are forming the ion trap, divided in three conductive metal layers and three dielectric layers. These dielectric layers are also referred to as inter-metal oxide (imox) layers as they are deposited between the metal layers for electric isolation. In table 4.2 all layers with corresponding materials and layer thickness are listed and are visualized in figure 4.5.

layer	material	thickness (nm)	thickness measured (nm)
metal 3	AlSiCu	2000	2140
$imox \ 2$	SiO_x (deposited)	2200	2150
metal 2	AlSiCu + TiN	1000 + 25	1020
imox 1	SiO_x (deposited)	2200	2170
metal 1	AlSiCu + TiN	750 + 25	784
bottom oxide	SiO_2 (thermal)	1300	1310
substrate	Si	725000	725000

 Table 4.2: Layer stack of the ion traps with material, target thickness and measured thickness.

AlSiCu	2000 nm
$\mathrm{SiO}_{\mathrm{x}}$	$2200~\mathrm{nm}$
AlSiCu + TiN	$(1000{+}25) \ { m nm}$
${\rm SiO}_{\rm x}$	$2200~\mathrm{nm}$
AlSiCu + TiN	$(750{+}25)~\rm{nm}$
${ m SiO}_2$	$1300~\mathrm{nm}$
Si	725 µm



The metal layers are made of AlSiCu, an alloy mainly consisting of aluminum. The addition of 1% silicon avoids eutectic mixing with the silicon substrate [105]. Additionally, 0.5% copper is included to increase the resilience to high currents. The metal leads and electrodes need to be low-Ohmic to minimize i) the RF pick-up voltage on adjacent DC electrodes and routing [106], ii) Johnson noise [93], and iii) heating of the 2 µm thin RF rails by capacitive loading currents. On top of the first two AlSiCu metal layers, a 25 nm thick titanium nitride (TiN) layer is deposited that improves the

adhesion of the deposited oxide on the AlSiCu layer and further acts as an anti-reflection coating for the light exposure during lithography of the oxide layers. The six functional layers are given by:

- **bottom oxide**: silicon dioxide created through thermal oxidation of the silicon substrate forming a 1.3 µm thick insulation layer between the first metal layer (metal 1) and the substrate. Thermal oxide has a low defect density and a low roughness of the interface.
- metal 1: AlSiCu deposited on the thermal oxide, with a thickness of 0.75 µm. This layer serves as a shielding layer: first, the substrate is shielded from the RF field to avoid heat loss due to RF pick-up in the substrate, and from laser light which could induce stray charges. Second, the ion is shielded from possible charge fluctuations in the substrate which cause a displacement of the ion from the RF null position and therefore increase micromotion and ion heating.
- imox 1: 2.2 µm thick silicon oxide (SiO_x with $x \approx 2$) deposited through lowtemperature plasma deposition (wafer substrate is heated to 430 °C) on the metal 1 layer forming the electrical separation between metal 1 and metal 2.
- metal 2: AlSiCu deposited on the imox 1 layer, with a thickness of 1 µm. In this layer the electrical routing from the DC electrodes to the bond pads on the axial sides of the ion trap chip is realized. Connections to the metal layers above and below are created by vertical interconnect accesss (vias).
- imox 2: 2.2 µm thick silicon oxide (SiO_x) forming the electrical separation between metal 2 and metal 3 layer.
- metal 3: AlSiCu deposited on the imox 2 layer, with a thickness of 2 µm. This layer forms the DC and RF electrodes providing the electric fields creating the confinement potential.

In the complex trap layout, in total 80 electrodes need to be connected to the bond pads at the chip edge. The trap layout and routing is shown in figure 4.6. Electric connections (leads) are always routed in the thickest metal layer available to minimize their resistance. Due to a lack of space, the leads of the DC island electrodes are routed directly below the electrodes in the metal 2 layer. Here, the resistance is further halved by using two vias per electrode as connection between the metal 2 and metal 3 layer. In addition, this provides reliability through redundancy. To minimize parasitic capacitive coupling of the neighboring RF electrodes to the DC leads, additional GND lines are included as shields beside the leads to reduce RF pickup on the DC electrodes. In general, RF pickup on DC electrodes should be avoided as it generates an electric field at the ion's position and thus induces micromotion and heating of the ions. For the same reason, DC leads are not routed directly below the RF electrodes, except in the interaction zone, where the leads to the segmented DC island electrodes need to cross the outer RF electrodes. The parasitic capacitance can be reduced by moving the leads to the metal 1 layer and defining a GND shield in the metal 2 layer in the crossing area. This minimizes RF pickup and shields the substrate. A detailed description of the routing is given in Gerald Stocker's master thesis [104].

The trap layout requires only three independent metal layers, but with growing complexity up to six metal layers can be realized with the chosen fabrication technology at Infineon. The current layer stack can still be structured well with optical lithography, but a higher topology can lead to insufficient edge coverage with photoresist. Thus, when using additional metal layers, a planarization of the surface is recommended, e.g. by chemical-mechanical polishing (CMP) [105] of the imox layers.



Figure 4.6: Microscopic image of the ion trap. Wire bond pads are located on two sides of the chip. The periodically connected DC island electrodes that form the confining multi-well in axial direction are routed with leads in the metal 2 layer (blue). To reduce parasitic capacitance of the RF electrodes to the DC leads, additional GND shield lines are placed next to the DC leads. In the interaction zone in the trap center, the leads to the further segmented DC island electrodes need to cross the outer RF electrodes. Therefore, the routing is moved to the metal 1 layer (red) and a GND shield is added in the metal 2 layer in the crossing area.

4.1.3 Design rules

Microfabrication in an industrial facility gives access to a wide tool park of fabrication processes and provides high precision in small geometry structures, if design rules regarding fabrication are adhered to. The design rules of a technology define the allowed dimensions for each available layer, depending on layer thickness, material and the used technique for structuring. The standard procedure for layer structuring consists of material deposition, optical lithography to produce the desired pattern, followed by an etching step. Design rules primarily concern the structure and gap widths that can be reliably resolved and etched. In table 4.3 the design rules for minimum gap and structure size of all three metal layers and the two imox layers are given. As an example, these design rules are visualized in figure 4.7 for the first metal layer.

Table 4.3: Design rules for minimum structure and gap sizes for the three metal layers and the two imox layers of the 2D twin trap.

layer	AlSiCu / TiN	etch process	minimum structure size	minimum gap size
metal 1	$750/25\mathrm{nm}$	plasma	$2\mu{ m m}$	$5\mu{ m m}$
imox 1	$2200\mathrm{nm}$	plasma	$2.4\mathrm{\mu m}$	$2.4\mathrm{\mu m}$
metal 2	$1000/25\mathrm{nm}$	plasma	$2.8\mathrm{\mu m}$	$5\mu{ m m}$
imox 2	$2200\mathrm{nm}$	plasma	$6\mu{ m m}$	$12\mathrm{\mu m}$
metal 3	$2000\mathrm{nm}$	wet	$14\mu{ m m}$	$9\mu{ m m}$



Figure 4.7: Design rules for the first metal layer (metal 1, gray), which is deposited above the bottom oxide (blue) on the silicon substrate (dark gray). The minimum gap size and minimum structure size are defined as 5 µm and 2 µm, respectively.

All layers except the metal 3 layer are etched with an anisotropic plasma etch, which removes material only in a direction perpendicular to the surface. This etching technique allows for having smaller gap and structure sizes compared to an isotropic wet etch, in which the material is etched in all spatial directions. Because the routing of electric leads from the DC electrodes to the bonding pads is integrated in the metal 1 and metal 2 layer, small gap sizes are desired to enable broader leads to reduce their resistance. The minimum gap size in the metal 1 and metal 2 layers is mainly dependent on the thickness of the following 2.2 μ m thick oxide layers. It must be assured, that the deposited oxide fills up the entire gap in the metal layer, without creating air pockets. Such air pockets could cause electrical failures [104]. Therefore, the minimum gap size is defined to be 5 μ m for the metal 1 and metal 2 layer, and is achievable with anisotropic plasma etching. Due to the larger layer thickness of the metal 3 layer of 2 μ m, we use an isotropic wet etch for structuring, which is already available at Infineon. Here, the masking layer is subjected to an under etch of the size of the etched layer thickness, increasing the etched area compared to the mask opening. Therefore, the minimum gap (9 μ m) and structure (14 μ m) sizes for the metal 3 layer are larger relative to the metal 1 and metal 2 layer.

Based on the presented design rules for the fabrication processes and the desired trap geometry, the layout of the 2D twin trap including all functional layers was created.

4.2 Trap fabrication

The fabrication of the 2D twin trap is carried out at the cleanroom facilities of Infineon Technologies¹ on wafer level, using 8" silicon wafers (200 mm diameter) as a substrate. Wafer level fabrication allows the simultaneous production of hundreds to thousands of devices on the same substrate, resulting in a time- and cost-saving production.

The fabrication of the 2D twin trap is based on a well-established technology. Wafers are processed via an automated process flow referred to as process of records (POR), which contains all individual fabrication and control steps. This POR is designed prior to the fabrication start of the ion trap and enables a fast and reliable production. In the following section the fabrication of the 2D twin trap is presented.

4.2.1 Silicon as basis material for ion traps

When considering different candidates as substrate material for ion traps, silicon is an interesting choice due to its wide range of possible processes that enable complex ion trap designs. Silicon is the most used basis material for semiconductor components, including microprocessors, memory chips and logic circuits [105]. It is the second most abundant element in the earth's crust, and thus available in almost unlimited

¹The Infine on cleanroom in Villach has an area of around 23.000 m^2 and a cleanroom class of 1 -1000, depending on the sub-area of the fab. The cleanroom class defines, how many particles with a diameter of 0.5 µm are allowed in a volume of 1 ft^3 .

quantities. At room-temperature, silicon bonds with oxygen, forming silicon dioxide SiO_2 , a mechanically and electrically stable insulator, suitable for electrical separation of the silicon substrate and conducting layers applied on top. Due to the numerous advantages and possible applications of silicon in semiconductor industry, there is a large tool park of different processes that enable complicated layer structures and chip layouts.

However, not only advantages in the manufacturing process, but also the requirements for material properties in relation to the ion trap performance must be taken into account. Common surface ion traps use RF voltages of around 100 - 200 V to confine ions. If RF leaks into the substrate, it will cause the trap to heat up. Moreover, a change in temperature affects the RF voltage gain by the resonator due to a shift of the resonance frequency, as the matching is no longer optimal. To compensate for a lower RF voltage gain, even more voltage has to be applied, which in turn causes the chip to heat up further.

The loss tangent describing the amount of electromagnetic energy dissipated in a material is given by

$$\tan \delta = \frac{1}{Q},\tag{4.1}$$

with the quality factor Q. In a semiconductor, the loss tangent is defined by the following equation:

$$\tan \delta = \tan \delta_d + \frac{1}{\rho \Omega \epsilon_0 \epsilon_r}.$$
(4.2)

Here, $\tan \delta_d$ represents the dielectric loss tangent, ρ is the resistivity, Ω the angular frequency (in this case the RF drive frequency), ϵ_0 the vacuum permittivity and ϵ_r the semiconductor's relative permittivity [107]. With an increasing resistivity of the material, the loss tangent decreases. Another mechanism producing RF losses is the generation of charge carriers by accumulation and inversion in the underlying substrate [108] when a typical voltage of 200 V is applied to a surface electrode. This effect is also present in substrates with a high resistivity. At room temperature, intrinsic silicon with a high resistivity has a loss tangent of around 1.5 at typical RF trap frequencies of around 20 MHz [107], which is still too high for a reliable ion trap operation.

There are two possibilities to circumvent this issue: first, the integration of a shielding layer helps reducing the dissipated energy from the RF electrode to the substrate. This needs an additional metal layer and adds complexity to the fabrication process. Moreover, an additional GND layer below the RF electrodes contributes to a higher trap capacitance, which can lead to higher RF losses and heating of the trap.

Second, the ion trap is operated at cryogenic temperatures. At temperatures lower than 25 K the charge carriers in silicon freeze out [107], and hence the resistivity of the substrate increases and RF losses are reduced.

Another interesting and commonly used substrate material for ion traps is fused silica. At room temperature, the loss tangent of fused silica is as low as $\sim 10^{-4}$ [109]. But, in semiconductor manufacturing facilities, most fused silica substrates are classified in a critical contamination class due to their sodium contents, that could contaminate other wafers. Moreover, because glass wafers are transparent, problems can arise with the automatic detection of the wafers in different process tools.

For the 2D twin trap fabrication, either a standard silicon substrate with 3Ω cm resistivity or a high-Ohmic, float-zone substrate with $\rho > 8 \,\mathrm{k}\Omega$ cm resistivity were chosen as wafer material. The ion traps are operated at cryogenic temperatures and the trap layout contains a shielding layer to reduce RF losses.

4.2.2 Basic fabrication steps

In total, the fabrication of the ion trap wafers consists of 103 process steps. This includes in-line reliability measurements and optical control steps, which make up for 20% of all processes. The basic fabrication routine takes around 2 weeks for one wafer, which contains more than 700 chips.

In figure 4.8 the basic fabrication steps are depicted, corresponding to the layers given in table 4.2. After thermal oxidation of the substrate, the metal and oxide layers are deposited alternately. In the following, the structuring of the ion trap wafers is described in detail. This includes the process of optical lithography to create the etching pattern, as well as details on the used oxide and metal layers.

Optical lithography

All layers except the thermal oxide are structured by optical lithography followed by an etching step. Optical lithography consists of three consecutive steps: first, the wafer is coated with (radiation sensitive) photoresist. Second, a UV light exposure through a mask images the desired pattern on the wafer, followed by the development of the photoresist. For the patterning of all structural layers in the ion trap the resist is exposed with 365 nm UV-light in the so-called i-line [110]. The term i-line refers to a line in the emission spectrum of a mercury vapor lamp (in this case 365 nm), which is used for exposure in lithography.

There are two types of resist, referred to as positive and negative resist. A positive (negative) resist dissolves in the UV exposed (not UV exposed) area during development.



Figure 4.8: Basic fabrication steps for structuring the ion trap wafers on the silicon substrate (dark gray) at the position of a via. Metals are colored gray, oxide blue. a) Thermal oxidation, b) sputter deposition of metal 1 (m1), c) oxide deposition of imox 1, d) sputter deposition of metal 2 (m2), e) oxide deposition of imox 2 and etching, f) sputter deposition of metal 3 (m3) forming a via.

For the processing of the ion traps we exclusively use positive resist, which is spin-coated on the wafer. To achieve a homogeneous resist layer over the entire wafer covering all edges, the thickness of the resist is important, especially in the case of a high topology of the structured wafer, where we need a resist thickness of up to $4 \,\mu\text{m}$. The thickness of the resist is mainly defined by the spinning speed and the viscosity of the resist and is optimized for every single layer.

After coating the wafer with resist, the desired structure is projected on the wafer via a quartz plate, in which the chip layout is defined by a chrome layer. This process is either performed with a 1:1 photo mask comprising the whole wafer layout, or with a reticle containing just one or a few chips, which is used with a step-and-repeat method. For fabrication of the 2D twin trap, only reticles are used that include up to 12 chips. The reticle is moved step by step over the wafer and is repositioned and aligned for each shot. With this method, adjustment errors due to temperature changes or distortion as present in a full-wafer mask is minimized. But, an increase in processing time has to be accepted since the reticle needs to be repositioned many times for one wafer.

To convert the resist structure transferred through UV exposure into an etching mask, a development step is performed, followed by a water rinsing to stop the process [105]. Subsequently, a post-exposure bake is conducted to cure the resist for the following process. The final step of the lithography is an optical inspection of the resist structures

to detect possible defects and to examine the alignment to the underlying layers.

Oxide layers

In the 2D twin trap, silicon oxide layers are integrated to isolate the substrate from the first metal layer and to separate the three metal layers from each other. Depending on the underlying substrate, there are two ways to create an oxide layer in semiconductor fabrication: thermal oxidation and oxide deposition. Bare silicon as substrate allows for a thermal oxidation, resulting in a pure SiO₂ layer. This process needs high temperatures of around 1000 °C to heat up the silicon surface. The oxide growth rate is restricted due to the fact, that the oxygen has to diffuse through the already existing oxide layer until reaching the silicon below. Therefore, to achieve thick oxide layers, long process times are necessary. A rough estimation gives a reduction in layer growth proportional to the square root of time [105]. Nevertheless, advantages of thermal oxide are a low defect density and low interface roughness. Moreover, high breakdown voltages can be achieved due to the high density of the layer.

If an oxide is required on top of a metal layer, no thermal growth can take place because no silicon is present in the underlying layer. Thus, silicon has to be supplied in addition to the oxygen. An often used oxide deposition method is tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS, SiO₄C₈H₂₀) deposition [105]. TEOS is an ethyl compound that is fluid at roomtemperature, containing both oxygen and silicon. Heating up the fluid to the gas phase, the ethyl groups split, so that SiO_x with $x \approx 2$ is deposited on the wafer surface. Compared to thermal oxide, the carbon content is higher, leading to a lower refraction index [105]. However, the process temperature related to the wafer is much lower, so that processing is possible even if metal layers with a lower critical temperature have already been deposited on the wafer. In this context, the critical temperature of a metal defines the maximum temperature allowed for further processing to prevent damaging of thin layers.

The bottom oxide of the 2D twin trap is grown thermally on the silicon substrate. The two imox layers need to be deposited, due to the underlying metal surface and the restricted maximum processing temperature of 420 °C when using AlSiCu for metal layers. The imox layers need to support vias for an electrical connection in between two metal layers. These vias are realized through plasma etching leading to a funnel-shaped aperture in the oxide, see figure 4.9. This enables a sufficient coating of the via sidewalls given by the metal deposited above.



Figure 4.9: Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of the ion trap. a) Cross section of the layer stack at the position of a via between metal 2 and metal 3. Unlabelled, gray layers are isolating oxide. b) Central zone of the ion trap in 45° angle. The segmented electrodes are connected to underlying metal layers by multiple vias.

Metal layers

The three AlSiCu metal layers of the 2D twin trap are created via sputter deposition. In this process, a target made of the desired metal material is bombarded with highly accelerated ions. Thus, atoms or molecules from the target are ejected, move with an energy of 1 - 10 eV and subsequently deposit on the wafer surface. Since the sputter process takes place at higher pressure (~ 10 Pa) compared to evaporation, the mean free path of the particles is in the millimeter range. For this reason, the particles will change their direction multiple times due to collisions with gas molecules, before depositing on the wafer. Thus, they hit the wafer surface at different angles, resulting in the coating of vertical sidewalls. This enables the electrical connection of metal layers through vias. Sputter deposition allows for a larger layer thickness compared to evaporation methods, which are limited by the amount of material that can be deposited in one process run. Moreover, sputter deposition allows for a better control of the layer thickness and results in a higher uniformity of the deposited layer [105].

The first two metal layers (metal 1 and metal 2) are structured via anisotropic plasma etching. Due to the larger layer thickness of $2 \mu m$ of the metal 3 layer, the first traps were processed with an isotropic wet etch for this layer, before a working plasma etch was developed. The two etch techniques can be used to create two different gap widths in between the electrodes of $5 \mu m$ and $9 \mu m$ for a plasma and a wet etch, respectively, as depicted in figure 4.10. Because stray charges in dielectrics lead to increased micromotion of the ion, smaller gaps between electrodes help to reduce the



amount of oxide in direct line of sight to the ion.

Figure 4.10: SEM image of the ion trap cross section. Metal layers are visible in light gray, separated by oxide layers (dark gray). Before the chips were broken and polished, they were embedded in epoxy. The epoxy layer detached from the ion trap chip, visible as a dark area. The metal 3 layer is structured with an a) anisotropic plasma (dry) etch and b) isotropic wet etch. The different etching technique results in gaps between the electrodes of 5 μ m and 9 μ m, respectively.

4.2.3 Fabrication changes for multiple trap generations

During characterization of the first 2D twin traps in the experiment, relatively high stray electric fields were detected at the ion's position in the first characterized ion traps, as described in detail in refs. [29, 111]. Therefore, two improvements on the fabrication process were introduced to reduce stray fields generated on the ion trap surface. An under etch of the trap electrodes leads to a recess of the gap oxide, thus minimizing the amount of exposed oxide and thus the effects of stray electric fields at the ion's position. Additionally, the AlSiCu electrodes were coated with a thin layer of gold.

Underetched electrodes

In the first iteration of the 2D twin trap the oxide in the gaps between the trap electrodes is in direct line-of-sight to the trapped ions. During trap operation with laser light, stray charges are created at the dielectric surface, causing stray electric fields. Such static electric fields induce micromotion and heating of the ions, and results in changes in the ion-laser interaction [112]. To circumvent this effect, an additional oxide etch was introduced to the fabrication routine. An isotropic wet etch with high selectivity to aluminum is performed to etch both imox layers down to the metal 1 shield layer,



therefore recessing the oxide below the electrodes, as shown in figure 4.11.

Figure 4.11: SEM image of under etched electrodes to reduce the amount of oxide in direct line of sight to the ion. A cross section of the layer stack can be generated by a focussed ion beam cut, visible as a hole in the left picture (red frame). The cross section of the ion trap is shown in the right SEM image, taken in a 45° angle for better visualization. The oxide is etched down to the metal 1 shield layer.

Gold as electrode surface material

Another drawback of the first 2D twin trap is the electrode material, an alloy of aluminum, silicon and copper. Aluminum as metal material is advantageous since it is compatible with standard CMOS microfabrication. However, the growth of native oxide on the aluminum surface when exposed to air is a possible source of stray-electric field noise [99]. A commonly used surface material in ion traps is gold, which features a high conductivity. Moreover, no native oxidation occurs when exposed to air. Nevertheless, the poor compatibility within a CMOS production line to avoid contaminations of other wafers limits the possibilities of including a gold coating for the ion traps in our process.

To avoid contamination of other productive wafers, a gold coating of the ion trap wafers has to be performed as the last process step. The wafer is evaporated with a stack of 50 nm titanium, 100 nm platinum, and 200 nm gold. Here, titanium serves as an adhesion layer and platinum as a diffusion barrier to avoid migration of gold atoms in underlying layers [113]. The evaporated gold layer covers the whole wafer surface. Because the oxide in the gaps between electrodes is under etched in the previous process step, shorts between electrodes are avoided. Thus, no additional structuring of the gold layer is required. A schematic cross section of the ion trap before and after adding the under etch and gold evaporation is shown in figure 4.12.



Figure 4.12: Schematic layer cross section of the 2D twin trap. a) Layer cross section of the first 2D twin trap with exposed oxide (light blue) in the gaps between electrodes (light gray) in direct line of sight to the ion (blue circle). Spatial fluctuations of stray charges in the dielectric (marked with black +/-) increase the ion's micromotion. b) Layer cross section of the 2D twin trap with improved fabrication, including under-etched electrodes, which provide a shielding of stray charges in the oxide. A coating of the AlSiCu electrodes with gold (yellow) reduces the risk of adsorbants or native oxide on the aluminum.

4.2.4 Dicing

To isolate the single ion trap chips on the wafer, a dicing process is performed. In semiconductor industry, a variety of methods for separating single chips on a wafer is available, such as laser cutting [114], stealth dicing [115], plasma dicing [116], and mechanical dicing [117]. At the Infineon production facilities in Villach, mechanical dicing is the preferred method for separating semiconductor chips, hence we implemented this process for the 2D twin trap. A grinding wheel containing diamonds is moved over the wafer at high rotational speed. The width of the scribe line needs to be defined already while generating the wafer layout to facilitate the required space for the dicing process. Dicing marks are placed in this area to allow for an automatic alignment of the dicing tool. Typically, also the alignment marks used to align the structuring of different layers as well as measurement targets are placed in the area used for dicing. Depending on the wafer thickness and material a suitable sawing blade is chosen.

Before dicing, the whole wafer is fixed on a UV-releasable tape² to maintain the position and location of individual chips during and after dicing. Then, a full cut of the wafer is performed down to the underlying foil that holds the chips on the wafer. During dicing a jet of fluid ensures that dicing debris are rinsed off immediately. This fluid mainly consists of water with a small amount of an additional cleaning agent StayClean-F³, acting as a surfactant (surface active agent). Silicon particles detached through dicing tend to deposit in the slightly acidic water used during dicing, especially on topological edges. To prevent this, the surfactant forms a polar bond with the wafer surface creating a protective layer. This procedure also inhibits corrosion of aluminum and copper [118]. After dicing, the wafer is rinsed with de-ionized water and subsequently exposed with UV light to weaken the adhesion of the single chips to the foil. This simplifies the manual detachment of chips with tweezers. Figure 4.13 shows a taped wafer fixed in the dicing frame as well as a zoom-in of the diced wafer.



Figure 4.13: a) 8" diameter ion trap wafer after dicing fixed on a UV-releasable tape. b) Diced on trap chips still fixed on the tape. Different trap designs and test structures are fabricated on the same wafer.

4.2.5 Packaging

The first ion traps fabricated at Infineon Technologies were delivered to the university as bare dies. Glueing of the trap to the carrier printed circuit board (PCB) as well as the electrical connection to the carrier PCB, filterboard and RF resonator through wire bonding was manually performed in the university's cleanroom. This procedure is not time-efficient, since it takes at least one day to produce a fully wirebonded ion trap. Moreover, the reliability of the wirebonded traps is limited due to possible human errors

²LINTEC, D497 or D495H

³StayClean-F, DISCO, water soluable additive

in manual handling and processing. Therefore, an industrial packaging of the ion traps was developed, which is carried out at the back-end facilities of Infineon Technologies in Regensburg.

The carrier PCB creating the electrical connection to the voltage supply is specially designed to fit the 2D twin trap. The PCB is a standard 101 pad land grid array (LGA) similar to socket solutions for other state-of-the-art ion traps [119], and is made of Rogers 4350B with copper metallization. The copper has an electroless palladium / immersion gold (EPIG) coating that is nickel-free and ideal for high frequency applications. The ion trap is glued on the PCB with a conductive Infineon proprietary glue with a silver content > 90 % after curing. The ion trap chip is then wirebonded to the PCB with 25 µm thick gold wires via a fully-automatic ball-bonding process. Each bond pad is connected with two wire bonds for redundancy. The assembled ion traps on carrier PCB are then shipped to the university. Pictures of the assembled ion trap are shown in figure 4.14.

Combined with the automated packaging process, an ion trap socket for mounting in the vacuum chamber was developed compatible with the standardized Infineon carrier PCB. This socket allows for an easy and fast sample change, shows good thermal anchoring and enables the integration of electronics close to or directly on the ion trap chip. Patenting of this ion trap socket is ongoing at the time of writing of this thesis. Details on the layout, materials, as well as an electrical and thermal characterization will be described in [120].



Figure 4.14: Industrial ion trap package accomplished by Infineon Technologies. a) Ion trap with double wire bonds glued to the carrier PCB. b) Multiple wirebonded ion traps on carrier PCBs still fixed in the lead frame (structural support layer to provide stability during manufacturing operations and transport).

4.3 Electrical characterization

To verify electrical functionality of the ion trap, several tests were performed on the ion traps themselves as well as on dedicated test structures. These test structures are fabricated on the same wafer as the ion traps, sharing the same materials, layer properties and processing steps. Therefore, measurements on the test structures are a suitable method to characterize properties of the ion traps, such as resistances of metal layers and vias. Moreover, breakdown voltages between RF electrodes and neighboring DC and GND electrodes on the ion trap were measured at room temperature and cryogenic temperatures. Finally, the capacitance of the RF electrodes to the metal 1 shield layer was investigated.

4.3.1 Resistance of metal layers and vias

To minimize heating of the ion trap due to Johnson Nyquist noise (see section 3.2.1), leads to the electrodes are designed to be as wide and thick as possible to reduce their resistance. In the 2D twin trap, several segmented DC electrodes are routed through relatively thin metal lines of $10 - 20 \,\mu\text{m}$ width and $1 \,\mu\text{m}$ thickness. These metal layers are connected through vias with a cross-sectional area of $4 \times 4 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ (metal 1 to metal 2) and $6 \times 10 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ (metal 2 to metal 3).

The resistance of the three metal layers and both vias was measured at room temperature and cryogenic temperature (20 K) in a vacuum environment. Meander test structures in each metal layer with a length of 65.5 mm and a width of 14 µm were used to determine the metal resistance. From the measured resistances at room temperature, the resistivity of the metal layers is calculated, giving values of $(2.2 - 2.7) \times 10^{-8} \Omega m$. The calculated resistivity values are listed in table 4.4. These values are comparable to similar aluminum alloys found in literature for bulk resistance [121]. The different values for the three individual layers are caused by the additional 25 nm TiN layer on top of metal 1 and metal 2. The higher resistivity of TiN [122] increases the resistivity of the AlSiCu + TiN stack. At a temperature of 20 K the resistivity drops to around 10 % of the room-temperature values, agreeing well with analysis found in literature [123].

To determine the via resistance, a series of 30 identical, interconnected vias were used. For one via connecting two metal layers a resistance of $(20-50) \,\mathrm{m}\Omega$ was measured at room temperature. Again, the resistance at 20 K drops to around 10 % of the roomtemperature value, resulting in a resistance of only a few milli Ohms per via. In the ion trap, all electrodes are connected with at least two vias to further reduce the resistance. Table 4.5 lists the measured values for vias connecting different metal layers. The

metal layer	$\left \ \rho \ (\Omega m) \ at \ 300 K \right.$	$\rho~(\Omega{\rm m})$ at $20{\rm K}$
m3	$2.278(1) \times 10^{-8}$	$2.41(2) \times 10^{-9}$
m2	$2.703(3) \times 10^{-8}$	$2.58(3) \times 10^{-9}$
m1	$2.524(4) \times 10^{-8}$	$2.54(1) \times 10^{-9}$

Table 4.4: Resistivity ρ of the individual metal layers.

discrepancy between different via types is caused by the different metal thickness: a thicker metal layer leads to a stronger coverage of the via side walls, resulting in a lower resistance.

Table 4.5: Resistance $R_{\rm via}$ of one via connecting individual metal layers.

via connecting	$R_{\rm via}~({\rm m}\Omega)$ at 300 K	$R_{\rm via}~({\rm m}\Omega)$ at 20 K
m2 to m1	51.91(2)	6.52(3)
m3 to $m2$	23.31(1)	2.70(2)
m3 to $m1$	37.17(1)	4.94(4)

To determine the Johnson Nyquist noise induced by the trap electrodes, the leads routing the segmented DC electrodes in the metal 2 layer to the bond pads are used. These leads have the highest resistance compared to all other metal structures on the trap chip. A resistance of $5\,\Omega$ for the leads at room temperature and $0.5\,\Omega$ at $20\,\mathrm{K}$ is calculated with the measured resistivity values given in table 4.4. We estimate the resistance of the wirebonds connecting the bond pads on the trap chip with the carrier PCB to be on the order of a few tens of milli Ohms [124] at room temperature and therefore negligible compared to the lead resistance. With a characteristic distance of $\delta_{c,z} = 2.2 \text{ mm}$ [79] the amount of electric field noise is $S_E \sim 1.7 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2 \text{ Hz/m}^2$ at room temperature for the axial direction, following equation (3.5). With a secular frequency of $\omega_z = 2\pi \times 1 \text{ MHz}$ this results in a heating rate of $\Gamma_{h,300K} = 2.5 \text{ q/s}$. At a temperature of 20 K, the heating rate reduces by around two orders of magnitude to $\Gamma_{\rm h,20K} = 0.015 \, {\rm q/s}$ due to the lower metal resistivity. Similarly, the heating rate for the radial modes is calculated for one direction, using a characteristic distance of $\delta_{c,r} = 0.9 \,\mathrm{mm}$ and radial frequency of $\omega_r = 2\pi \times 3 \,\mathrm{MHz}$. The outcome is a slightly higher heating rate of $\Gamma_{h,300K} = 4.8 \, \text{q/s}$ and $\Gamma_{h,20K} = 0.033 \, \text{q/s}$ at room temperature and cryogenic temperature, respectively. Therefore, no significant ion heating in the trap due to Johnson Nyquist noise is expected during trap operation at cryogenic temperatures. These calculated values for the heating rate generated by Johnson Nyquist noise are later compared to measurements performed on the ion trap in the experiment, see section 4.5.4.

4.3.2 Breakdown tests

The metal layers of the 2D twin trap are separated by 2.2 µm thick dielectric layers of deposited silicon dioxide. Applying a high voltage to the RF electrodes leads to leakage currents through the dielectric and in the worst case to a full breakdown [125] destroying the ion trap. Hence, it is important to investigate the dielectric strength of the oxide layers to define a maximum voltage applicable to the trap without risking damage. A first measurement of the breakdown voltage was performed on test structures with parallel metal structures of the size $700 \,\mu\text{m} \times 3500 \,\mu\text{m}$ in each metal layer to form a plate capacitor. These measurements were conducted on eight samples with a DC voltage at room-temperature and atmospheric pressure. A mean breakdown voltage of 1.21(5) kV for the dielectric between metal 1 and metal 2 was measured. The breakdown voltages of all samples are shown in figure 4.15. The expected breakdown voltage for an ideal thermal oxide is given by $1 \, V/nm$ based on empirical values from Infineon. In the case of the plasma oxide deposited on the ion trap wafers, this value reduces to $\sim 0.55 \,\mathrm{V/nm}$. Measured breakdown voltages between metal 2 and metal 3 as well as between metal 1 and metal 3 were limited by surface flash-over and arcing [126]. The flashover was located in the area of the bond pads, where the distance to the leads is only $25 \,\mu m$, reducing the breakdown voltage to 447(4) V and 446(8) V, respectively.

Another series of breakdown test was conducted on the ion traps. To simulate a realistic experimental environment, the tests are performed in vacuum inside the cryostat at Kompetenzzentrum für Automobil- und Industrieelektronik (KAI). At 20 K, a breakdown voltage of ≥ 800 V was determined for various combinations of RF and DC/GND electrodes. Moreover, the breakdown voltage in vacuum at room temperature was investigated, resulting in similar values of ≥ 800 V. This indicates no limitation by surface-flashover in a vacuum environment. In table 4.6 the results of the different breakdown tests are summarized.

The RF voltage applied to the ion trap during operation is in the range of 150-200 V. Although the RF breakdown voltage might differ from the DC breakdown voltage, we expect the layer stack of the ion trap with 2.2 µm imox layers to be compatible with the experiment due to the high DC voltages that can be applied to the trap.



Figure 4.15: Dielectric breakdown voltage measured on test structures between the metal 1 and metal 2 layer for eight samples. The measurement was conducted at room temperature and atmospheric pressure. The mean breakdown voltage of the eight measured samples is 1.21(5) kV.

4.3.3 Capacitance measurements

To avoid RF losses in the silicon substrate, the ion trap has an additional shielding layer in metal 1 connected to GND. The RF electrodes and this GND layer form a plate capacitor, separated by only 4.4 µm (in the interaction zone 2.2 µm) of deposited oxide. This capacitance influences the resonance frequency of the RF resonator, therefore the knowledge about the trap capacitance is important to design a suitable RF resonator. The capacitance analysis was performed on ion traps with 80 µm ion-surface distance, fabricated on either standard silicon substrate with $\rho = 3 \Omega$ cm or a high-Ohmic silicon substrate with $\rho > 8 \,\mathrm{k}\Omega$ cm, see section 4.2.2. The capacitance between the outer RF electrodes and the inner RF electrode to GND as well as the coupling capacitance between

Table 4.6: Breakdown mechanism for different environments and temperaturesbetween RF and DC/GND electrodes of the 2D ion trap.

environment	temperature	$V_{\rm break}$ (V)	mechanism
atmospheric pressure	300 K	~ 450 ≥ 800 ≥ 800	surface flashover
vacuum	300 K		dielectric breakdown
vacuum	20 K		dielectric breakdown

the two RF electrodes was measured in ambient conditions and a dark environment to avoid light-induced stray charges. Figure 4.16 shows a schematic of the capacitances present in the ion trap. The measured values are $C_{\rm og} = 38.00(1) \,\mathrm{pF} \,(36.36(3) \,\mathrm{pF})$ for the outer RF, and $C_{\rm ig} = 6.40(1) \,\mathrm{pF} \,(4.92(1) \,\mathrm{pF})$ for the inner RF to GND on the standard silicon substrate (high-Ohmic silicon substrate). These values are much higher than single-layer traps, but still comparable to other ion traps with multiple metal layers [90].



Figure 4.16: a) Schematic layer cross section of the 2D twin trap in the central trap area with metal electrodes (bright gray), isolating oxide (blue) and substrate (dark gray). b) Schematic layer cross section of the 2D twin trap in the bond pad area without shielding GND layer. c) Schematic of the capacitance between the two RF electrodes ($C_{\rm io}$, red), the inner RF electrode to GND ($C_{\rm ig}$, green), the outer RF electrodes to GND ($C_{\rm og}$, blue), and a MOS capacity between the RF electrodes and the silicon substrate ($C_{\rm MOS}$, purple) in the 2D twin trap.

Stray light or lasers can induce charge carriers in the substrate, changing the trap capacitance. Thus, to evaluate the influence of stray light on the ion traps, a measurement of the capacitance was performed during light exposure. The RF capacitance of the ion trap was measured with a bias voltage applied to the RF electrode, while the GND electrode is connected to GND. The bias voltage is tuned from -100 V to 100 V. A drop in the capacitance of a few pico Farad was observed for the high-Ohmic silicon substrate compared to the standard substrate when exposed to white light, see figure 4.17. This can be explained by the contribution of a MOS (metal-oxide-semiconductor) capacitor, which is created by the RF electrode and the silicon substrate in the area of the bonding pads. In this area, the GND shield of the metal 1 layer is omitted to avoid shorts during the wirebonding process, as described in detail in section 4.5.1. If the trap is exposed to light, charge carriers are generated by accumulation and inversion in the

underlying substrate [108], thus preventing depletion of the MOS capacitor. At lower voltages up to 40 V, the charge carriers at the interface are depleted resulting in a lower capacitance. This effect only occurs with the high-Ohmic substrate. The results of the capacitance measurements are listed in table 4.7. Thus, for the ion traps presented in this thesis only a standard silicon substrate was used.



Figure 4.17: Capacitance of RF to GND for the 2D twin trap while applying a bias voltage to the RF electrode and connecting the GND electrode to GND. The ion trap shows a behavior as a MOS capacitor when exposed to light. Depletion is only observed in a dark environment up to a voltage of around 40 V, resulting in a lower capacitance. Note, that the sign of the bias voltage is inverted due to restrictions in the measurement setup.

Table 4.7: Capacitance of the outer RF electrode (C_{og}) and inner RF electrode C_{ig} to GND for a standard $\rho = 3 \Omega \text{ cm}$ silicon substrate and a $\rho > 8 \text{ k}\Omega \text{ cm}$ silicon substrate. For an estimation of the influence of stray light, the trap was illuminated in one measurement.

	$ C_{ig} (pF) $	$ C_{\rm og}~({\rm pF}) $
standard substrate, dark standard substrate, light	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
high-Ohmic substrate, dark high-Ohmic substrate, light	$ \begin{array}{ c c } 4.92(1) \\ 6.33(1) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Moreover, the coupling capacitance between the two RF electrodes is measured,

resulting in a value of $C_{\rm io} = 0.06(1)\,{\rm pF}$. An explanation for this small value is the shielding created through DC and GND electrodes located between the two RF rails. With the measured values of the trap capacitance, the RF resonator can be designed for a sufficient voltage gain to provide an RF voltage of 180 V.

4.4 Experimental setup

The 2D twin trap presented in this thesis was operated at cryogenic temperatures in ultra-high vacuum (UHV). Thus, a cryogenic setup was used, which was originally set up by Michael Niedermayr at the University of Innsbruck. Details on the setup are given in his PhD thesis [127]. In the following section, the experimental setup consisting of the cryostat connected to the vacuum chamber, the ion trap setup including the electronics to operate the ion trap, the necessary optical setup as well as the experiment control are described.

4.4.1 Cryostat and vacuum chamber

For cooling the ion trap inside the vacuum chamber, a closed-cycle Gifford McMahon cryostat is used. The vacuum chamber made of stainless steel is formed by two parts providing CF (ConFlat) flanges: a home made CF160 full nipple and a CF160 octagon chamber. In fig. 4.18 a cross section of the cryostat and the octagon with viewports is depicted. Two cold stages (50 K-stage and 10 K-stage) connected to the vacuum chamber are employed to reach the final base temperature of around 10 K necessary for a reliable ion trap operation. Attached to each stage is a radiation shield (50 K-shield and 10 K-shield, respectively) made of 5 mm copper, creating the cryogenic environment for the trap setup. These shields reduce the black-body radiation and moreover serve as a target for background molecules to freeze out far away from the ion trap. The largest cryogenic pump of the system is given by activated charcoal, placed in a container fixed at the 10 K-shield. The charcoal also provides a good vacuum due to its large surface area, to which gas molecules can adsorb.

The electrical leads inside the cryostat are realized by 20 coaxial cables made of stainless steel that are guided through electric BNC feedthroughs on the CF160 full nipple to link them to the electronics outside the cryostat.

Laser access to the ion trap is realized through viewports incorporated in the octagon and windows in the two heat shields equipped with anti-reflection coatings. The lasers for cooling and photoionization processes are coupled into the vacuum chamber perpendicular to the 729 nm qubit laser, see figure 4.18b. A detailed description of the optical setup is given in section 4.4.3. An additional window on the bottom flange of the



Figure 4.18: (a) Cross section of the cryostat. The vacuum chamber is formed by a CF160 full nipple and the octagon. The ion trap is enclosed by a 10 K shield (blue) and a 50 K shield (green) connected to the respective cold stages, and is thermally bonded to the cold head. BNC feedthroughs provide the electrical connection into the cryostat. (b) Cross section of the octagon. Viewports on each side of the octagon and windows in the heat shields allow for laser access. Cooling and photoionization lasers enter the cryostat perpendicular to the 729 nm qubit laser, both in 45° angle with respect to the quantization axis. The Ca oven is attached to one viewport for loading Ca atoms. Figure adapted from [127].

octagon allows for detecting the ion's fluorescence for state discrimination. A stream of atomic calcium is provided by a Ca oven attached to one of the CF40 flanges of the octagon and holes in the two radiation shields. Two pairs of electromagnetic coils are installed on four sides of the octagon to create the electromagnetic field to define the ion's quantization axis to be 45° relative to the laser beams.

4.4.2 Trap setup

For optimal cooling of the ion trap, a good thermal bond of the trap setup to the cryostat cold head is necessary. Therefore, the PCB carrying the ion trap (carrier PCB) is clamped on a copper base that is directly mounted on the 10 K stage of the cold head. Low-pass filters for the DC lines and an RF resonator, which are both located on

additional PCBs, are electrically connected to the trap by wire bonds. A temperature sensor (diode sensor) is integrated to determine the temperature as close as possible to the trap. In figure 4.19, the trap setup inside the cryostat is depicted.



Figure 4.19: The ion trap assembled in the cryostat. Second order low-pass filters (blue) filter noise in the DC channels. An RF resonator (red) is used to amplify the RF voltage inside the vacuum chamber. A temperature sensor is integrated close to the ion trap.

RF resonator

To confine ions in microstructured surface traps, RF voltages of around 200 V at frequencies around 15 - 50 MHz are necessary. To reduce the capacitance of the wires, the RF electronics are placed as close as possible to the ion trap [128, 129]. Thus, the RF voltage is amplified by a resonator directly connected to the carrier PCB of the ion trap.

The RF circuit consists of three main functional parts as shown in figure 4.20. A matching network is used to match the impedance of the RF circuit to the 50 Ω supply line to the signal generator. The matching consists of an inductance $L_{\rm m}$ and a variable capacitor $C_{\rm m}$.

An RLC circuit forms the resonator to amplify the RF voltage needed for trap operation. A home made coil gives an inductance $L_{\rm r}$ and the resistance $R_{\rm r}$ is mainly given by the coil's resistance. The capacitor $C_{\rm trap}$ is defined by the trap itself, mostly



Figure 4.20: Schematic of the electrical circuit for the RF. A matching unit (green, $L_{\rm m} = 1 \,\mu\text{H}, C_{\rm m} = 8 - 50 \,\text{pF}$) serves for impedance matching to the 50 Ω supply line. The cap divider ($C_1 = 5 \,\text{pF}, C_2 = 100 \,\text{pF}$) of the monitor unit (blue) is used to track the voltage applied to the RF electrode. The RF voltage is enhanced with an LC resonator (red) including the trap itself as a capacitor ($C_{\rm trap} = 40 \,\text{pF}$) and a handmade coil-inductance ($L_{\rm r} = 900 \,\text{nH}, R_{\rm r} = 0.46 \,\Omega$).

by the capacitance between the RF electrode and the GND electrode on the trap. The resonance frequency of the RLC resonator

$$f_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}\tag{4.3}$$

is dependent on the inductance and capacitance of the circuit. A measure of the performance of the resonator is given by the quality factor Q described by

$$Q = \frac{2\pi f_0 L}{R} = \frac{1}{R} \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}}.$$
 (4.4)

This parameter is proportional to the resonator's voltage gain, thus defines the enhancement of the RF source voltage.

For monitoring the voltage applied to the RF trap electrode a capacitive voltage divider is added to the circuit. Two capacitors C_1 and C_2 with $C_1 \ll C_2$ are placed in parallel so that the influence of the coaxial cable to the oscilloscope is negligible.

Depending on the geometry and fabrication, different ion traps also come with different trap capacitances. Hence, for every new ion trap the RF circuit needs to be adapted by changing the coil inductance and the matching for an optimal resonator operation regarding resonance frequency and RF voltage gain.

DC filters

To ensure high-fidelity quantum operations, a low level of electrical noise is required. For this reason, first order RC filters are used as low-pass filters for the DC lines providing the DC trap voltages. In figure 4.21, a schematic of the electrical circuit of a single DC line is shown. With a resistance of $R_{\rm f} = 100 \,\Omega$, and two capacitors of $C_{\rm f,1} = 330 \,\mathrm{nF}$ and $C_{\rm f,2} = 470 \,\mathrm{pF}$ placed in parallel, a cut-off frequency of $f_{\rm c} = 4.8 \,\mathrm{kHz}$ is achieved. This leads to a calculated noise reduction of 50 dB at 1 MHz.



Figure 4.21: Schematic of the electrical circuit for one DC electrode with a first-order RC low-pass filter.

Trap mounting

The first generation of ion traps fabricated at Infineon Technologies were delivered as bare dies to the University of Innsbruck. The ion traps were prepared for mounting in the cryostat in the university's cleanroom facilities. First, the trap chips were glued on a carrier PCB with a silver epoxy⁴ or varnish⁵. The carrier PCB carrying the ion trap is made of Rogers 4350B material with copper metallization and galvanic gold coating. For electrical connectivity, the ion trap is wirebonded to the carrier PCB with gold wires of 25 µm thickness using a semi-automated bonding tool. The carrier PCB is then mounted on the copper holder with fork-shaped Titanium clamps. A further connection to the RF resonator PCB and DC filterboard is realized by additional wire bonds. This mounting procedure does not require the loosening of solder joints on the cryogenic electronics, when the ion trap is changed in the setup. Nevertheless, the whole assembly is inefficient regarding time and reliability, when many ion traps are to be tested. Therefore, an industrial assembly process was developed, performed at Infineon Technologies, as described in section 4.2.5.

⁴EPO-TEK® H20E-PFC

⁵Lake Shore Cryotronics, VGE-7031

4.4.3 Optical setup

To operate the ion trap experiment, in total six different lasers for photo-ionization, laser cooling and state manipulation of the trapped ions are required. This section describes the lasers provided for the experiment as well as the beam overlap achieved by the optical setup. More details are given in the master thesis of Regina Lechner [130] on the photoionization lasers, in the PhD thesis of Muir Kumph [131] on the cooling and repumping lasers, and in the master thesis of Roman Stricker [132] on the qubit laser.

Ionization

The calcium oven attached to the vacuum chamber generates single Ca atoms, which are ionized at the position of the trapping site. The ionization of the Ca atom is a two-step process: first, the atom is excited from the ground state $4^{1}S_{0}$ to the first excited state $4^{1}P_{1}$ with resonant laser light of 422 nm wavelength, which is provided by a 844 nm laser diode connected to a in-house cavity for frequency-doubling [130]. Second, the light from a 377 nm free-running laser diode is then used for the transition to the continuum.

Doppler cooling and detection

Doppler cooling and detection are performed using a laser with 397 nm wavelength, driving the transition from the ground state to the $4P_{1/2}$ state. Because there is a probability of around 6% [51] for the excited state to decay into the $3D_{3/2}$ state, a 866 nm laser is used to repump the population back to the $4P_{1/2}$ state. To provide the 397 nm light, a diode laser of 794 nm wavelength is frequency-doubled and stabilized with a Fabry-Perot cavity locked via a Pound-Drever-Hall (PDH) lock [133]. By tuning the length of the cavity with a piezo-element, the frequency of the laser light is adapted. A similar locking scheme is also used for the 866 nm diode laser generating the light for repumping.

The optical transition from the $4P_{1/2}$ state to the ground state $4S_{1/2}$ is used for state detecting of the ion via fluorescence due to the short decay time of 10 ns [48] of the excited $4P_{1/2}$ state. Below the cryostat, a custom-made objective is placed to collect the emitted fluorescence photons from the ion. With a CCD camera, initial detection of a trapped ion as well as a first alignment of lasers and micromotion compensation are accomplished. Readout of the qubit state is realized by a photomultiplier tube (PMT).

Quadrupole transition

A laser at 729 nm drives the qubit transition $4P_{1/2} \rightarrow 3D_{5/2}$. The laser light is provided from a different laboratory in the same building. A Titanium-Sapphire laser stabilized on a high-finesse cavity generates light with a bandwidth of only a few Hz. The light is then guided through a 200 m polarization-maintaining single-mode fiber to the Cryo-lab. Due to fiber noise, the linewidth increases to around 1 kHz after the fiber. For state initialization an additional laser of 854 nm wavelength is needed to shift the population via the $3D_{5/2} \rightarrow 4P_{3/2}$ transition down to the ground state. This laser is generated by a laser diode, which is stabilized with the PDH method similar to the lasers for Doppler cooling.

Beam overlap

For an easy alignment of the lasers on the ion, the 397 nm cooling laser, the 866 nm and 854 nm repumping lasers as well as the 422 nm and 377 nm photoionization lasers are overlapped outside the cryostat to enable a common position control with a single lens. The beam is aligned on the ion by moving the focusing lens mounted on a translation stage. The 729 nm qubit laser is entering the cryostat at 90° angle to the other lasers through another viewport. All lasers are in 45° angle to the quantization axis defined by the magnetic field. The laser setup is shown in figure 4.22.

Laser light sheet

The 2D twin trap is designed to trap multiple ions simultaneously. Because with the above described laser paths only one ion is addressed at the same time, a second laser path for the 397 nm and the 866 nm light is created, where the beam is spatially expanded to a laser light sheet. With two 30 mm cage systems the beams are independently shaped to an elliptical profile. Subsequently, they are combined to have one overlapping beam, which is focused and positioned on the ion trap by a spherical lens mounted on a translation stage. This beam path enters the cryostat at the side opposite to the original input of the cooling and photoionization lasers. The beam waist in direction perpendicular to the trap surface was measured to be $w_{0,y} = 10 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $w_{0,y} = 25 \,\mu\text{m}$ for the 397 nm and the 866 nm laser beams, respectively. In direction parallel to the trap, where the ions have a distance of a few 100 micrometer to their next neighbors, the beam waist can be tuned from $w_{0,x} = 150 - 1000 \,\mu\text{m}$ for both lasers. A detailed description of the laser light sheet is given in [79].

4.4.4 Experiment control

The temperature of the cryostat, temperature sensors and an internal heater are controlled via a python program. There are two temperature $sensors^6$ placed at the

⁶LakeShore DT-670C-SD diode



Figure 4.22: Schematic top view of the optical setup. Laser beams enter the cryostat on three sides through viewports and reach the ion in 45° angle with respect to the trap axis. The photoionization lasers with 422 nm and 377 nm wavelength are overlapped with the 397 nm cooling laser and both repumping lasers (866 nm and 854 nm) by combiners and are jointly controlled by a focusing lens mounted on a xyz translation stage. The qubit laser beam (729 nm) enters the cryostat in 90° angle to the other lasers. A laser light sheet (viewport opposite the overlapped beam) for the 397 nm and 866 nm lasers allows for addressing multiple ions simultaneously.

50 K and 10 K shield, respectively. The temperature is measured and stored in influxDB, where the set points for the internal heater are set. Additionally, the vacuum pressure gauge is logged in this way. A Grafana [134] interface serves as a graphical visualization dashboard allowing for simple readout of temperatures and pressure.

Optics and electronics are controlled via a LabView program called QFP 2.0, specially designed for the ion trap experiments at the University of Innsbruck. This program controls acousto-optical modulators (AOMs) of the 397 nm, the 866 nm and the 854 nm
laser beams and tracks fluorescence counts on the PMT for state readout. The same LabView program also controls the pulse sequencer box (pulse box) used to generate RF signal pulses and digital outputs [135]. In this way, the 397 nm, the 866 nm and the 854 nm laser beams are switched on and off. With the RF pulses, the AOM of the 729 nm is controlled to generate pulse sequences of various amplitude, frequency, duration and phase. The RF voltage applied to the trap's RF electrodes is generated by a function generator⁷. A low-noise voltage source⁸ creates the DC voltages for the DC trap electrodes. These voltages are reduced with a factor of 10 by a voltage devider, to adjust the voltage more precisely before applied to the trap electrodes.

4.5 Ion trap performance

Ion traps of the design with 120 µm ion-surface distance were characterized in the so called cryolab experiment at the University of Innsbruck, using the cryogenic setup described in section 4.4. Several iterations of ion traps, substrate materials and adapted layout were investigated and are presented in the following.

4.5.1 Substrate influence on the RF resonator

To generate the required RF voltage of 180 V for loading ions, a step-up resonator as described in section 4.4.2 was used. For an optimized matching of the resonator circuit at cryogenic temperatures, the quality factor Q of the resonator was measured dependent on the temperature to determine the RF voltage gain. The quality factor changes with temperature, because charge carriers in the substrate freeze out if the trap reaches temperatures lower Than the transition temperature of around 30 K. This leads to a reduction of the trap capacitance, changing the resonance frequency and thus the quality factor of the resonator. The measured data is shown in figure 4.23a. Only for temperatures below 25 K the Q factor reaches values > 100. For the used setup, a voltage gain > 30 is required to provide the RF voltage of 180 V for stable trap operation.

To determine the temperature of the ion trap and thus the Q factor of the resonator during trap operation, the measured resonance frequency is compared to data taken for a full cool-down without applied RF voltage. The quality factor and temperature measured at this resonance frequency suggests the trap temperature during operation. Following this method, a trap temperature of 50 K was estimated when applying an RF voltage of 180 V. We suspect heating of the trap chip due to Ohmic losses in the

⁷Marconi instruments 2024

⁸ISEG, EHS F205x-F-K1



Figure 4.23: Q factor of the resonator dependent on the temperature of the ion trap. a) Ion trap on a standard silicon substrate with 3Ω cm resistivity. Q-factors > 100 are only found at temperatures T < 25 K, which defines the temperature limit for stable trap operation via the obtainable step-up voltage. b) Ion trap on a silicon substrate with $\rho > 8$ k Ω cm resistivity. A significant drop of the Q factor between 25 - 50 K is visible. Error bars are smaller than the displayed measuring points.

substrate in the area of the bond pads, which is not shielded by the metal 1 ground plane. To achieve the required RF amplitude on trap despite the low Q factor of Q = 80at this temperature, even higher RF voltages need to be applied, resulting in a further heating of the trap.

One approach to solve this issue is using a high-Ohmic substrate to reduce heating of the trap during operation, as with a higher resistivity the loss tangent of the material decreases, see section 4.2.1. Therefore, an ion trap with a high-Ohmic substrate with $\rho > 8 \,\mathrm{k}\Omega \,\mathrm{cm}$ resistivity was fabricated and characterized in the experiment. The measured Q factor dependent on trap temperature for this substrate is shown in figure 4.23b. As expected, the quality factor at room temperature for the high-Ohmic substrate with $Q \approx 130$ is higher than for the standard substrate with a higher loss tangent, which only reaches a factor of $Q \approx 100$. The Q factor for the high-Ohmic substrate increases with decreasing trap temperature due to the matching of the RF resonator, but a drop between $25 - 50 \,\mathrm{K}$ was observed, reaching a minimum value of 15. This behavior can be explained by light-induced charges in the unshielded substrate area, generated by the room light in the laboratory that was not turned off during the measurement. These photo-generated charges increase the capacitance between RF and substrate due to a parasitic MOS capacitor created between the RF electrodes and the substrate, as discussed in section 4.3.3. An increased trap capacitance together with a change of the dielectric loss tangent leads to a shifted resonance frequency and thus a reduction of the resonator's Q factor in the unmatched circuit. Since silicon has a low band gap of 1.17 eV at temperatures of T = 10 K [136], all lasers used in the experiment have a sufficiently high energy to generate charge carriers in the substrate during trap operation [124]. For this reason, operation of the trap in a dark environment without room light will also lead to light-induced charge carriers and the observed behavior cannot be avoided.



Figure 4.24: Q factor of the resonator dependent on the temperature for the twin trap 2.0 in which the substrate is shielded along the entire chip area. The Q-factor is a monotonous function of the substrate temperature as expected for an ion trap representing an ideal capacitor. Q-factors ~ 390 are obtained at temperatures T < 25 K, enabling a high voltage gain as required for stable ion trap operation. Error bars are smaller than the displayed measuring points.

Since the RF resonator performance is limited for both the standard and the high-Ohmic silicon substrate, the layout of the ion trap was changed to extend the substrate shielding in the metal 1 layer also to the bond pad area, as shown in figure 4.25. This redesign is referred to as twin trap 2.0. The Q factor of the 2D twin trap with standard silicon substrate and full-area shielding layer is not affected by Ohmic losses, as visible in figure 4.24. Therefore, a sufficient voltage gain ≈ 33 of the step-up resonator is achieved to provide the 180 V RF voltage needed for trap operation without significant heating of the ion trap.



Figure 4.25: Schematic of the trap layout with RF electrodes (red), DC electrodes (shades of yellow) and a GND shield in the metal 1 layer (gray). a) In the original design, the GND shield in the metal 1 layer does not extend to the bond pads, thus there are unshielded RF lines in the bond pad area. b) In the twin trap 2.0 the GND shield extends to the chip edge, shielding the RF lines also in the area of the bond pads.

4.5.2 Ions trapped in two arrays

For the first loading attempts in the 2D twin trap, only one RF resonator was used to reduce the complexity of the setup. Thus, on all three RF rails the same RF voltage of 180 V at a drive frequency of 25 MHz was applied. The ion trap hosts in total 78 electrodes. Because there are only 20 connection lines routed out of the cryostat to the DC supply, multiple electrodes are combined on the carrier PCB: electrodes in the central interaction zone are merged with the corresponding periodically connected DC island electrodes. This results in two independent parallel 1D arrays separated by the central RF rail, similar to the configuration depicted in figure 4.4a. Thus, only four different DC voltages for each 1D array are needed for operating the ion trap. The voltage amplitudes are in the range of ± 10 V.

After successfully trapping single ions in different trapping sites, the laser sheet as described in section 4.4.3 was introduced to trap ions in multiple trapping sites simultaneously. The laser sheet has a beam waist of up to $w_{0,x} = 1000 \,\mu\text{m}$ in parallel to the trap surface. Thus, up to six neighboring trapping sites in both arrays can be



Figure 4.26: Ions (white dots) trapped in a a) rectangular and b) triangular configuration in the 2D twin trap. The ion trap layout with segmented electrodes is visible in gray. Figure adopted from [29].

reached by the cooling and repumping laser. To load ions in different trapping sites, two techniques were employed: either the photo-ionization laser beam was focussed on the desired lattice site, or the ion was trapped in the central trapping zone and shuttled to the desired position by tuning the voltages applied to the segmented DC electrodes. The latter technique was introduced, because in some trapping sites no ions could be successfully loaded. In figure 4.26, two microscopic images showing a rectangular and a triangular trapping configuration with six and five ions, respectively, are depicted. The triangular configuration was achieved by shifting the ions in both 1D arrays by each a quarter lattice period in opposite direction. Ion shuttling in an ion trap array is an important method for quantum information processing, as it allows for entanglement between non-nearest neighbors in the array, as described in section 4.1.

4.5.3 RF induced magnetic fields

During trap characterization, a drift of the carrier transitions from the $4S_{1/2}$ to the $3D_{5/2}$ manifold ($\Delta n = 0$) was observed. To further investigate this behavior, the carrier transitions were recorded while changing the RF power applied to the trap's RF electrodes and for a constant external magnetic field. In figure 4.27 the data showing the frequency shift dependent on the RF power for different transitions is depicted.

Although this behavior is not fully understood at this point, we suspect a parasitic magnetic field induced by the trap's RF electrodes, resulting in an AC Zeeman shift.



Figure 4.27: Transition frequencies dependent on the RF power. Every data point represents the frequency difference between two transitions, as depicted on the right side. A shift in the transition frequencies with changing RF power of all transitions is clearly visible.

The capacitance of the RF electrode to the GND electrode in the metal 1 layer (see 4.3.3) combined with the applied RF voltage of 180 V creates a time-varying charging of the RF electrodes with the RF frequency. This results in an oscillating current on the RF electrodes and hence an oscillating magnetic field. All three RF rails are connected to the same RF resonator by wire bonding to the same lead at the carrier PCB. Here, the outer RF electrodes are wire bonded from one bond pad, while they are connected on the opposite side of the trap chip, as depicted in figure 4.28. Due to the relatively high RF capacitance, this leads to a non-negligible oscillating current flowing in two opposing directions in the area of the trapping sites. If this magnetic field is not negligible with respect to the external magnetic field, it changes the bias B-field and can affect the quantization axis and thus the frequencies of the carrier transitions in the trap.

To solve this issue, the connection between the outer RF electrodes was cut in the twin trap 2.0 redesign. Moreover, bond pads for both electrodes were integrated to simplify wirebonding to the same lead on the carrier PCB, as shown in figure 4.29. A measurement of the transition frequencies in the twin trap 2.0 is shown in figure 4.30. We want to emphasize, that no AC Zeeman shift and therefore no change in transition frequencies was observed.



Figure 4.28: Schematic of the electric connection of the RF electrodes. The two outer RF electrodes RF_{out} (red) are wire bonded (yellow) from only one bond pad, while they are connected on the opposite side of the trap chip. This causes an opposing direction of the current flow in these electrodes in the area below trapped ions.

4.5.4 Heating rate measurements

To evaluate the ion trap performance related to possible quantum operations, heating rate measurements of the 2D twin trap were performed for different trapping sites. Values between around (100-500) q/s were measured for different trapping sites around the trap center and axial frequencies of $w_z = 2\pi \times (1.2 - 1.5)$ MHz. Possible reasons for the relatively high heating rate are surface noise due to native oxide on the AlSiCu electrodes [137] and the gap oxide (see section 3.2.1), or technical noise. Another hypothesis is adsorbates on the trap surface [138] such as a contamination with Calcium atoms sticking to the AlSiCu electrodes.

To reduce the influence of suspected surface noise due to possible contaminations and native oxide on the trap surface, the fabrication routine was adapted as described in section 4.2.3. After structuring the metal 3 layer, another isotropic etch process was introduced to remove the oxide in the gaps between the electrodes. Moreover, the whole wafer surface was coated with gold. Since gold does not form a native oxide, the effects of stray charges on the metal surface can be reduced. The best heating rate of a 2D twin trap with these improvements and with an axial frequency of $w_z = 2\pi \times 1.2$ MHz shows a value of 33(10) q/s, determined by driving Rabi oscillations on the blue sideband (see section 3.2.2). A plot of the mean phonon number dependent on the wait time is shown in figure 4.31. Due to the large uncertainty, this result is only meaningful to a limited extent. Nevertheless, it suggests an improvement of around one order of magnitude compared to the heating rates measured in the original trap. This ion trap was not investigated further as the fabrication of the new ion trap with improved layout was completed and it was incorporated into the experiment.



Figure 4.29: Schematic of the trap layout with RF electrodes (red), DC electrodes (shades of yellow) and GND (gray). a) In the original design, the two outer RF rails are connected on one side of the trap chip. Dummy bond pads without connection to electrodes are located next to the central RF bond pad. b) In the twin trap 2.0 the connection line between the two outer RF rails is cut and bond pads are integrated to simplify wirebonding to the same lead on the carrier PCB. The dummy pads are removed to enlarge the central RF bond pad.

4.5.5 Discussion and outlook

We realized the concept of a two-dimensional ion trap array, capable of trapping ions in two linear strings of individual trapping sites. The successfully microfabricated ion traps were electrically characterized before the performance in the ion trap experiment was tested. Simultaneous trapping of up to six ions in a two-dimensional multi-well was achieved. Three main observations were found and presented in this thesis:

• Influence of the silicon substrate on the RF resonator If the traps's silicon substrate is not shielded, high RF losses lead to heating and a decreased voltage gain of the RF resonator. This issue occurred for both a standard silicon substrate and a high-Ohmic silicon substrate. The twin trap 2.0 redesign with full-area shielding solved this issue. Nevertheless, a change to substrate materials with low loss tangent and large band gap such as fused silica ($E_g = 7 - 9 \,\mathrm{eV}$,



Figure 4.30: Transition frequencies dependent on the RF power after changing the wiring of the RF electrodes. No dependence of the transition frequencies on the RF power and thus AC Zeeman effect is visible.

 $\tan(\delta) \sim 10^{-4})$ [139] or sapphire $(E_g = 8.5 \text{ eV}, \tan(\delta) \sim 10^{-4})$ [140] is desirable to further minimize negative influences of the substrate to the ion trap performance. Moreover, with a wide-bandgap substrate material there is no need for a shield layer, thus the trap capacitance is significantly reduced.

- AC Zeeman shift caused by RF wiring An AC Zeeman shift of the carrier transitions was observed in the 2D twin trap, caused by an oscillating magnetic field. The relatively high RF capacitance of the ion trap leads to an oscillating current on the RF electrodes, resulting in a time-varying magnetic field. A connection of the outer RF electrodes on one side of the trap chip led to an opposing direction of the current flow at the position of the ion. With the twin trap 2.0 redesign, the issue of shifted transition frequencies was solved. Moreover, a reduction of the trap capacitance helps to avoid undesired magnetic fields induced by the RF electrodes. Using a substrate material as fused silica obviates the need for a shield layer, therefore enabling a significant reduction of the RF capacitance.
- Heating rates In the first characterized 2D twin trap heating rates in the range of (100-500) q/s for different trapping sites were measured. Explanations for this relatively high heating rate are either a surface contamination, exposed gap oxide or native oxide on the AlSiCu electrodes. Adding a gold coating of the



Figure 4.31: Heating rate measurement of the 2D twin trap with gold surface and underetched electrodes, determined by driven Rabi oscillations on the blue sideband. The mean phonon number is measured dependent on the waiting time. A linear fit to the data (gray solid line) reveals a heating rate of of 33(10) q/s.

trap electrodes and decreasing the amount of exposed gap oxide revealed a lower heating rate of 33(10) q/s. Therefore, non-oxidizing electrode materials, shielding of dielectrics and an in-situ cleaning of the ion trap inside the cryostat should be considered to improve the ion trap performance in future iterations.

To create a two-dimensional array of entangled ions in the 2D twin trap, the inter-ion distance needs to be reduced to increase the coupling rate. Shuttling of ions along the linear array (parallel to the trap axis) was successfully performed as described in [29]. To couple ions along the radial multi-well created by the RF electrodes, the central and outer RF electrodes need to be driven independently. By reducing the amplitude of the central RF rail, the distance between the ions decreases. Since the RF voltage is amplified inside the cryostat, a second RF resonator was fabricated and integrated into the setup, as shown in figure 4.32.

This resonator is similar to the first one, but has an additional adjustable capacitor, to allow for tuning the resonance frequency. For the experiment, it is crucial that both resonators are matched in resonance frequency and phase. If one of the two mentioned properties are shifted in one resonator, no RF null is present in the trap. This leads to micromotion that cannot be compensated [79]. A detailed description of the characterization of the second resonator and the new trap setup is subject of Marco Valentini's PhD thesis. By coupling ions in both lattice directions, entangled qubits



Figure 4.32: Trap setup with two RF resonators (red). An adjustable capacitance allows for tuning the resonance frequency of the second resonator to match the one of the first resonator. This is needed to achieve a sufficient enhancement of the RF amplitude for both RF electrodes.

for quantum information processing are created. If efficient coupling in this proof-ofprinciple experiment is shown, an important step towards a large-scale trapped-ion quantum computer is made.

Chapter 5

3D MEMS ion trap

The contents of this chapter are also included in the Patent submitted to the EPA with official application file reference 21185020.1 on 12th July 2021.

An article has been published with the title "Industrially microfabricated ion trap with 1eV trap depth", S. Auchter et al., Quantum Science and Technology (2022) [141].

The trap concept was developed by researchers at ETH and the University of Innsbruck, including the author. Simulations were conducted by the author and Marco Valentini. Fabrication and quality analysis of the ion trap were carried out by the author. The trap characterization was performed by Chiara Decaroli and Chris Axline at ETH.

Microfabricated planar ion traps represent an important step towards a scalable quantum processor, enabling complex trap layouts on small chips with individual control of single ions. However, due to the weak confinement potential of around 100 meV [68, 102, 142], such traps show limitations with regard to operation temperature, speed and reliability of ion shuttling within the trap [19, 85] as well as ion storage times [33], as described in detail in chapter 3.

In the PIEDMONS project (Portable Ion-Entangling Devices for Mobile-Oriented Next-generation Semiconductor-Technologies) [143], researchers from the University of Innsbruck, ETH Zurich and Infineon Technologies are developing scalable, microstructured ion traps with an enhanced confinement potential. Within the project, an ion trap with a trap depth of 1 eV [141] is realized based on micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) fabrication technologies. An industrial microfabrication of the ion trap allows for a reliable production of identical devices due to automated and strictly controlled processing. Furthermore, it supports integration of optics [38, 39] and electronics [36, 37].

This chapter presents a hybrid ion trap, consisting of a surface trap above which additional DC electrodes are wafer-bonded to enhance the depth of the confinement potential. This trap combines the advantages of planar ion traps enabling complex, scalable layouts possible through microfabrication, and three-dimensional linear ion traps featuring a deep confinement potential. The hybrid ion trap is called 'Azkaban', named after the prison from which not even witches and wizards can escape [144]. In the following, the design of the hybrid trap is described in detail, and an overview on the fabrication process, quality analysis and a characterization of the ion trapping performance is given.

5.1 Trap design

In this section the design of the hybrid ion trap is presented. This includes simulations to find the optimal trap geometry and corresponding trapping parameters. Moreover, the routing and layer stack forming the ion trap as well as the design rules for the layout that must be adhered to for a successful trap fabrication are described.

5.1.1 Trap concept

To realize the vision of a microstructured ion trap with deep confinement potential, many different concepts have been developed and discussed regarding fabrication possibilities and requirements of the ion trap experiment.

The concept that was chosen consists of a surface trap as a bottom layer extended by additional electrodes on a top layer to enhance the trap's confinement potential, as shown in figure 5.1. The bottom and top layer are separated by a spacer to create the topology of a 3D trap architecture. This ion trap fulfils the criterion of scalability in terms of i) number of trapped ions by using a scalable, planar ion trap layout with microstructured, segmented electrodes, and ii) design complexity by including additional functionality such as junctions or dedicated trap zones.

The bottom layer is formed by a silicon substrate with metallic electrodes that are routed using multiple metal layers. Therefore, a simple version of the 2D ion trap layout, as presented in section 4, with just one trapping zone is used. The spacer is defined by a 400 μ m thick glass wafer, which sets the ion-surface distance to the top and bottom electrodes to around 200 μ m. In the presented prototype, the spacer does not carry additional functionality like for example optical or electrical connections. For the top layer, doped silicon is chosen as the conductive material forming the electrodes. This wafer is then anodically wafer-bonded to the glass spacer.



Figure 5.1: Rendering of the hybrid ion trap consisting of three layers in a) assembled view and b) explosion view. Metallic electrodes (bright gray) on a silicon substrate (dark gray) form the bottom electrodes. A glass spacer (blue) defines the distance between bottom and top electrodes. Openings in all lateral directions allow for laser access (red lines). Two electrodes on the top layer made of highly doped silicon coated with gold (gold) are placed in parallel to the trap axis. A slit in the top layer allows for fluorescence detection.

An important challenge of the 3D architecture is to provide high optical access to allow for laser cooling and manipulation parallel to the trap surface as well as state discrimination by fluorescence detection from top. Therefore, holes are necessary in the spacer so that laser light approaches the trapped ion in a 45° angle relative to the trap axis to enable laser cooling of all motional modes, see section 2.4. Moreover, the top layer is recessed in the area above the trap center, where the ion is trapped and fluorescence photons are collected.

The dielectric glass spacer and silicon surfaces should be placed as far as possible from the ion to reduce the effects of stray charges, if shielding is not possible. Stray charges and surface electric field noise might push the ion out of the RF null and thus increase micromotion [145]. To address this possible issue the glass spacer has a distance >1.5 mm to the simulated trapping position, reducing the effects of stray electric fields, which depend strongly on the ion-surface distance d with $S_E \propto \frac{1}{d^3}$. For the same reason, the silicon substrate of the top wafer is recessed around the slit to reduce the amount of exposed silicon. The doped silicon forming the electrodes on the top wafer is coated with a thin gold layer, since there is a lack of experience on the compatibility of doped silicon as electrode material in ion traps [99].

Using a glass wafer as spacer has the advantage of enabling an anodic bonding process

to connect the three wafers. Anodic bonding is well established at the Infineon fabrication facility, being considered reliable and robust with respect to surface roughness.

5.1.2 Geometry and simulations

To optimize the geometry of the ion trap in terms of trap depth and stability of the trapped ion, finite-element method (FEM) simulations using COMSOL Multiphysics were carried out. The simulated electric fields are exported and analyzed with the COMSOL to MATLAB Livelink. In the following section the geometry of bottom and top electrodes, as well as the simulated confinement potential and trap parameters are described. A detailed simulation analysis including the description of the used algorithms will be provided in Marco Valentini's PhD thesis [111].

The following requirements to the ion trap geometry were identified:

- Confinement potential: A deep confinement potential of ~1 eV should be achieved to allow for longer ion-lifetimes compared to standard surface traps.
- NA: A state-of-the-art numerical aperture (NA) for fluorescence detection of at least 0.7 is targeted to enable reliable readout of the ions' state when performing quantum operations.
- Secular frequencies: Radial motional frequencies of at least 1.5 MHz and an axial motional frequency of 1 MHz are typically used to realize stable trapping of ions.
- Micromotion compensation: Suitable DC shim sets for compensation of micromotion are necessary to achieve low heating rates forming a reliable basis for quantum information processing.
- Laser cooling: A sufficient tilt of the radial oscillation axes with angles $\geq 10^{\circ}$ is required to enable laser cooling with one laser beam parallel to the trap surface.
- **RF frequency**: The applied RF trap frequency should be in the range of (20-50) MHz for stable trapping of ions in the quadrupole potential generated by the RF electrodes.
- **DC voltages**: To reduce heating of the trap chip and avoid damage due to breakdown between electrodes or narrow leads, the DC voltage amplitudes should not exceed 25 V.
- q-factor: To guarantee stable trapping, the stability q-factor of the ion trap should be ≤ 0.4.

• Single ion addressing: In order to allow for reliable single or multi qubit gates, independent addressing of single trapped ions must be ensured.

Geometry of the bottom electrodes

The bottom layer of the hybrid trap forms a surface trap with two RF electrodes surrounded by DC electrodes, confining the ion in the radial direction. A segmentation of the central DC rail enables axial confinement of the ion in the trap. In order to find a suitable geometry that supports the target concept, FEM simulations were carried out, adapting the size and position of several electrodes. In figure 5.2 the geometry of the bottom electrodes is depicted: two 400 µm wide RF rails are located on both sides of three central DC electrodes. Here, a segmentation of the innermost DC electrode in five segments along the trap axis is used to create confinement in axial direction. The central three 'island' electrodes have a length of 200 µm. This segmentation also allows for moving the ion a few 100 micrometers along the trap axis. Because a distance of 300 µm in between the two RF electrodes is needed to achieve the targeted ion-surface distance of 200 µm, DC compensation electrodes are placed next to the central DC rail. These DC electrodes are necessary for micromotion compensation and to provide a tilt of the radial modes. All three DC rails have a width of 100 µm. On the outer sides of the RF electrodes, additional DC compensation electrodes are positioned, which extend to the chip edge in the area that is not bonded to the spacer. These electrodes shield the underlying silicon substrate. Gaps between RF and DC electrodes have a width of $9\,\mu m$, gaps between DC segments are $5\,\mu m$ wide. All electrode dimensions are also listed in table 5.1.

electrode	width along x (mm)	length along z (mm)
A	0.1	0.2
B1/B2	0.1	0.2
C1/C2	0.1	3.2
1	0.1	>7
2	0.077 / 1.8	>7
\mathbf{RF}	0.4	> 7
top	1	6.6

Table 5.1: Width and length of bottom and top electrodes of the hybrid trap.



Figure 5.2: Geometry of the hybrid trap bottom layer. Two parallel RF rails (red) are surrounded by DC electrodes (yellow and orange, marked as 1 and 2) used for micromotion compensation. In the trap center, segmented DC "island" electrodes (shades of blue, marked as C2, B2, A, B1, C1) create the confinement in axial direction.

Geometry of the top electrodes

To enhance the confinement potential, two additional top electrodes are integrated 400 µm above the surface trap. In the ion trap prototype, two DC electrodes are implemented, parallel to the trap axis. In future designs, this number can be scaled and extended to RF voltages, dependent on the desired trap geometry. Optical access is ensured by a slit between the top electrodes. The width of this slit affects both trap depth and the ion-surface distance, since the position of the electrodes influences the direction of electric field lines in the trap. Therefore, the slit width as well as the top electrodes that still facilitates a state-of-the-art NA of ≥ 0.7 [146, 147] to collect photons for state detection. In figure 5.3, the simulated RF trap depth and NA dependent on the slit width between the top electrodes for an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 200$ V is depicted. We chose the 1 mm wide top electrodes to be separated by a slit of 550 µm width. This

results in an NA of 0.75 and a confinement potential of 295 meV without additional DC bias at an ion-surface distance of $\sim 200 \,\mu\text{m}$. When estimating the optical access from top, also the substrate silicon of the top wafer needs to be taken into account. Here, the silicon is recessed on both sides of the slit by 200 µm with an additional circular recess at the position above the central trapping site, as visible in figure 5.4. Two trap versions with different amount of recess are designed. A recess of 400 µm provides an NA of 0.72, a recess of 700 µm provides an NA of 0.83 (neglecting the slit between the top electrodes, which results in an NA of 0.75). The two trap versions are referred to as SI-400 and SI-700, respectively.



Figure 5.3: Trap depth (black circles) and NA for fluorescence detection (red squares) dependent on the width of the slit between the two top electrodes.

Finally, the mechanical stability of the free-standing top electrodes was simulated with FEM simulations in COMSOL. Undesired mechanical resonances of the electrodes at the trap drive frequency may lead to vibrations, modulating the electric field and noise. The first 50 modes of mechanical vibration are found at frequencies in the range of (0.2 - 2.0) MHz. At typical RF drive frequencies around (15-50) MHz, no eigenvalues are found. Thus, there are no natural frequencies in this frequency range.

Trap depth

Another target of the simulation study is to investigate the improvement of trap depth in the hybrid trap compared to a planar surface trap. Figure 5.5 depicts the pseudopotential for an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 200$ V of the simulated hybrid trap and a surface trap without top DC electrodes as a reference. The pseudopotential is a useful tool in ion



Figure 5.4: Sketch of the top layer dimensions, with units given in millimeter. Conductive silicon visible from top is colored yellow, substrate silicon is colored gray. The top electrodes have a width of 1 mm.

trap simulations, as it describes the confinement of the ion in the trap in all spatial directions. For the comparison the geometry of the surface trap was scaled down to achieve the same ion-electrode distance of 200 μ m as the hybrid trap, which is achieved with an electrode width of each 100 μ m for a DC electrode in the center of two RF electrodes. With the top electrodes set to ground, already a clear improvement in trap depth is visible. The confinement potential can be further enhanced by adding DC voltages on the various DC electrodes. With the voltage set given in table 5.2, a trap depth exceeding 1 eV is achieved, as shown in figure 5.6.

Voltage set for trap operation

In the first iteration of ion traps the two top DC electrodes were electrically shorted (see section 5.3.4). Due to the constrained flexibility of applied voltages, the achievable trap depth was limited if a sufficient tilt of the radial mode axes for laser cooling was provided at the same time. A DC voltage set optimized for a deep confinement potential is given in table 5.2. With an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 183$ V at a trap frequency of 20.6 MHz, a trap depth of $V_{\rm dc,3D} = 1$ eV can be obtained. This situation corresponds to an axial frequency of $w_z = 2\pi \times 0.88$ MHz and radial frequencies of $w_x = 2\pi \times 3.80$ MHz and $w_y = 2\pi \times 3.76$ MHz. However, this voltage set only creates a tilt of the radial modes of 3.6°, reducing the effect of laser cooling parallel to the surface. Therefore, the voltage set applied to the DC electrodes during operation was adapted for better laser cooling conditions during trap operation, resulting in a lower trap depth [141].



Figure 5.5: Pseudopotential generated in the a) hybrid trap or b) in a surface trap with the same ion-surface distance of 200 µm and an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 200$ V. To achieve the same ion-surface distance in the surface trap, the size of the electrodes was reduced while keeping the same ratio. The ion position is marked with a white dot, the saddle point with a black cross.



Figure 5.6: Potential energy of the hybrid trap for an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 200$ V and the DC voltage set shown in table 5.2. The confinement potential exceeds 1 eV (solid line) as visible via the contour levels. Figure adapted from [141].

5.1.3 Routing and layer stack

The hybrid trap contains in total eleven layers on three wafers. The bottom layer of the hybrid trap has the same layer stack as the 2D trap presented in section 4.1.2. Three

electrode	DC voltage (V)	
А	7.66	
B1 / B2	8.95	
C1 / C2	17.18	
1 (left side)	11.32	
1 (right side)	12.77	
2 (left side)	0.04	
2 (right side)	-24.03	
Тор	10.46	

Table 5.2: DC voltages used to operate the hybrid trap with shorted top electrodes for an RF voltage of $V_{\rm RF} = 183$ V at a trap frequency of 20.6 MHz.

metal layers separated by inter-metal oxide are deposited on a silicon substrate. The uppermost metal layer (metal 3) forms the DC and RF electrodes. The intermediate metal layer (metal 2) is used for routing the DC island electrodes to the bond pads. The lowest metal layer (metal 1) serves as a continuous ground plane for shielding of the substrate. The glass wafer separating bottom and top electrodes has a thickness of 400 µm. The top wafer is based on silicon on insulator (SOI) material, thus the top electrodes are made of conducting silicon. This 45 µm thick silicon layer is highly doped with phosphorus to provide a low resistivity of $1 - 2 m\Omega$ cm. The conductive silicon is separated from the 400 µm thick substrate silicon by 500 nm oxide, also referred to as buried oxide. A summary of the layer stack is given in table 5.3.

The electrical connectivity of the top electrodes to the carrier printed circuit board (PCB) is realized by etching the substrate silicon of the top wafer down to the conducting layer. The resulting $0.7 \times 1 \text{ mm}$ large bond pads are coated with a stack of titanium (50 nm), platinum (100 nm) and gold (200 nm) to allow for wirebonding to this area. Wirebonds are either connected to additional bond pads on the bottom wafer or directly to the carrier PCB. For mechanical stability, the bond pads of the top wafer are residing on top of the glass spacer to avoid mechanical stress on the 45 µm thick conducting silicon layer during wirebonding. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of the hybrid ion trap showing bond pads on top and bottom wafer as well as bottom island electrodes are depicted in figure 5.7.

To determine the compatibility of the highly-doped silicon forming the top electrodes with a cryogenic environment the conductivity was measured dependent on the temperature. The conductive behavior of silicon with respect to temperature depends mainly on the degree of doping. With a lower dose of doping the ionization energy of the dopants cannot be reached at low temperatures, resulting in a "freeze-out" of the charge carriers. On the contrary, if silicon is doped in a high concentration, degeneracy is attained, leading to a good conductivity even at cryogenic temperatures [148]. Samples from a different technology sharing the same wafer material of 45 μ m thick phosphorus-doped silicon were investigated. In the cryostat located at KAI (Kompetenzzentrum für Automobil- und Industrieelektronik) the resistance of the test sample was measured from room-temperature down to 16 K. The resistance dropped to around 70 % at cryogenic temperatures compared to the room-temperature value. This decrease demonstrates that the doping concentration is high enough to employ the hybrid trap's top layer as electrodes in a cryogenic environment.



Figure 5.7: SEM images of the hybrid trap. a) The two top electrodes are contacted by using gold coated bond pads on the back side of the conducting silicon, where the substrate is etched. Electrical connectivity of the top electrodes is realized through wirebonding to the bond pads on the bottom layer. b) DC island electrodes in the bottom wafer, which are visible through the slit between the top electrodes, are routed in the underlying metal layer.

5.1.4 Design rules

For a successful fabrication of the hybrid trap, several design rules regarding structure dimensions have to be established and adhered to. These have to be considered already in the concept phase, to create a design compatible with the available fabrication methods. The following design rules are defined for the three wafers and the anodic wafer bond:

• bottom wafer: Because the bottom wafer of the hybrid trap shares the same layer

wafer	layer	material	thickness (μm)
top wafer	substrate	Si	400
	buried oxide	SiO_2	0.5
	top silicon	Si (highly doped)	45
spacer wafer	spacer	SiO_2	400
bottom wafer	metal 3	AlSiCu	2
	imox 2	SiO_x (deposited)	2.2
	metal 2	AlSiCu + TiN	1 + 0.025
	imox 1	SiO_x (deposited)	2.2
	metal 1	AlSiCu + TiN	0.75 + 0.025
	bottom oxide	SiO_2 (thermal)	1.3
	substrate	Si	725

Table 5.3: Layer stack of the ion traps for the three wafers with material and thickness.

stack and process flow as the 2D ion trap, the existing design rules as described in section 4.1.3 are adopted.

- spacer wafer: Structuring of the glass spacer is performed with an isotropic wet etch, thereby causing an under etch of the mask used for patterning. For the 400 µm thick glass wafer, the under etch is given by the etch depth of 280 µm. The optimum etch depth of 280 µm is given by the maximum etch time for smooth and accurate edges of the etched structures. At the same time sidewalls as vertical as possible can be achieved when etching the wafer from both sides to create holes. The uniformity of the wet etch is limited by the diffusion rate and thus reduced if the openings in the mask are too small. To avoid a drop in the etch rate for narrow structures, mask openings larger than 180 µm are recommended. This design rule combined with the expected under etch results in a minimum achievable hole diameter of 740 µm. A maximum deviation of ± 30 µm from the target value for the etched structures is expected. Moreover, the total area of the wafer that is completely etched through should not exceed 30% to maintain stability on wafer level, as experienced in a similar technology at Infineon.
- top wafer: The holes and cavities in the SOI top wafer are created by long deep reactive ion etching (DRIE) processes of the conducting silicon layer and the substrate silicon. In general, a DRIE process is able to achieve aspect ratios

of around 1:50 of etching depth to structure width. However, as soon as the aspect ratio is much larger than 1:1, the etch rate decreases strongly. Moreover, the minimum structure width to be resolved by optical lithography has to be taken into account as well: Because the trenches to be etched in the DRIE process are very deep, a thick resist that survives the long etching is needed. In this case, a 6 µm and 6.8 µm thick negative resist for the conductive silicon and the substrate silicon, respectively, are used as an etch mask. An experiment to test the resolution of structures of different widths in the 6.8 µm thick resist was performed to define design rules for the top wafer. Trenches can only be resolved from a structure width of $12 \,\mu\text{m}$ for the substrate silicon and $10 \,\mu\text{m}$ for the conducting silicon. Spacings between trenches, also called islands, can be resolved down to a minimal structure size of $5 \,\mu\text{m}$. Moreover, if the wafer is etched in a large area, attention to the wafer-level stability needs to be taken, especially when the wafer is subjected to stress during processing. After fabricating the first top wafer of the ion trap, the openings of the wafer were reduced from 27% to 14% to gain mechanical stability, defining an additional design rule.

anodic wafer bond: In the interface area, where the anodic bond is formed between two wafers, no residual oxide or metal structures are allowed, because the glass wafer can only bond to the silicon surface. This is especially important for the area in between the trap chips, where the alignment structures are placed which are used for the alignment process, overlay and control measurements during fabrication. At the position of these marks, cavities are needed in the glass wafer to bypass a disruptive topology in the interface that prevents bonding in this area. Air gaps in the bond interface are visible as Newton interference rings and reduce the bond quality. In figure 5.8 a picture of a void with interference rings is shown. This void is caused by a missing cavity in the glass spacer at the position of an alignment mark in the bottom wafer. Such air gaps typically have a thickness of a few micrometer and can also be caused by particles in the interface [149]. Residual air gaps in the bond interface of the ion trap could result in outgassing during trap operation in the cryostat. Therefore, the bond interface of the ion traps implemented in the experiment was characterized and no air gaps were detected on the devices. Furthermore, the interface area should have a minimum width of 120 µm to guarantee hermetic sealing.



Figure 5.8: Glass wafer bonded to the bottom wafer, showing Newton interference rings indicating an air gap in the bond interface. This gap is caused by a lack of etching in the glass spacer at the position of an oxide structure in the bottom wafer. For other alignment structures, the glass is etched, visible as dark round areas.

5.2 Trap fabrication

In this section, the fabrication of the hybrid trap is described, which requires five wafers. The bottom, spacer and top wafer create the triple stack of the actual ion trap and are connected by wafer bonding. For the gold coating of the silicon top wafer two additional glass wafers are used as masks for shadow mask evaporation. The wafers are structured individually, followed by the anodic wafer bond. The single chips are separated by mechanical dicing.

5.2.1 Bottom wafer

The bottom wafer of the hybrid trap forms a surface trap, thus the layer stack and process flow of the 2D twin trap is used with an adapted layout. A detailed description of the structuring is provided in section 4.2.

As an additional process step of the bottom wafer fabrication the oxide in the bond interface is removed. For a reliable anodic bond between bottom and spacer wafer, a clean and oxide-free silicon surface is needed. Therefore, the oxide is etched in the interface area, which is located in the four corners of each trap chip (see figure 5.2) and the space between the individual trap chips. There are two possibilities to remove the oxide: by an anisotropic plasma etch, or by an isotropic wet etch.

For plasma etching, a resist mask is necessary, which covers all surfaces except the

intended bond interface during etching. The thermal oxide layer and the two layers of deposited tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) add up to a thickness of 5.7 µm, resulting in a very long etching time of 700 s, compared to common processes on the used etch tool. Because of the high thermal stress of the etching equipment, the wafer needs to be processed in two runs of 350 s each. The plasma etch shows a homogeneous oxide etch over the whole wafer surface without any residual oxide.

When using a wet etch to remove the oxide in the interface area, the AlSiCu of the metal 3 layer can be used as a hard mask for structuring due to the high selectivity of the etching solution of 1 : 40 for aluminum and oxide. Therefore, no additional lithography step is needed. Moreover, this etching technique allows for etching the oxide in the gaps between the electrodes, reducing the amount of exposed oxide in the trap. Due to the long etch time of 90 min, the under etch of the electrodes reaches $\sim 7 \,\mu\text{m}$ (see also figure 4.11), reducing mechanical stability. Therefore, bending of the free-standing electrodes during dicing cannot be prevented, leading to shorts between electrodes in the worst case.

In order to achieve both a wafer surface etched down to the substrate and underetched electrodes without exposed oxide, we combine the two methods of plasma and wet etching in a two-step process. First, half of the interface oxide is removed by plasma etching. Second, a wet etch is performed to remove the residual interface oxide, that simultaneously etches the oxide in the gaps down to the metal 1 shielding layer. Still, this procedure is limited by the inhomogeneous etch rate over the wafer surface of the wet etch, showing a faster etch rate at the wafer center. As a result, a residual thin oxide layer is observed as a $\sim 5 \text{ cm}$ wide ring along the wafer edge, preventing an anodic waferbond in this area. Figure 5.9 depicts the bottom wafer with and without a residual oxide ring at the wafer edge. Out of the different methods of oxide etching presented here, pure plasma etching shows the best results in terms of oxide-free interface for a successful wafer bond. For this reason, the plasma etch process was chosen for the hybrid trap, although under etched electrodes are dispensed in this case.

5.2.2 Spacer wafer

The spacer wafer is made of borosilicate glass (MEMpax®) and defines the distance between bottom and top electrodes. To achieve a suitable coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) matched with the silicon wafers, the glass is modified with sodium. These sodium contents lead to a different contamination classification compared to the standard silicon, limiting the toolpark of available fabrication processes in the Infineon production line. Wafers with different contamination classifications are not allowed to use the same tools and equipment to prevent defects and yield loss.



Figure 5.9: Bottom wafer of the hybrid trap. a) The interface oxide is etched by a two-step process starting with a plasma etch followed by a wet etch. Residual oxide is visible through a rainbow colored ring on the wafer edge. Only the wafer center is oxide-free (gray). b) The interface oxide is removed by plasma etching, resulting in a homogeneously etched silicon surface in the interface area.

The first fabrication step of the glass spacer is a coating with 80 nm amorphous silicon through low-pressure chemical vapour deposition (LPCVD). This layer forms a hard mask for the isotropic wet etch. To create holes through the wafer for optical access in the ion trap, we need to structure the wafer from both sides. We perform optical lithography first on the top side and subsequently on the bottom side with a positive resist mask of 1.9 µm thickness. After curing the resist by baking, the amorphous silicon is structured by plasma etching. The remaining silicon pattern forms the hard mask for the following isotropic wet etch of the glass. After removal of the hard mask and several cleaning steps, an automated optical control with SEM measures the width of the etched structures in multiple areas on the wafer to provide feedback and hence process control for the wet etch process.

Because the ion trap requires the glass to be removed at the trapping site and all lateral sides for laser access, the wafer is etched to a depth of 280 μ m from both the top and the bottom side to create holes in the 400 μ m thick glass wafer. Thus, a large amount of glass is etched during structuring, resulting in an open area of around 30 %. Despite this value reaching the limit defined from internal experience for the maximum etched area, reliable wafer stability is still observed. The isotropic etch leads to a 85 μ m wide spike in the center of the sidewall, as depicted in figure 5.10. The structured glass spacer and an SEM image of its cross section are also shown in figure 5.11.



Figure 5.10: Isotropic etch of the 400 μ m thick glass wafer (blue). The wafer is either etched from both sides, to create the opening for the ion trap (left), or only from one side, to create a 280 μ m deep spherical opening above alignment structures in the bottom wafer (right). Etching from both sides results in a 85 μ m spike.

5.2.3 Top wafer

To form the necessary holes for optical access in the SOI top wafer, it needs to be etched through completely. To achieve the desired trenches in the 45 µm thick conductive and 400 µm thick substrate silicon layer, a DRIE is used. After structuring, a coating with titanium platinum gold (TiPtAu) is done on both sides of the wafer by shadow mask evaporation to reduce the amount of silicon in direct line-of-sight to the ion and create a metallic surface to allow for wire bonding to the electrodes. The fabrication of the top



Figure 5.11: a) Glass spacer wafer of the hybrid ion trap. Holes are structured by isotropic wet etching, resulting in an etched area of around 30% of the full wafer. Despite the large etched area, the wafer shows a high stability on wafer-level. b) SEM image of the glass wafer (dark gray) bonded to the bottom wafer.

wafer is challenging because the area that needs to be etched through is very large to allow for optical access for camera and lasers, and create openings above the wirebond pads. For this reason, the mechanical stability of the wafer is reduced. If mechanical stress becomes too high during processing, wafer breakage may occur.

Deep reactive ion etching

The basic fabrication flow of the top wafer is illustrated in figure 5.12. First, a protective oxide (TEOS) layer is deposited on the front side of the wafer to avoid scratches and etching during the back side processing. With optical lithography, a negative resist is applied as a mask for the DRIE. Then, the protective oxide is removed in the patterned areas, followed by the DRIE. The DRIE process consists of three alternating steps: passivation of all surfaces, removing the passivation layer with ion sputtering on all horizontal surfaces, and an isotropic etch of the silicon. The C₆F₈ polymer passivation coats the sidewalls to avoid etching during the isotropic silicon etch. This passivation layer needs to be removed by reactive argon ion sputtering, before the silicon is isotropically etched with SF₆ for a short time period. This procedure is repeated until reaching the oxide separating the conductive and substrate silicon. The wafer is flipped and the same process steps with optical lithography and DRIE etch are performed on the back side of the wafer. Afterwards, the protective oxide layer as well as the residual buried oxide in holes and the bond pad area is removed by a wet etch to reduce the amount of exposed oxide to the trapped ion during operation.

The first batch of samples had an open area of 27% etched through completely, causing insufficient mechanical stability and consequent wafer breakage during the back side DRIE. The first attempt to add mechanical stability was to temporarily bond a silicon handling wafer to the top wafer. With this double wafer stack, the DRIE could be performed without causing wafer breakage. However, this method was not suitable, since the wafer could not be detached after etching without damaging the top wafer. The solution was found in reducing the total number of structures. A reduced open area of around 14% turned out to be sufficient to provide enough mechanical stability. In figure 5.13 a top wafer broken during DRIE as well as a successfully fabricated wafer with structures only in the wafer center are depicted.

CHAPTER 5. 3D MEMS ION TRAP



Figure 5.12: Fabrication steps of the top wafer. a) Resist mask (black) applied with optical lithography, b) oxide (blue) etch, c) DRIE of the highly doped silicon (red), starting with a polymer passivation with C_6F_8 (yellow), d) ion sputtering with reactive argon ions, e) isotropic etching with SF₆, f) passivation, g) isotropic etching, h) resulting trench with scallops, i) resist strip, j) backside structuring of the substrate silicon (gray) starting with a resist mask (black), k) backside trench down to the buried oxide, l) isotropic oxide etch.



Figure 5.13: Structured top wafer. a) Wafer breakage during the backside DRIE. The wafer breaks along the diagonal, along the crystallographic 100 axis. b) Keeping the outermost devices solid in the area along the wafer edge increases stability and prevents the wafer from breaking. The etched area is reduced from 27% to 14%.

Shadow mask evaporation

To avoid micromotion induced by stray charges in the silicon surface, the areas closest to the ion are coated with a stack of titanium, platinum and gold. The gold coating needs to be done as the last process step because gold is classified as critical material and therefore not permitted in the DRIE tools. Hence, the gold coating is performed after the second DRIE etch that creates holes through the whole wafer. These holes prevent from using optical lithography. Therefore, neither a lift-off process nor electroplating is available for the gold coating.

For this reason, a shadow mask evaporation is used for coating the desired areas. This process is realized by using one glass wafer each as shadow mask for the front and for the back side of the top wafer. These are fabricated similar to the glass spacer wafer described in section 5.2.2. The evaporation is performed in two steps, starting with the front side of the top wafer. The shadow mask is semi-automatically aligned and temporarily bonded to the top wafer with multiple revalpha sticks¹ distributed over the interface. Then, the wafer is evaporated with successive layers of 50 nm titanium, 100 nm platinum, and 200 nm gold. Titanium serves as an adhesion layer and platinum as a diffusion barrier for the gold layer. After evaporation, the shadow mask is removed by heating up the wafer to above 150 °C until the thermally-releasable revalpha sticks

¹thermal release tape

detach. These process steps are repeated for the back side of the wafer. The resulting gold structures on the top wafer are shown in figure 5.14.



Figure 5.14: Microscope image of the top wafer with gold coating through shadow mask evaporation. a) Top side with gold coating (yellow) of the bond pads (on the left) and the inner area of the electrodes, where the substrate silicon is recessed. b) Back side with gold coating in the area closest to the ion in the trap. The position of the glass pillars connecting the top and bottom wafer is indicated with a blue dashed line.

5.2.4 Wafer bonding

After structuring the individual wafers, a wafer bond process connects the three wafers. In general, a variety of different wafer bonding techniques, which are available at the Infineon production site in Villach, could be applied to the ion trap wafers, such as fusion bond [150], anodic bond [34], eutectic bond [151], thermo-compression bond [152], glass-frit bond [153], and adhesive bond [154]. Considering the design rules of the hybrid trap and potential benefit from experience gained in other productive technologies with a similar wafer stack at Infineon, we decided to use an anodic bond for the ion trap triple stack. As an alternative, a eutectic bond was investigated as a back-up plan.

Anodic wafer bonding

Anodic bonding was first introduced by Wallis and Pomerantz in 1969 [34] and is now widely used in industry, especially in packaging and manufacturing of sensor systems [155, 156]. The most commonly used material combination is borosilicate glass and silicon. It is suitable for various applications due to high bonding strength and because there are no high demands on the bond interface in terms of flatness and cleanliness of the environment for successful bonding [157].

For the anodic bond process, the glass wafer and silicon wafer are put into close contact between two graphite electrodes. Then, a positive voltage is applied to the anode that is connected to the silicon wafer. Due to the voltage, alkali ions (mostly sodium) in the glass wafer start to migrate towards the cathode. This ion migration forms a depletion zone in the glass wafer at the interface to the silicon, around 100 - 1000 nm wide. With an increasing width of the depletion zone, the electric field in this layer increases until the activation energy for oxigen anions in the glass wafer is reached. The anions start migrating towards the anode. When arriving at the silicon interface, they form covalent bonds with the silicon atoms, creating the bond between the glass and silicon wafer. In figure 5.15, the anodic bond process is shown.

In the glass wafer, three regions are formed during the anodic bond process: the depletion layer at the silicon interface, followed by bulk glass, and the region close to the cathode (pile-up layer), where the migrated alkali ions accumulate.



Figure 5.15: Anodic bond process for a silicon-glass interface. When applying a positive voltage to the anode, ion migration of alkali ions in the glass (blue) towards the cathode is triggered, forming the pile-up layer (dark blue). This migration generates a depletion zone with anions at the wafer interface (light blue). As soon as the activation energy of the anions is reached by the electric field in the depletion zone, the anions start moving towards the anode until they arrive at the interface. Here, covalent bonds of the oxygen anions with silicon are formed, creating the bond between the two wafers.

Triple-stack anodic waferbond

For the hybrid trap, two glass-silicon interfaces need to be wafer-bonded. In principle, this bond can be done in one step by switching the role of the two graphite electrodes or contacting the inner glass wafer laterally on the wafer edge to connect it to the cathode, which is already used in MEMS applications [158]. However, a simultaneous alignment of both interfaces is difficult because the silicon wafers on the outer sides of the triple

stack are not transparent. Thus, a pre-bond to fixate two wafers is necessary. This pre-bond is performed by laser irradiation of a small area in the wafer center to create a spot welding of the melting glass to the silicon and allows for aligning the third wafer to the fixed double stack. Unfortunately, attempts to conduct a pre-bond on the hybrid trap wafers were not successful, because the interface area used for the pre-bond is too small for a sufficient adhesion of the two wafers. Since the necessary layout modification would have taken too much time, we decided to split the wafer bond process into two steps. First, the bottom wafer is anodically bonded to the glass spacer, followed by the bond of the top wafer to the double stack.

One challenge in bonding the glass wafer from both sides is the pile-up zone formed during the first bond. The ion migration of alkali ions in the glass spacer towards the cathode leads to a sodium contamination on the glass wafer surface. This can result in a weaker second bond or, in the worst case, prevent successful bonding of the second interface. Test bonds with a cleaning step for the spacer wafer between the first and second anodic wafer bond were conducted and analyzed, but no further improvement of the bond quality was observed (details on bond quality are given in section 5.3.3). Thus, no additional cleaning step for alkali removal was integrated in the wafer bond routine.

A precise alignment of the top electrodes to the bottom electrodes in the hybrid trap is crucial to avoid micromotion that cannot be compensated. The alignment accuracy of around $3 - 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ for each interface results in a maximum displacement of $8 \,\mu\text{m}$ of top and bottom electrodes. This leads to a shift of the RF null $\leq 1 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a negligible change in motional frequencies, as discussed in detail in [111]. The spacer wafer is aligned to the bottom wafer in the first bond, followed by an alignment of the top wafer to the spacer wafer in the second bond. To guarantee a minimal displacement in the x/y direction and a minimal tilt of the two wafers, they are aligned in a semi-automatic alignment process. Alignment marks at two opposed locations on the wafer surface close to the wafer edge are used for this process. In the bonding tool, the two wafers are aligned semi-automatically with help of a microscope. Then, the wafers are handled automatically by the bonding tool to bring them in contact while keeping in the aligned position. The wafer stack is then temporarily fixed with clamps at the wafer edge before entering the bond chamber.

Because the exact bond process needs to be adapted for every application, first a series of bond tests with 10 waferstacks was performed to find the optimal bond parameters for the triple stack creating the hybrid trap. For these tests, the voltage amplitude, ramp-up time, cleaning steps, and chamber environment were modified in a process matrix to evaluate a stable parameter set. Out of this pre-runner experiment, a suitable anodic bond process for the hybrid trap was developed. Crucial bond parameters cannot be provided to protect proprietary IP. The procedure includes five steps:

- I) **Heating**: The first process step after loading the two wafers into the bond chamber is heating. The temperature of the top and bottom wafer are rising.
- II) Bond preset: Since the bond is done in high vacuum (HV), the chamber needs to be pumped until the chamber pressure reaches the target pressure. Moreover, the top electrode is lowered until it is in contact with the upper wafer in the chamber without active pressure. This allows removing the clamps.
- III) Pressure build-up: Next, the pressure of the top electrode to the wafer stack is increased, to facilitate a low electric resistance contact [155]. The final bond temperature is now reached and the top electrode is switched on.
- IV) Voltage influence: The voltage of the top electrode is ramped-up to the final bonding voltage. In this step, the bond in between the two wafers is formed. When ramping-up the voltage too fast, plasma discharging and voltage drops were observed during the pre-runner bond tests. Therefore, the ramp-up is kept slow and the maximum voltage is set to a relatively small value compared to other technologies.
- V) Cool-down: After the bond is performed, the chamber is flooded with nitrogen to increase the chamber pressure. The top electrode is lifted from the wafer stack. After a waiting time for cool-down the wafer stack is unloaded.

This procedure is used for both bonds, first forming a double-wafer stack and finally a triple-wafer stack. The bond quality is investigated using different approaches, as described in section 5.3.3.

Alternative: eutectic bonding

Although several tests were performed to examine the applicability of the anodic bond to the hybrid trap wafers, a eutectic bond was developed as a back-up plan. Eutectic bonding takes advantage of the low melting point of certain metallic alloys. When reaching this temperature, where both metals melt on the interface, a permanent bond is formed. When using a gold-silicon interface, the melting point reduces from $1063 \,^{\circ}C$ (Au) and $1412 \,^{\circ}C$ (Si) to $363 \,^{\circ}C$ [151], which is compatible with the allowed thermal budget of the ion trap wafers.

This method requires an additional gold coating of the glass spacer wafer instead of the bare glass surface. Therefore, the structured spacer was evaporated with a thin layer of 50 nm titanium and 100 nm platinum below a 1000 nm thick gold layer. Titanium serves as adhesive and platinum as a diffusion barrier for the highly mobile gold atoms. In figure 5.16, the gold-coated spacer wafer as well as a cross section of the bond interface is shown. Research on this technique has been performed by Lina Purwin and is available in her master thesis [159].



Figure 5.16: a) Gold coated spacer wafer used to form a eutectic bond to the silicon bottom and top wafer. b) Microscopic image of the interface after eutectic bonding of the ion trap wafers. The gold (yellow) on the glass wafer (dark gray) diffused into the silicon wafer (bright gray), forming a permanent bond.

Eutectic bonding might be relevant for future large-scale 3D ion traps, because it enables electrical connections between top and bottom wafer through the glass spacer. Such a connection could be realized either by a simple sidewall metallization, or by through-glass vias (TGVs). An integration of through-glass via also helps with scaling up the number of electrodes on the top wafer, as described in chapter 6.

5.2.5 Dicing and Packaging

The separation of the individual chips for the hybrid trap is challenging, since the wafer stack is exceptionally thick with around $1.5 \,\mathrm{mm}$ compared to a standard wafer thickness of 725 µm. After careful consideration and discussions with experts, mechanical dicing was decided to be the most suitable method to neither damage the ion trap chips nor the dicing tool.

The wafer stack is laminated on a UV-releasable foil fixed in a dicing frame to ensure that the single chips stay in position after separation. Because the wafer stack is rather heavy, the lamination needs to be done manually. No issues such as tape sagging over time occurred. Due to the large thickness of the wafer stack, non-standard sawing blades with $120 \,\mu\text{m}$ width are necessary to dice through the whole wafer, while the width of
the sawing line is restricted to $200 \,\mu\text{m}$. To guarantee a full separation of the ion traps, the stack is diced up to $20 - 30 \,\mu\text{m}$ into the underlying foil. After dicing, the wafer is illuminated with UV light to weaken the adhesion of the single chips to the foil to simplify detachment.

For the dicing process, the following challenges and risks have been identified during the concept phase:

- challenge to create an automated dicing setup with alternating distances between dicing lines due to the different chip sizes of the productive structures and filling area for mechanical stability of the wafers
- risk of breakage of the sawing blade due to the large thickness of the wafer stack
- risk of flying dies (detached structures or chips mainly at the wafer edge) due to a bad wafer bond and/or dicing through cavities in the glass spacer and top wafer

Nevertheless, a semi-automatic dicing procedure was successfully developed for the hybrid traps. Similar to the 2D twin trap, a jet of water with a small addition of Stayclean-F cleaning agent was used to rinse off dicing debris immediately, as described in section 4.2.4. Although the sawing blade broke while dicing some wafers, no major consequences for the ion traps and the dicing tool were observed. Flying dies occurred mainly at the wafer edge, where they are less harmful compared to the wafer center, where they could scratch productive ion trap chips.

An industrial packaging for the hybrid trap was developed, including glueing to a PCB and wirebonding for electrical contact. Details on the automated assembly process and the Infineon carrier PCB are given in section 4.2.5. When the first ion traps were fabricated, the cryogenic setup at ETH Zurich used for the characterization was not fully compatible with the PCB developed at Infineon. Therefore, the hybrid traps were glued to PCBs designed by colleagues at ETH. Because there are leads located in the area below the trap chip on the ETH carrier PCB, a non-conducting glue (ABLEBOND® 2025M) was used to avoid electrical shorts in between trap electrodes. Each bond pad was wirebonded to the PCB with two 25 µm thick gold wires. The top electrodes were directly wirebonded to the PCB. Later on, an adaptation of the ETH setup enabled mounting ion traps assembled on the Infineon carrier PCB. These traps were glued with the same Infineon-proprietary conductive glue as used with the 2D twin trap. In figure 5.17, a diced triple stack wafer and a wirebonded ion trap on the Infineon carrier PCB is shown.



Figure 5.17: a) Mechanically diced ion traps, visible as a grid of thin, black lines. Beside the hybrid traps with top layer, a surface trap design as well as electrical test structures are fabricated on the same wafer. b) Hybrid trap glued and wirebonded to the Infineon carrier PCB.

5.3 Quality analysis

Before testing the performance of the hybrid trap in the experiment, numerous measurements and analyses were carried out for inline process control, electrical behavior and material properties of the ion trap. These tests include in-line measurements during fabrication, as well as electrical and optical analyses conducted in the failure analysis (FA) department of Infineon in Villach. Moreover, four different tests to determine the wafer bond quality were performed.

5.3.1 Inline measurements

During fabrication, in total 39 measurements are performed on the three ion trap wafers to guarantee reliable and reproducible devices. Measurements of the layer thickness, alignment measurements between subsequent layers, automatic SEM analysis of etched structures, wafer bow measurements as well as visual controls to immediately detect possible deviations are conducted at defined process steps in the fabrication routine. These control steps account for around 30% of all processes performed on the wafers. The measured values are automatically stored and can be retrieved at any time for analysis and statistics.

Critical-dimension measurements

Automatic SEM measurements are performed to determine the width of the structured resist acting as an etching mask as well as width of the etched structures themselves.

Typically, five measurement points are taken for one wafer of each lot (one lot contains 1 - 24 wafers). If the measured value is out of the specification range, the processing of the wafer is immediately stopped to allow for a detailed analysis of the deviation. Such measurements are referred to as critical dimension measurements and are integrated for every layer of the ion trap. For instance, the target structure size of the resist mark for the plasma etch of the the metal 1 layer is $0.95 \,\mu\text{m}$. Specification limits are $\pm 0.15 \,\mu\text{m}$ for this mark. In figure 5.18, the corresponding values for this critical dimension measurement are presented in chronological order for every lot fabricated as an ion trap bottom wafer. All measured values are clearly within specification.



Figure 5.18: Data of the automated critical dimension measurement of the resist mask for the metal 1 layer of the bottom wafer. Each lot of up to 25 wafers is characterized by five fully-automated SEM measurements performed on one of the wafers. Measured lots are presented in chronological order. All measured points are well within the specification limits of $0.95 \,\mu\text{m} \pm 0.15 \,\mu\text{m}$ (green dashed lines) of the target value (black line).

Automated electrical wafer test

Another very useful measurement tool integrated in the process flow of the hybrid ion trap is a fully-automated electrical wafer test. Here, the RF lines of every chip are tested for breakdown voltage and leaking currents. Every wafer with the same layout is measured by automatically stepping the probe needles aligned to the bond pads from chip to chip. DC voltages up to 600 V are available for this test. The test also provides the failure description, as for example lack of contact, algorithm fail, arcing, high current or error during measurement.

The measurement is performed at atmospheric pressure, thus arcing between electrodes is expected from voltages $\approx 327 \text{ V}$ for gaps with 7.5 µm width according to Paschen's law [160]. For both larger and smaller gap widths arcing should occur at higher voltages. For the hybrid trap, we integrated a simple wafer test for the bottom wafer, where the leakage current between RF and ground is measured up to 300 V in steps of 50 V. The distance between RF and ground electrodes is 4.4 µm. Therefore, the chips are not damaged and still available for ion trap experiments. The measurement sequence starts with a Kelvin test to check the initial contact of the probe needles to the bond pad. For instance, a lot with 10 wafers contains 1140 ion traps. Out of these traps, 1108 traps successfully passed the wafer test, corresponding to 97.2% yield. The main reason for the failure was the absence of the metal 3 layer forming the electrodes on some chips at the wafer edge. Thus, the chips failed already in the Kelvin test at 50 V. The results of the wafer test are presented in figure 5.19. Only chips that passed the wafer test are provided to the ion trap experiment.

5.3.2 Surface characterization

Since the ion trap performance depends strongly on the surface conditions of the electrodes and surrounding surfaces, the surface roughness and cleanliness are characterized on the ion trap wafers. Rough surfaces can lead to scattered stray light from lasers reducing the detection reliability, whereas contaminations like adsorbents on the trap surface create stray electric fields.

Surface roughness analysis

A characterization of the surface roughness of the ion traps was performed in the FA of Infineon Villach using an atomic force microscopy (AFM) analysis. In surface ion traps, where the ion-surface distance is in the range of a few tens to a few hundreds of micrometers, a rough trap surface can lead to stray laser light causing detection errors. Therefore, a smooth trap surface is preferred.

First, the surface roughness of the AlSiCu metal layer providing the trap electrodes was measured. Structured chips from the bottom wafer with the full layer stack were used to get realistic values. An AFM analysis of the metal surface performed on a $60 \,\mu\text{m} \times 60 \,\mu\text{m}$ square revealed a root-mean square roughness of $\sim 30 \,\text{nm}$. The measured surface pattern is shown in figure 5.20.



Figure 5.19: Data of the automated wafer test on the ion trap bottom wafers. Plotted is the voltage, at which a leakage current was detected. If no leakage current was observed, the data point was set to 300 V. The system requirement of 180 V is marked with a gray dashed line. Both versions of the hybrid trap were tested (SI-400 and SI-700). 97.2% of all chips passed the test. Most fails occurred during the initial Kelvin test at 50 V, when the contact of the probe needles to the bond pads was tested. This lack of contact is caused by the absence of the metal 3 layer on some chips at the wafer edge.



Figure 5.20: AFM of the AlSiCu surface of the ion trap. The full layer stack adds up to a root-mean square roughness of ~ 30 nm.

Moreover, the roughness of the silicon and glass surface forming the interface for the anodic waferbond was measured. For successful anodic wafer bonding, the substrate surfaces need to be flat, smooth and clean. The surface roughness of the bond interface should not exceed 50 nm to enable hermetic sealing of the two wafers [149]. The silicon

surface roughness was measured on 6 different positions on the bottom wafer interface. In this area, the thermal and deposited oxide was removed by plasma etching. A roughness of 3.7 nm was measured in the wafer center, increasing to 9.1 nm close to the wafer edge. The measured average roughness is around 6.4 nm. In a similar way, the roughness of the borosilicate glass wafer was determined on 3 points from the wafer center to the wafer edge, where the roughness increases from 13.5 nm to 16.6 nm. These values indicate a suitable basis for successful wafer bonding.

Surface cleanliness analysis

An attempt to remove the oxide in the gaps between electrodes with an isotropic etch was conducted. Removing exposed oxide could help minimizing micromotion of the trapped ion. To protect the electrodes from the powerful water rinse during dicing, the whole triple stack wafer was spin-coated with a protective resist. When removing the resist before wirebonding, spots on the metal electrodes were observed. These spots were only located in the area, where the metal was coated with resist.



Figure 5.21: a) SEM image of the bonded ion trap, showing spots on the AlSiCu metal surfaces of the bottom wafer. b) EDX analysis of the spots, revealing contamination with fluorine. In combination with hydrogen, hydrofluoric acid is formed, etching the aluminum of the metal surface. This creates small holes on the metal surface, visible as spots in the SEM picture.

With an energy dispersive X-Ray analysis (EDX) contaminants on the trap surface were determined. In this analysis method an electron beam excites atoms that emit characteristic X-rays which are used to identify the composition of elements of the sample [161]. This analysis revealed residues of fluorine. The suggested hypothesis for this appearance is that after the long oxide etch some flourine residues from the etching solution remained on the AlSiCu surface. When coating the wafer with protective resist, the fluorine residues form hydrofluoric acid (HF) with the organic resist. The hydrofluoric acid then etches some small amount of aluminum of the AlSiCu surface. This creates small holes on the metal surface, which are visible as on the electrodes and bond pads. In figure 5.21, the spots on the trap electrodes and the results of the EDX analysis are shown.

To circumvent this problem, various methods have been developed to, on the one hand, mechanically stabilize the electrodes, and, on the other hand, seal the surface with a protective metallic layer. Mechanical stabilization eliminates the need to apply a protective coating for the dicing process. The electrodes in metal 3 can be stabilized by additional (intermediate) layers of TiN or TiW. Such metal layers on top of the metal 3 surface also have the advantage of preventing the AlSiCu to react with HF, if the wafer is coated with protective resist. In figure 5.22 an ion trap with additional TiW coating and without visible spots is shown.



Figure 5.22: SEM image of the bonded ion trap without spots on the AlSiCu metal surface due to a protective TiW layer on the electrodes.

5.3.3 Waferbond characterization

The anodic wafer bond needs to withstand mechanical and thermal stress during mounting and operation of the ion trap. Therefore, several quality tests were performed to demonstrate suitability of the anodic wafer bond for the ion trap and experiment operation.

Confocal scanning acoustic microscopy analysis

One method to verify a bonded interface after wafer bonding is confocal scanning acoustic microscopy (CSAM) analysis. Acoustic waves are used to find defects like cracks or voids in the bond interface. The wafer is placed in a liquid medium (e.g. purified water to avoid deposition of residues) to allow the propagation of high-frequency waves from the transducer to the sample [162] followed by a detection of the echo signal. In case of defects, the acoustic impedance (the product of sound density and speed) is modified and thus reflection and refraction of the ultrasonic waves is affected [163]. This method has the advantage of being non-destructive, hence the ion traps are still usable after the analysis of the interface. This helps finding explicitly well-bonded traps for the experiment.

We performed a CSAM analysis on both bond interfaces achieving a lateral spatial resolution of 10 µm. The signal emitted by the transducer is focused on the desired interface. While scanning across the whole wafer surface, the amplitude of the reflected signal is recorded. The recorded amplitude is then converted into a color code, to visually demonstrate the quality of the bond: Gray regions represent well-bonded areas, where the acoustic waves are not reflected at the interface, whereas at the positions of voids, a change in the acoustic impedance due to vacuum, air or water is visible through bright coloring. The CSAM analysis of one bottom bond between bottom and spacer wafer revealed a well-bonded area of 93 %, estimated by an evaluation of the recorded image. As visible in figure 5.23a, only a few voids close to the wafer edge are detected. The interface between the spacer and top wafer of the same ion trap wafer stack has a well-bonded area of 88 %, caused by voids mainly located in the outer area of the wafer surface. Because trap structures in the top wafer are only etched in the wafer center (black) where no reflection is detected, the same structures appear white at the wafer edge where the silicon is not etched.

Analysis of the depletion zone

Another tool to verify a successful wafer bond is an analysis of the width of the depletion zone formed in the glass during anodic wafer bonding, as described in section 5.2.4. One method of analyzing the depletion zone is to characterize an SEM cross section to visualize the different materials of the sample and to read out layer thicknesses. Therefore, a waferbonded ion trap chip was cut and polished to analyze the layer cross section by SEM. To simplify identification of the different layers, the sample was etched with 5 % HF for 20 s, resulting in a short etching of the surface, with varying etch rates for the different materials: the depletion layer with a lower content of sodium ions



Figure 5.23: CSAM of the bottom (bottom and spacer wafer) and top (spacer and top wafer) interfaces of the anodically bonded ion trap. a) The bottom interface has a well-bonded area (gray) of 93 %. The acoustic waves are reflected in white areas, that occur at the positions where the spacer wafer is etched and when air is enclosed in voids. b) The well-bonded area of the top interface with 88 % is reduced by voids (orange circles) mainly in the area close to the wafer edge.

exhibits a faster etch rate compared to the glass substrate, visible through a darker area in the SEM image. A thin layer of anions adjoins the depletion zone in the glass, featuring a brighter color in the SEM due to a lower etch rate. The width of the depletion zone was measured to be 254 nm, consistent with similarly performed bonds found in literature [164]. The recorded SEM image depicting the depletion zone is shown in figure 5.24. Moreover, an SEM cross section can also be used to identify local delamination or voids in the interface.

Die-shear tests

For a quantitative analysis of the mechanical stability of the wafer bond, die-shear tests are a suitable method of testing the bond strength on multiple samples with reduced effort compared to SEM cross sections. The chip (die) is glued on a base plate, with the bond interface parallel to the plate. A so called chisel is guided towards the fixed



Figure 5.24: SEM image of the ion trap cross section with visible depletion zone formed during the anodic wafer bond. The left image shows the bonded triple stack formed by the bottom, spacer and top wafer. The zoom-in presented in the right image is a recording of the bond interface between bottom silicon and glass spacer. A decoration with 5 % HF for 20 s previous to the analysis leads to varying etch rates dependent on the material, to make the depletion zone with lower sodium ion content visible. The depletion zone (dark gray) has a width of 254 nm. The anion layer in the glass wafer adjoining the depletion layer can be distinguished through a brighter color.

sample. When in contact, the shear force F is increased until the die breaks and the shear strength is calculated by

$$\tau = \frac{F}{A} \tag{5.1}$$

with A the area the force is applied on. In addition, the bond strength can also be estimated via the observed failure mode: breakage along the interface indicates a weak bond; if cracks propagate through the material, the sealing between the two wafers is assumed strong compared to the material stability. The third scenario, in which the full chip detaches from the base plate, indicates a stronger bond compared to the adhesion of the glue.

Die-shear tests on 10 ion traps were performed to analyze the bond strength when using structured wafers. Because the ion trap chip has holes on every side for optical access, it is rather difficult to perform a reliable die-shear test on the assembled chip. The pressure to put on the sample is concentrated on a very small area compared to chip size and bonded area. Therefore, the ion trap chip was cut close to the center in radial direction, so that only two of the four bonded glass pillars remained on the chip. For the test, the chisel was pushed towards the axial side of the chip, so that the chisel presses on both edges where the wafer is bonded. Because this method is difficult to apply to the structured ion trap chips, an analysis of the applied shear force is possible, but does not deliver meaningful results. The shear strength varies from $\tau = 9.5$ MPa to $\tau = 19.3$ MPa and is low compared to values found in literature with $\tau \approx 60$ MPa [165]. However, all measured samples broke inside the material, indicating a well bonded interface. This demonstrates that the anodic wafer bond is a suitable basis to realize the hybrid ion trap. Details on the shear test are also given in Lina Purwins master thesis [159].

Cryo-cycling stress tests

Because the hybrid ion trap will be operated in a cryostat, the compatibility of the anodic wafer bond with a cryogenic environment was tested. Five ion trap chips were cooled down in liquid nitrogen followed by a warm-up to room-temperature. This test was repeated six times, to simulate the thermal stress applied in the real ion trap experiment. After each cryo-cycle, the chips were optically inspected for damage with a microscope. Every chip survived this test without any noticeable consequences or failures. Furthermore, three ion trap chips were cooled-down in a cryostat located at KAI several times, to achieve even lower temperatures of ~17 K. A following optical inspection revealed no visible damage, indicating a good compatibility with operation at cryogenic temperatures.

5.3.4 Detection and solving of failures

Prior to the experimental characterization of the ion trap, two issues occurred: first, a short between the two top electrodes was detected; second, a trap from the second batch broke during cool-down in the cryostat. This section describes the root-cause finding and solution to the observed failures.

Short between the top electrodes

When checking the ion trap for undesired connections between electrodes, a short in between the two top electrodes was observed. A connection due to wirebonds or defects could be excluded by performing measurements on multiple samples with and without wirebonds. An SEM image of the cross section of the trap at the position of the gaps separating the top electrodes shows some residual conductive silicon in the bottom of the gap, shorting the two electrodes. This issue was easily solved by increasing the etching time of the DRIE. In figure 5.25, an SEM image of the layer cross section with and without short is depicted. When processing with increased etch time, also the substrate silicon below the buried oxide is slightly etched, as visible in the image. This does not affect the ion trap performance or mechanical stability.



Figure 5.25: SEM images of the top wafer layer cross section. a) A short between the two top electrodes is visible due to residual conductive silicon in the gap. b) Cross section after increasing the etch time of the DRIE, resulting in well separated electrodes. Here, also the substrate silicon is slightly etched during the release etch.

Trap breakage in the cryostat

When cooling down one ion trap from the second fabrication batch, the chip broke inside the cryostat. Detailed inspections revealed, that cracks in the top wafer along the crystal axis (diagonal to the trap axis) led to a full detachment of parts of this layer. Where bonded to the glass spacer, the cracks run through the wafer and not through the bond interface, indicating a strong wafer bond in the interface between spacer and top wafer. A picture of the broken trap is shown in figure 5.26.

To find the root cause of the failure, different hypotheses were defined: stress caused by an newly integrated heater, increased stress caused by the Infineon carrier PCB and glue compared to the first batch of ion traps mounted on the ETH carrier PCB with softer glue, a weak wafer bond between bottom and spacer wafer, and a single event due to structural weakness. Therefore, shock-frost tests in liquid nitrogen were conducted with four traps from the same batch as the broken chips (referred to as second batch) as well as traps from the first batch. All traps from the second batch broke during this test. Moreover, mechanical stress tests of the mounted traps on the Infineon carrier PCB were performed on chips from the first batch that survived the thermal stress from the shock-frost experiment. When bending the PCB by external pressure to generate mechanical stress, the traps were not damaged. These tests indicate that neither the



Figure 5.26: Hybrid trap broken during cool-down. a) One top electrode is completely broken out. b) The crack runs through the top wafer and glass spacer, not along the bond interface (see red arrows). This indicates a good wafer bond on the top bond interface, which can therefore be excluded as reason for the failure.

mounting on the Infineon carrier PCB, nor the additional heater are the root-cause for the failure. An analysis in the Infineon Failure Analysis department on one of the broken ion trap chips revealed a bad wafer bond of one spacer part to the bottom wafer, showing only a bond connection at the edge of the bond area. We expect a stress concentration on the small bonded area, when cooling down the ion trap, leading to cracks running through the whole wafer stack. From this point on, all further ion traps were tested for successful wafer bonding by CSAM analysis before being selected for operation in the experiment.

5.4 Ion trap performance

The hybrid trap was characterized in the laboratories of the TIQI (Trapped-Ion Quantum Information) group at ETH Zürich within the PIEDMONS collaboration. Incoming inspections and preparation of the ion traps were conducted by Chiara Decaroli, trap characterization and experiment operation were performed by Christopher Axline and Chiara Decaroli and reported in Chiara Decaroli's PhD thesis [45] and a published manuscript [141]. Although planned, participation in the on-site characterization of the author could not take place due to the regulations during the Covid-19 pandemic. Assistance and discussions were realized through remote correspondence.

5.4.1 Preparation and trap setup

Assembly of the ion trap was carried out at Infineon Technologies in Regensburg, as described in section 5.2.5. The hybrid trap was glued to a carrier PCB compatible with the ETH setup and subsequently wirebonded for electrical connectivity, as shown in figure 5.27. The traps were then shipped to ETH and prepared for the experiment.

Optical and electrical inspection

Upon arrival, the ion traps were optically inspected with an optical microscope and a SEM. Irregularities, visible defects and contaminations (such as the spots described in section 5.3.2) were detected during this phase. The traps with fewest defects and contaminations were selected to be inserted into the experiment chamber.

Before assembly in the cryostat, an electrical characterization was performed to detect potential shorts between electrodes, during which all electrodes were tested against each other. Within this testing process, a short between the two top electrodes was found in all the initial traps delivered to ETH. An analysis of the top wafer cross section at Infineon revealed residual conducting material in the gaps separating the two electrodes, as described in detail in section 5.3.4. Although the shorted electrodes limit the achievable tilt of the radial modes, they can be used in the experiment without further restrictions.

Trap setup

A detailed description of the setup which hosts the trap is given in [45]. The hybrid trap is mounted on the ETH carrier PCB made of Rogers 4350B. The carrier is connected to a DC filterboard using fuzz buttons made of gold². The trap is surrounded by a gold-coated copper cage used as both a shield as well as a ground layer. The box has 8 openings for laser access and a transparent gold mesh attached on the top side. In figure 5.27a the trap setup is shown. At a later point, the trap setup was adapted to be compatible with the Infineon carrier PCB, as shown in figure 5.27b.

5.4.2 Trap characterization

After cooling down to temperatures around 6.5 - 7 K the first attempts to trap ions in the hybrid trap were performed using automated routines for loading ions, alignment of laser beams and the generation of voltage sets as described in [45]. An image of the first trapped ion after optimizing the imaging system is shown in figure 5.28. This section

²Fuzz Buttons[®], Custom Interconnects



Figure 5.27: Trap setup used for the characterization of the hybrid trap in the experiment. a) The hybrid trap glued on the ETH carrier PCB and connected to the filterboard (green). A copper cage coated with gold and connected to ground is used as a shield layer against possible stray charges on nearby view ports. Openings on all sides allow for optical access. A transparent gold mesh creates grounding and shields from external stray electric fields. b) Adapted trap setup compatible with the Infineon carrier PCB (gold).

summarizes the results of the characterization of the first hybrid trap. Further details are given in Chiara Decaroli's PhD thesis [45].



Figure 5.28: Image of the detected fluorescence indicating a trapped ion in the hybrid trap.

State preparation

In order to benchmark the operation of the trap, the ion was initially cooled and prepared in the desired ground state as a preparation for quantum operations. Using a state preparation technique with σ -polarized 397 nm laser light as described in section 2.4.3, population was transferred from the $4S_{1/2}$, $m_j = +1/2$ to the $4S_{1/2}$, $m_j = -1/2$ state and Rabi oscillations between these two states were observed. The initial contrast of the oscillations was 70 %, see figure 5.29a. The limited contrast was traced to an additional oscillating magnetic field originating from the trap itself which decreased the overlap between the state preparation beam and the magnetic field direction. In figure 5.29b the suspected direction of the oscillating magnetic field is depicted. Based on findings from other experiments in the research group [166, 167] and from the characterization of the 2D twin trap (see section 4.5.3) the time-varying magnetic field is assumed to be caused by the high capacitance of the RF electrodes to the underlying ground plane of 52 pF. A reduction of the RF capacitance by using a wide-bandgap substrate material to bypass the need for a GND shield layer will mitigate the effects of oscillating magnetic fields on the trap performance.



Figure 5.29: a) Rabi oscillations of the ion with a maximum contrast of only around 70% (green dashed line) between bright and dark state. b) Suspected direction of the oscillating magnetic field (blue arrow) induced by the RF electrodes of the ion trap (red) with respect to the external magnetic field (black arrow). Figure adapted from [45].

Trap parameters and heating rate

The next step of the characterization routine is an analysis of the motional frequencies of the trapped ion. The measured radial frequencies of 2.600 MHz and 2.859 MHz and axial frequency of 1.484 MHz correspond to a trap depth of 0.3 eV in simulations.

As theoretically described in section 3.2.2, the heating rate of the hybrid trap was measured using the sideband ratio method. The best measured values were in the range of $\sim 40 \text{ q/s}$ at cryogenic temperatures. The measured heating rate is comparable to

other state-of-the-art ion traps [92, 99] and allows for a stable operation of single ions as well as ion strings [141].

Stray electric fields

In order to perform reliable, high-fidelity quantum operations, the trapped ions should not be exposed to stray electric fields generating micromotion, which cannot be compensated for. When tuning the axial confinement of the trapped ion, a shift of the ion along the trap axis was observed. One possible explanation for this behavior are charge effects in the dielectrics that generate electric fields in axial direction. Since several laser beams pass the dielectric spacer sidewalls at a distance of only a few $10 - 100 \,\mu\text{m}$, we suspect the presence of stray charges in the spacer dielectric caused by scattered laser light.

To verify this hypothesis, the ion position was shuttled along the trap axis by $\pm 200 \,\mu\text{m}$ from the central trapping site. In several ion positions, micromotion compensation was performed. The stray field for the radial and the vertical plane is then calculated by using the required compensation voltages. In figure 5.30 the calculated stray fields in radial (x) and vertical (y) direction are shown. This analysis indicates a change in the stray field along the trap axis of a few hundred volts/meter within the shuttled ion position. While the observed static stray electric fields could be well compensated, a metal coating of the spacer sidewalls and a recess of the gap oxide between the trap electrodes could further help reducing the amount of stray electric fields originating from bulk dielectrics.

5.4.3 Discussion

We successfully designed, fabricated and characterized a new hybrid ion trap that is formed by a planar trap with enhanced trap depth thanks to additional top electrodes.

In the first iteration of the hybrid ion trap a short between the two top electrodes was observed. Therefore, it was not possible to put individual voltages on the two electrodes, resulting in a limited tilt of the motional modes and thus limited laser cooling. With voltage sets optimized for this condition, we were able to achieve a trap depth of 0.3 eV. The next iteration ion traps with isolated top electrodes provide more flexibility in the applied DC voltage sets and thus a trap depth aligned with the targeted 1 eV should be possible. Moreover, after finishing the trap characterization of the first hybrid ion trap, an additional heating element was integrated into the trap setup. The heating element is in direct contact with the carrier PCB, allowing for a measurement of the heating rate dependent on the trap temperature. This allows one to determine the correlation



Figure 5.30: Calculated stray fields derived from the applied compensation voltages in a) radial and b) vertical direction. The stray field in vertical direction gives much higher values compared to the in-plane stray field. Error bars are partially hidden by the displayed data points. Figure adapted from [45].

between heating rate and temperature, and thus helps to extract the room-temperature heating rate.

While characterizing the ion trap properties, we observed two limitations: i) the relatively high trap capacitance of 52 pF of the RF electrodes leads to an oscillating magnetic field perpendicular to the external magnetic field, and ii) stray charges generate additional micromotion of the ion. A solution to the first problem is either a reduction of the parasitic capacitance by changing the layout and materials used for the ion trap, or decreasing the RF amplitude (resulting in a lower trap depth). In the current design, an oxide layer of 4.4 µm separates the RF electrodes in the metal 3 layer from the ground shield in the metal 1 layer. Changing the material separating the metal layers to one with a lower permittivity such as SiOF or SiCOH [168] helps reducing dielectric losses. On the other hand, changing the substrate material to one with a wide band gap such as fused silica or sapphire allows for omitting the ground layer necessary for silicon substrates. This significantly reduces parasitic capacitance of the RF electrodes. As a second point ii), stray electric fields are observed in the ion trap, which we suspect are originating from unshielded dielectrics. Despite the relatively large distance of >1.5 mm of the glass spacer to the trapped ion, the effects of stray charges in the dielectric are not negligible. A metal coating of the glass sidewalls and the possibility to bias the surface should significantly reduce the occurrence and consequences of stray charges in the dielectric. Moreover, if the openings for laser access are created with an anisotropic

etch or laser cutting, the spike in the glass is avoided. This would lead to another $\sim 85 \,\mu\text{m}$ larger distance of the laser to the spacer sidewalls and avoids concentrated field lines at the position of the spike. Thus, the amount of scattered stray light on the surface is reduced, without the need to decrease the wafer bond area that connects the three layers. dielectrics in the gaps between electrodes could be reduced by an isotropic underetch of the electrodes, as described in section 4.2.3.

Chapter 6

Proposal for a 3D ion trap array

The contents of this chapter are also included in the Patent submitted to the EPA with official application file reference 22183532.5 on 7th July 2022.

In the previous chapters two microstructured ion trap prototypes have been presented: a surface trap with 2D array geometry and a linear surface trap with enhanced confinement facilitated by electrodes in an opposing top layer above the bottom electrodes. The next step towards a scalable, microstructured ion trap is to combine the 2D array geometry of the 2D twin trap with the three-dimensional architecture of the hybrid trap to ensure stable trapping of a large number of ions in a trap array. In this chapter, a concept for such an ion trap is presented. The geometric layout of the new proposed trap concept is based on a scaled array structure consisting of parallel linear arrays and makes use of the increased confinement potential of a three-dimensional architecture. A strong confinement of the ions in the trap is an important prerequisite for successful ion shuttling in the trap without ion loss. Microfabrication of the proposed ion trap is possible with industrial micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) fabrication techniques, and includes multiple metal layers, dielectric substrates and wafer bonding to connect the single wafers forming the 3D architecture. Basic simulations of the trap concept were performed, and achievable secular frequencies, trap depth and required DC and RF voltages are presented. Moreover, proposals on how to address the main fabrication challenges are given.

6.1 Trap concept

The goal of the presented trap concept is a microstructured ion trap with 2D array geometry, which provides a sufficiently deep confinement potential to avoid ion loss and thus enable a stable trap operation as basis for quantum information processing. Therefore, the geometry of the 2D twin trap is adapted and extended by a top layer and spacer, as already introduced with the hybrid trap. For the trap concept, the characterization results of both the 2D twin trap and the hybrid trap are taken into account. One main issue of both traps is the RF capacitance of around 1.9 pF normalized to one trapping site, which would limit practical implementations to few tens of ions. We suggest using a wide-bandgap material as wafer substrate to circumvent the need for a shield layer: i) wide-bandgap materials have a low loss-tangent and thus heat dissipation into the substrate can be reduced, and ii) stray charges in the substrate caused by stray light can be significantly decreased. In a substrate material with a bandgap larger 3.3 eV none of the lasers used in the experiment are able to induce charge carriers [124]. This energy value corresponds to the highest-energy laser light with 377 nm wavelength used for photoionization during trap operation. However, using a wide-bandgap material such as fused silica or sapphire prevents the integration of electronics directly in the substrate, which might be important when scaling to hundreds of trapped ions and thus increasing the number of DC electrodes to a similar range of hundreds of electrodes. Separating RF and DC electrodes to two layers, namely a wide-bandgap substrate for the RF electrodes and a silicon substrate for the trap's DC electrodes, might enable an ion trap capable of integrated electronics such as digital-to-analog converters (DACs), switches or filters while at the same time avoiding high capacitances induced by the trap's RF electrodes.

A proposed trap design is shown in figure 6.1. The bottom layer includes all DC electrodes used for axial confinement and shim electrodes to compensate for stray electric fields. The top layer provides the RF electrodes for radial confinement. The two layers are separated by a spacer, defining the distance between bottom (DC) and top (RF) electrodes.



Figure 6.1: Schematic cross section of a scalable ion trap with separated DC and RF electrodes in two layers to trap ions (blue circles) in a 3D architecture. A silicon bottom wafer (dark gray) provides DC (orange) and shim (yellow) electrodes, whereas the RF electrodes (red) are implemented on the top layer (light blue) made of fused silica or sapphire. The RF electrodes are alternated with GND electrodes (gray).

6.2 Design challenges

In this section, we discuss the main challenges in the proposed ion trap concept and how to address them:

• RF capacitance

In both the 2D twin trap and the hybrid trap the RF electrodes form a capacitance with DC and GND electrodes of 44 pF and 53 pF, respectively. A high capacitance leads to an increased power dissipation in the trap, reducing the RF voltage gain via the step-up resonator and at the same time heating up the ion trap. As described in section 5.3 a high trap capacitance can also cause shifts of the qubit frequency due to a time-varying magnetic field. In both traps discussed in this thesis the main contribution to the trap capacitance is formed between RF electrodes and the GND shield electrode in the lowest metal layer, as shown in figure 6.2.

When scaling to a larger number of trapping sites, also the number of RF electrodes increases, thus raising the trap capacitance. One approach to reduce RF capacitances in ion traps is using a wide-bandgap material substrate, which does not require shielding as discussed above. However, when realizing complex trap layouts as surface traps, multiple metal layers are necessary and a crossing of DC leads and RF electrodes in superimposed layers can often not be avoided. In the 2D twin trap, the innermost DC island electrodes can only be connected to the bonding pads by crossing the RF electrodes in a lower metal layer. To avoid RF pickup on these DC electrodes, an additional GND layer between the RF electrode in the top metal layer and the DC electrodes is integrated in the intermediate metal layer, which contributes to the RF capacitance. Note, that RF pickup induces an RF voltage component of the DC electrodes, which can not be compensated for. Therefore, the GND shield layer cannot be omitted.



Figure 6.2: Schematic representation of the ion trap. The capacitance between RF and DC/GND electrodes in typical surface trap designs (left) can be reduced by separating RF and DC electrodes on two different wafers (right).

The proposed trap design is based on a vertical separation of DC and RF electrodes: The RF electrodes are placed on a separate wafer with only one metal layer, based on a wide-bandgap material. Thus, there is no need for a shield layer set to GND, reducing the trap capacitance significantly. To determine the reduction of trap capacitance in such an ion trap design, a simulation was performed. In this simulation, the layout including the full layer stack of the 2D twin trap was compared to the layout of the 2D twin trap on wide-bandgap substrate, and the 2D twin trap with separated DC/RF electrodes in a 3D architecture. Note the layout differences of the silicon 2D twin trap and the wide-bandgap 2D twin trap: while the silicon trap has a large GND layer in the lowest metal layer and only one crossing of DC and RF lines in the trap center, the wide-bandgap trap has no GND shielding layer, but a total of three areas of RF and DC crossing due to some design changes as will be described in [120].

Using a wide-bandgap substrate material decreases the total trap capacitance from 1.9 pF to around 1.2 pF normalized to one trapping site, increasing linearly when scaling up to 1000 trapping sites. Additional layout optimizations would be necessary in order to exploit the full potential of this approach. Separating DC and RF electrodes compared to a surface trap on wide-bandgap material additionally reduces the trap capacitance around 1-2 orders of magnitude, resulting in a capacitance of 20 - 100 pF for a 1000-trapping-site trap design, compared to 1.2 nF for the wide-bandgap 2D twin trap.

• Stray electric fields

The presence of stray electric fields in an ion trap can lead to excess micromotion of the ions. Stray charges can be generated by stray light on the trap surface and can reside on any non-conductive surface. In the presented ion trap design, the silicon bottom wafer needs to be shielded by a continuous GND plane to avoid light-induced stray charges in the silicon substrate generated by accumulation and inversion [108], and to reduce dissipated energy from the RF electrode to the substrate. The metal layers are separated by inter-metal oxide, which fills the gaps in between the electrodes. An isotropic etch of this oxide down to the underlying GND plane leads to a recess of the oxide below the electrodes, as visible in figure 6.3. Thus, the influence of stray charges in the oxide can be significantly reduced due to a better shielding of the surrounding metal layers.



Figure 6.3: Schematic representation of the ion trap. The effect of stray charges in the gap oxide between electrodes and on the glass spacer sidewalls (left) can be reduced by isotropically etching the gap oxide and a metallic coating of the spacer sidewalls, respectively (right).

Moreover, coating the glass spacer separating the top and bottom wafer with a metal layer (e.g. Au or ITO) allows for connecting to GND to reduce the amount of stray charges on the dielectric spacer sidewalls. The metallization could be done by an evaporation of an adhesion layer (e.g. Ti) followed by evaporation of the desired metal. If the thickness of the metal coating is only a few tens of nanometers [169, 170], the material is transparent enough for a suitable combination with integrated waveguides.

• Compensation electrodes

When scaling the 2D twin trap beyond one hundred trapping sites, a basic geometry can be realized by alternating a rail of segmented DC electrodes with an RF rail. However, this geometry does not allow for proper operation as a quantum processor, because it lacks DC shim electrodes necessary to compensate for stray electric fields, as shown in figure 6.4.

When scaling to a larger number of trapping sites, especially when extending the layout in the radial direction where RF and DC rails are alternated, additional space for compensation electrodes (shim electrodes) needs to be created. A trap design with separated RF and DC electrodes enables the integration of compensation electrodes at the position of the RF electrodes in the surface trap, which are now moved to the top layer.



Figure 6.4: Schematic representation of the ion trap. When the ion trap layout with 2D array architecture is scaled up, there is not enough space for shim electrodes (left). Moving the RF electrodes to an additional top layer allows for the placement of shim electrodes between the DC electrodes on the bottom layer.

• Routing

With a growing number of trap electrodes also the number of electric leads on the trap chip increases. The size of these leads should not be chosen too small, as with an increasing resistance Johnson-Nyquist noise is induced, causing motional heating of the ions, see section 3.2.1. Typical lead lengths of 5 mm, a lead width of $10-20 \,\mu\text{m}$ (dependent on the size of the electrodes that scales with the ion-surface distance) and a common routing layer thickness of 1 µm gives a resistance of a few Ohms per lead at room-temperature, resulting in a heating rate caused by Johnson noise of a few quanta per second. Operation at cryogenic temperatures leads to a decrease of the resistivity of AlSiCu with a factor of around 10 and a reduction of the heating rate of around two orders of magnitude, as discussed in section 4.3.1. For this reason, the size of leads should not be reduced, and the concept for connecting all electrodes to the carrier PCB should be carefully elaborated.

There are two approaches to solve the issue of lacking space for suitable DC leads: i) implementing additional metal layers to distribute the routing over several levels, and ii) using through-substrate vias (TSVs) [35, 171] to connect (some of) the electrodes directly to the carrier printed circuit board (PCB) below the trap chip. The ion traps presented in this thesis are both based on a silicon substrate, on which three metal layers are deposited. In general, the used technology is expandable to up to five metal layers to provide the routing of electric leads, where the lowest metal layer should be a GND plane to shield the substrate. However, with five metal layers and the corresponding isolating inter-metal oxide layers, the topology of the trap chip increases significantly, reaching values of $\geq 10 \,\mu\text{m}$ dependent on the exact trap layout. Therefore, planarization steps have to be included to the process flow, such as chemical-mechanical polishing (CMP) [105], to ensure a reliable fabrication with optical lithography.

In the top wafer, only three electrodes are necessary: two alternating RF electrodes separated by GND electrodes, as shown in figure 6.5. Simulations have shown, that biasing the GND electrodes improves trap depth. One method for electrical connection of the electrodes to the carrier PCB is using through-glass vias (TGVs) from the top to the bottom layer. On the bottom layer the leads are routed either to the bonding pads on the trap chip or directly to the carrier PCB using TSVs. Another possible approach to connect the RF and GND electrodes to the bottom layer is to use a metal-coated spacer and a eutectic waferbond, as sketched in figure 6.6. Here, every spacer part could route one electrode, therefore at least three separate glass blocks are necessary to realize this approach.



Figure 6.5: Schematic routing of the RF electrodes on the top wafer in a single metal layer. Two separate RF voltages are applied to the RF electrodes RF_{even} (light red) and RF_{odd} (dark red). The electrodes sharing the same voltage are connected on one side of the chip and electrical contact is achieved via TSVs to the bottom wafer and further wirebonding to the carrier PCB. In between the RF electrodes, a GND electrode (gray) is integrated.



Figure 6.6: Schematic representation of the ion trap. Using only wirebonds to connect the trap electrodes to the carrier PCB (left) becomes more difficult when scaling the ion trap due to a lack of space for bond pads. This issue can be solved by using TGVs to connect the electrodes on the top wafer to the bottom layer and TSVs to realize connections to the carrier PCB below the trap chip.

• Laser addressing

Optical access in microstructured 3D ion traps is often limited by bulk electrodes, substrates and spacer parts. When scaling to a large number of ions positioned in a 2D array geometry, the chip area containing electrodes, which form the trapping sites, increases linearly. This area has to be fully accessible to laser light. However, laser access into the vacuum chamber or cryostat is often limited when using free-space optics. Using a glass wafer as a spacer between top and bottom layers allows for integrating optical waveguides to allow the precise addressing of ions in the trap, as visualized in figure 6.7.



Figure 6.7: Schematic representation of the ion trap. The need of free-space optics (left) to address single trapped ions can be avoided by integrating optical waveguides in the glass spacer (right).

Using femtosecond laser micromachining, single-mode waveguides can be written directly in crystalline dielectrics [172–175]. These waveguides can include curves to reduce stray light and allow for complex array structures. However, total losses given by incoupling, propagation and outcoupling loss are typically in the range of a few decibels per centimeter, dependent on wavelength and substrate material. The integration of waveguides for infrared light with 729 nm wavelength into sapphire for ion traps has already been investigated [176]. The fabrication of waveguides for blue light such as the laser cooling and state detection laser with 397 nm wavelength used in this thesis is challenging, as propagation losses increase at smaller wavelengths [177]. Additional lasers for ionization, cooling and repumping can be implemented as global laser beams to simultaneously address multiple trapping sites.

• State detection

One challenge of the microfabricated 3D trap is sufficient optical access to collect photons for state detection of the ions. As we have seen in simulations, biased GND electrodes in between the RF electrodes on the top wafer are necessary to achieve a suitable confinement potential. Although there is in principle enough space for these electrodes, if one wants to detect the ion's fluorescence from top (as this is the only option for ion-specific state detection in a 2D array architecture), massive electrodes prevent the photons to pass through the transparent top wafer. However, if using a transparent metal coating such as ITO (indium tin oxide) [178–180] on the glass wafer to form the GND electrodes, a high proportion of the photons is transmitted. A possible implementation of state detection through a transparent substrate by using ITO as conductive material to form GND electrodes is shown in figure 6.8.

ITO has a resistivity of $\rho \approx 1 \times 10^{-6} \Omega \text{ m}$ [181], which is around two orders of magnitude higher than the resistivity of the AlSiCu alloy used as electrode metal in the ion traps presented in this thesis, see section 4.3.1. Thus, it should not be used as preferred metal to form the RF electrodes of the ion trap to avoid increased heating. Another possibility for state detection is using integrated optics such as lenses to collect the photons directly on chip [146, 182].



Figure 6.8: Schematic representation of the ion trap. In the hybrid trap, a slit in the silicon topwafer is needed for state detection (left), whereas in the proposed ion trap design, camera access from top is achieved by using a transparent metal to form the electrodes on the top wafer.

6.3 Simulations

A scalable design for several hundred ions with individual control requires complex trap designs including multiple RF and several hundreds of DC electrodes. Besides the before mentioned issues of a lacking space for compensation electrodes and a strongly increasing coupling capacitance between RF electrodes and the adjacent DC electrodes, additional operational difficulties arise when scaling the number of electrodes: i) the RF voltage amplitude needs to be increased to maintain a decently high confinement potential to trap the ions [79], and ii) with a growing number of trapping sites the trap depth decreases, so that stable operation of the ions as qubits can no longer be guaranteed if the RF voltage is not increased. To solve this problem, a three-dimensional architecture can be used that allows for a higher confinement and thereby eliminates the need for impractically high RF voltages for reliable trap operation.

To investigate the effects of the proposed trap concept with separated RF and DC electrodes, we conducted simulations¹ of an ion trap with basic geometry including RF rails on a top wafer and DC/GND electrodes on a bottom wafer, and extracted the most important trap parameters as secular frequencies, voltage amplitudes and trap depth.

In the simulation, the wafers have a distance of $300 \,\mu\text{m}$, RF rails have a width of $200 \,\mu\text{m}$, and DC segments a width and length of $100 \,\mu\text{m}$. A simplified version of the trap geometry for an 4x4 array layout is depicted in figure 6.9. In the following, the periodically connected DC electrodes forming a 1D array structure are referred to as DC rail. The RF voltage was optimized to achieve a stability q-factor of q = 0.4 at an RF drive frequency of 23 MHz. Figure 6.10 shows the simulated values for secular frequencies, RF/DC voltage amplitude and trap depth dependent on the number of parallel DC rails. In each DC rail, 10 trapping sites are located. For up to 25 parallel DC rails secular frequencies of ~ 0.8 MHz in axial and ~ 3 MHz in radial directions can be realized. These values are achieved with DC voltage amplitudes around 10 V and RF voltage amplitudes < 100 V. Moreover, when increasing the number of DC rails, the trap depth stays above 40 meV. This trap depth is much higher than the average kinetic energy of background gas molecules, which prevents ion loss due to collisions.

For a realistic trap design, the parallel RF rails can have two alternating widths to achieve a tilt of the radial modes that allows for laser cooling of all motional modes

¹Simulations were performed in python using the *electrode package* developed by R. Jördens (https://github.com/nist-ionstorage/electrode). Although this simulation software is designed to study surface ion traps, an additional GND plane can be inserted as a counter electrode to compress the electric field. This allows the electric field generated by the RF electrodes to be simulated, rotated and shifted to the position of the counter electrode before summing the electric fields of all electrodes to obtain the total potential.



Figure 6.9: Simplified electrode layout and dimensions used for the simulation of the proposed 3D trap array with 4x4 trapping sites. a) Top wafer geometry with RF (red) and GND (gray) electrodes. b) Bottom wafer geometry with DC (orange) and shim (yellow) electrodes. Every third DC electrode is periodically connected. In the assembled trap, RF electrodes are positioned above the shim electrodes at a distance of 300 µm.

simultaneously. An optimization of the RF electrode widths is needed to enable RF coupling. Moreover, dummy electrodes next to the outermost trapping sites in both the axial and radial direction can be added to reduce edge effects. For coupling in axial direction along the DC multi-well, an additional segmentation of the DC electrodes would be necessary. This segmentation can be realized in the proposed ion trap design by using multiple metal layers for routing. In addition, a detailed analysis of the multi-well potential should be carried out in order to identify possible coupling in both axial and radial direction. Nevertheless, the preliminary simulation results predict suitable operating parameters for the presented trap concept, providing a scalable technology for future three-dimensional, microfabricated ion traps.



Figure 6.10: Simulated secular frequencies (top), voltage amplitude (center) and trap depth (bottom) dependent on the number of trapping sites for a trap architecture with separated RF and DC electrodes on two layers. Even for a large number of parallel DC rails, the RF voltage amplitude stays below 100 V and the corresponding trap depth stays above 40 meV enabling a stable operation as quantum processor.

6.4 Implementation and fabrication challenges

To realize the presented ion trap concept, the technology of the 2D twin trap and the hybrid trap can be adopted and needs to be expanded for TGVs, TSVs and integrated waveguides. In addition, the waferbond process must be adapted to the new wafer stack. In figure 6.11 a cross section of two alternative trap design with integrated functionality are sketched.

• Through-glass vias

To create an electrical connection through a glass wafer such as borosilicate, fused silica or sapphire, metal-filled TGVs can be used [183–185] An interesting technology for the production of TGVs in thicker glass layers $\geq 300 \,\mu\text{m}$ is the laserinduced deep etching (LIDE) process [186]. Here, the glass wafer is irradiated with a picosecond laser in the area where the TGV should be formed. The irradiation leads to a local, permanent modification of the glass due to the interaction of the laser radiation with the processed material [187]. This allows for a selective etching of the modified material with hydroflouric acid. The TGVs are then filled with metal, e.g. copper or gold, to establish electrical contact. Typically, an adhesion layer (e.g. Ti) is deposited first, followed by a seed layer for electroplating of the desired metal to fully fill the TGV [184]. This process is compatible with an industrial production and thus could be an important component to realize a scalable trapped-ion quantum processor based on multiple electrode layers.

• Through-substrate vias

TSVs are already widely used in MEMS technologies, since they can be combined with CMOS processing circuits, and at the same time reduce chip size while maintaining high performance [171]. In the field of ion traps, TSVs have been realized by Guise et.al. [35], where a ring-shaped hole was etched via deep reactive ion etching (DRIE) in a silicon substrate. After thermal oxidation of the silicon to create an isolation layer to the substrate, the hole is filled with 6 µm of highly p-doped polysilicon to generate a conductive connection. Here, the outer diameter of the TSV was 48 µm for a 300 µm thick substrate, which is in general small enough to enable TSVs for several DC electrodes on a trap with dimensions similar to the 2D twin trap and hybrid trap presented in this thesis. Furthermore, the integration of copper-filled TSVs in a silicon substrate connecting the trap electrodes to a glass interposer below the trap was used to realize a scalable surface ion trap by Zhao et.al. [188]. This trap was manufactured on 12" wafers, thus demonstrating the compatibility of TSVs with industrial production based on CMOS technology for ion traps.

• Integrated waveguides

Regardless of the architecture used to scale the ion trap (2D ion trap array or QCCD architecture), the number of trapping sites or independent functional zones increases with the number of ions. This poses significant challenges for addressing individual ions with free-space optics, since a large area of the trap chip needs to be reached with all lasers at suitable beam angles without creating

cross talk between neighboring ions. Recently developed surface ion traps include lithographically structured optical waveguides in the trap substrate made of silicon nitride (SiN) and grating couplers to guide the laser light towards the trapped ions [39, 189]. The integration of waveguides into the trap substrate create a reliable hardware that bypasses the need for laser beam alignment and can reduce noise and drifts when performing quantum logic operations. An alternative technology to include light-guiding in three-dimensional ion traps is given by laser-written optical waveguides in dielectric materials as fused silica or sapphire [176]. Femtosecond laser pulses are used to locally modify the crystal lattice of a transparent material, leading to a decreased refractive index in this area due to amorphization [172]. By changing the focus position of the laser, it is possible to create three-dimensional structures such as curved waveguides to allow for controlled light guiding.

• Waferbond process

To assemble the individual wafers of the ion trap into a 3D architecture, they are joined by wafer bonding. Using a eutectic wafer bond allows for connecting a top and bottom wafer electrically. TGVs filled with metal can be used to route the RF and GND electrodes from the top to the bottom wafer and to the bonding pads for electrical connection to the carrier PCB by wirebonding. However, the coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) must be taken into account when choosing the substrate materials, to avoid wafer breakage during the wafer bond process at higher temperatures of $> 300 \,^{\circ}$ C and when cooling down to room-temperature or even cryogenic temperatures for trap operation. Common substrate materials for waferstacking in MEMS technologies are silicon and borosilicate glass, which are CTE matched in a wide temperature range [190]. The compatibility of a waferbond formed by these substrates with ion traps has already been demonstrated by the hybrid trap presented in this thesis for operation at room temperature and at cryogenic temperatures [141]. While direct waferbonding of two fused silica wafers was successfully performed [191], a waferbond of fused silica or sapphire to borosilicate glass as proposed in the presented ion trap concept is still to be investigated.



Figure 6.11: Schematic cross section of the ion trap shown in figure 6.1. a) Design with integrated waveguides in the glass spacer (light blue) and TGVs to connect top (light blue) and bottom wafer (dark gray). Electrical connection to a carrier PCB can be achieved by wirebonding to bond pads on the bottom wafer. b) Alternative design with integrated waveguides in the bottom wafer (light blue) and TSVs to connect electrodes directly to the chip carrier through the silicon substrate.

6.5 Outlook

At the time of writing this thesis, several projects are ongoing on the development of different aspects of the proposed scalable 3D ion trap concept:

i) Isolating substrates (such as fused silica and sapphire) are currently investigated to serve as substrate material for future ion traps with multiple metal layers to create and route segmented electrodes without the need to integrate a shield layer. This reduces the trap capacitance significantly.

ii) The OptoQuant project [192] focuses on the integration of optical waveguides for red and blue laser light in the spacer wafer made of fused silica or borosilicate glass. Waveguides are written into the substrate by femtosecond laser pulses with an alignment accuracy in the sub-micrometer range, which is crucial for exact laser addressing of the ions. Moreover, in the ATIQ project [193] waveguides made of AlN (aluminum nitride) as well as splitters and optical switches for integrated light management will be investigated and included into the bottom wafer of a 3D ion trap.

iii) With an increasing number of electrodes, also the control electronics and the corresponding on-chip wiring as well as connections to the external voltage sources becomes more complex. Thus, the integration of electrode control circuitry is necessary to further increase the number of ions needed for a fault-tolerant quantum computer. Within the PIEDMONS project [143], cryogenic DACs were developed [37] and investigations on integrated switches were performed to be able to connect and disconnect the trap electrodes from the corresponding DACs [194].

All together, this work and the proposed next steps offer a viable roadmap for advancing the state-of-the-art of trapped-ion quantum computing and will help realize useful applications within this field.
Chapter 7

Summary and Outlook

In this work we presented the design, fabrication, and characterization of two microstructured ion traps. The goal of the presented work was to demonstrate a route towards scaling up the number of trapped ions for meaningful use as a quantum information processor. This work applies industrial microfabrication technologies to the production of microstructured ion traps, where fabrication was carried out in the industrial cleanroom facilities of Infineon Technologies Austria, providing a wide toolpark of microfabrication processes combined with detailed process control.

One approach for scaling to hundreds or more ions is realizing a 2D ion trap array architecture, in which ions are confined in an array of individual trapping sites. A possible minimal-instance design aiming for two parallel 1D arrays of ion traps was successfully fabricated and assembled for operation in the experiment. In order to realize the complex trap layout, a multi-metal layer technology was applied, which allows the routing of electrodes in lower lying metal layers. Electrical functionality was verified by measurements of metal and via resistance, breakdown voltage, and trap capacitance. Trapping of single ions in individual trapping sites of the trap array was shown and shuttling along the 1D array was successfully conducted. However, characterization in the ion trap experiment revealed relatively high heating rates in the range of $100 - 500 \,\mathrm{q/s}$. Preliminary results of a second version of the ion trap with a change in electrode material from AlSiCu to Au and a recess of the gap oxide between electrodes suggest a reduction of these values by around one order of magnitude and require further investigations to discriminate technical noise from surface electric field noise. Moreover, the ion trap layout was adapted due to observed charge-carrier effects induced in the silicon substrate and an oscillating magnetic field. The oscillating B-field was caused by the high trap capacitance. Both of these issues could be solved by the layout modification. At the time of writing this thesis, a further investigation of the new iteration of the 2D twin trap is being carried out, with focus on ion coupling between the 1D arrays by tuning the amplitude of the RF electrode in between the two ion chains. Coupling of ions in both lattice directions allows for a maximum lattice connectivity and thus forms an important step towards a quantum information processor.

Furthermore, a second microstructured ion trap with an increased confinement potential of 1 eV was developed and presented in this thesis. To achieve such a high trap depth in microstructured ion traps, a 3D architecture is required. The ion trap was manufactured with the help of MEMS technology in the industrial cleanroom facility of Infineon. The design of the trap is based on three wafers: a bottom surface trap, a glass spacer, and a top wafer with two additional DC electrodes. These wafers are structured individually and subsequently anodically wafer bonded to form the 3D architecture that creates the deep confinement potential. Due to the additional DC electrodes in the top layer, which initially do not carry any RF voltage, we refer to this trap as a hybrid trap. The structural properties of the device was extensively tested by electrical measurements and surface analysis, and the successful wafer bond was verified by analysis of the depletion zone, die-shear tests and scanning acoustic microscopy. The performance during ion trap operation was investigated by colleagues in the TIQI group at ETH Zürich. The characterization revealed relatively low axial heating rates of 40 q/s at cryogenic temperatures, but a high micromotion of the axial mode. We suspect the cause of this micromotion to be stray electric fields generated by the unshielded sidewalls of the glass spacer. In future iterations of this trap, a metal coating on these sidewalls could help reducing stray fields induced by stray charges on exposed dielectric materials. Moreover, similar as with the 2D twin trap, an undesired oscillating magnetic field caused by charging currents of the trap capacitance of 53 pF was observed. In general, a change of the substrate material from silicon to an insulator such as fused silica or sapphire would circumvent the need for a shield layer, leading to a significant reduction of the trap capacitance and the associated limitations during trap operation. Due to the manufacturing of the trap based on industrial MEMS technologies and the thus achieved high trap depth through a 3D architecture shows a promising direction towards stable, microfabricated ion traps, which are scalable to a large number of ions.

Finally, an approach to combine the two trap designs of the 2D ion trap array and the hybrid ion trap with increased confinement potential was given. Adding a top layer and introducing a vertical separation of DC and RF electrodes allows for scaling up the ion trap to individually trap hundreds of ions without being limited by an extraordinary high RF voltage or a decreased trap depth. The ion trap concept presented is compatible with a production based on CMOS and MEMS technologies, thus enabling the integration of additional functionality such as integrated electronics (digital-to-analog converters, switches) or optics (waveguides) that support further scaling. In general, the miniaturization of the ion trap and the associated tools and components required for its operation is needed if a universal quantum computer based on thousands or tens of thousands of trapped ions is to be realized. For this reason, the results of this work and the further pursuit of industrially manufactured ion traps are an important step for the development of a useful trapped-ion quantum computer and potential applications.

Bibliography

- P. Shor, "Algorithms for quantum computation: discrete logarithms and factoring", in Proceedings 35th annual symposium on foundations of computer science (1994), pp. 124–134.
- [2] L. K. Grover, "A fast quantum mechanical algorithm for database search", in Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual ACM symposium on theory of computing - STOC '96 (1996), pp. 212–219.
- [3] R. P. Feynman, "Simulating physics with computers", International Journal of Theoretical Physics 21, 467 (1982).
- [4] I. Georgescu, S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, "Quantum simulation", Reviews of Modern Physics 86, 153 (2014).
- [5] M. Reiher, N. Wiebe, K. M. Svore, D. Wecker, and M. Troyer, "Elucidating reaction mechanisms on quantum computers", Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 7555 (2017).
- [6] C. Outeiral, M. Strahm, J. Shi, G. M. Morris, S. Benjamin, and C. Deane, "The prospects of quantum computing in computational molecular biology", WIREs Computational Molecular Science 11, e1481 (2020).
- [7] M. H. Devoret and R. J. Schoelkopf, "Superconducting circuits for quantum information: an outlook", Science **339**, 1169 (2013).
- [8] D. J. Wineland, M. Barrett, J. Britton, J. Chiaverini, B. DeMarco, W. M. Itano, B. Jelenković, C. Langer, D. Leibfried, V. Meyer, T. Rosenband, and T. Schätz, "Quantum information processing with trapped ions", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 361, edited by P. L. Knight, E. A. Hinds, and M. B. Plenio, 1349 (2003).
- [9] P. Kok, W. J. Munro, K. Nemoto, T. C. Ralph, J. P. Dowling, and G. J. Milburn, "Linear optical quantum computing with photonic qubits", Reviews of Modern Physics 79, 135 (2007).

- [10] A. Imamoglu, D. D. Awschalom, G. Burkard, D. P. DiVincenzo, D. Loss, M. Sherwin, and A. Small, "Quantum information processing using quantum dot spins and cavity QED", Physical Review Letters 83, 4204 (1999).
- [11] D. S. Weiss and M. Saffman, "Quantum computing with neutral atoms", Physics Today 70, 44 (2017).
- [12] L. M. K. Vandersypen and I. L. Chuang, "NMR techniques for quantum control and computation", Reviews of Modern Physics 76, 1037 (2005).
- [13] D. P. DiVincenzo, "Quantum computation", Science 270, 255 (1995).
- [14] D. P. DiVincenzo, "The physical implementation of quantum computation", Fortschritte der Physik 48, 771 (2000).
- [15] P. Wang, C.-Y. Luan, M. Qiao, M. Um, J. Zhang, Y. Wang, X. Yuan, M. Gu, J. Zhang, and K. Kim, "Single ion qubit with estimated coherence time exceeding one hour", Nature Communications 12, 233 (2021).
- [16] T. Harty, D. Allcock, C. Ballance, L. Guidoni, H. Janacek, N. Linke, D. Stacey, and D. Lucas, "High-fidelity preparation, gates, memory, and readout of a trapped-ion quantum bit", Physical Review Letters 113, 220501 (2014).
- [17] C. Ballance, T. Harty, N. Linke, M. Sepiol, and D. Lucas, "High-fidelity quantum logic gates using trapped-ion hyperfine qubits", Physical Review Letters 117, 060504 (2016).
- [18] D. Leibfried, B. DeMarco, V. Meyer, D. Lucas, M. Barrett, J. Britton, W. M. Itano, B. Jelenković, C. Langer, T. Rosenband, and D. J. Wineland, "Experimental demonstration of a robust, high-fidelity geometric two ion-qubit phase gate", Nature 422, 412 (2003).
- [19] A. Walther, F. Ziesel, T. Ruster, S. T. Dawkins, K. Ott, M. Hettrich, K. Singer, F. Schmidt-Kaler, and U. Poschinger, "Controlling fast transport of cold trapped ions", Physical Review Letters **109**, 080501 (2012).
- [20] R. B. Blakestad, C. Ospelkaus, A. P. VanDevender, J. M. Amini, J. Britton, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "High-fidelity transport of trapped-ion qubits through an X -junction trap array", Physical Review Letters **102**, 153002 (2009).
- [21] C. Decaroli, R. Matt, R. Oswald, C. Axline, M. Ernzer, J. Flannery, S. Ragg, and J. P. Home, "Design, fabrication and characterization of a micro-fabricated stacked-wafer segmented ion trap with two x-junctions", Quantum Science and Technology 6, 044001 (2021).

- [22] R. Lechner, C. Maier, C. Hempel, P. Jurcevic, B. P. Lanyon, T. Monz, M. Brownnutt, R. Blatt, and C. F. Roos, "Electromagnetically-induced-transparency ground-state cooling of long ion strings", Physical Review A 93, 053401 (2016).
- [23] G. Pagano, P. W. Hess, H. B. Kaplan, W. L. Tan, P. Richerme, P. Becker, A. Kyprianidis, J. Zhang, E. Birckelbaw, M. R. Hernandez, Y. Wu, and C. Monroe, "Cryogenic trapped-ion system for large scale quantum simulation", Quantum Science and Technology 4, 014004 (2018).
- [24] N. Friis, O. Marty, C. Maier, C. Hempel, M. Holzäpfel, P. Jurcevic, M. B. Plenio, M. Huber, C. Roos, R. Blatt, and B. Lanyon, "Observation of entangled states of a fully controlled 20-qubit system", Physical Review X 8, 021012 (2018).
- [25] M. K. Joshi, A Fabre, C Maier, T Brydges, D Kiesenhofer, H Hainzer, R Blatt, and C. F. Roos, "Polarization-gradient cooling of 1D and 2D ion Coulomb crystals", New Journal of Physics 22, 103013 (2020).
- [26] D. Kielpinski, C. Monroe, and D. J. Wineland, "Architecture for a large-scale ion-trap quantum computer", Nature 417, 709 (2002).
- [27] L. E. de Clercq, H.-Y. Lo, M. Marinelli, D. Nadlinger, R. Oswald, V. Negnevitsky,
 D. Kienzler, B. Keitch, and J. P. Home, "Parallel transport quantum logic gates with trapped ions", Physical Review Letters 116, 080502 (2016).
- [28] J. M. Pino, J. M. Dreiling, C. Figgatt, J. P. Gaebler, S. A. Moses, M. S. Allman, C. H. Baldwin, M. Foss-Feig, D. Hayes, K. Mayer, C. Ryan-Anderson, and B. Neyenhuis, "Demonstration of the trapped-ion quantum CCD computer architecture", Nature **592**, 209 (2021).
- [29] P. C. Holz, S. Auchter, G. Stocker, M. Valentini, K. Lakhmanskiy, C. Rössler, P. Stampfer, S. Sgouridis, E. Aschauer, Y. Colombe, and R. Blatt, "2D linear trap array for quantum information processing", Advanced Quantum Technologies 3, 2000031 (2020).
- [30] K. R. Brown, C. Ospelkaus, Y. Colombe, A. C. Wilson, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "Coupled quantized mechanical oscillators", Nature 471, 196 (2011).
- [31] M. Harlander, R. Lechner, M. Brownnutt, R. Blatt, and W. Hänsel, "Trapped-ion antennae for the transmission of quantum information", Nature **471**, 200 (2011).
- [32] A. C. Wilson, Y. Colombe, K. R. Brown, E. Knill, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "Tunable spin-spin interactions and entanglement of ions in separate potential wells", Nature 512, 57 (2014).

- [33] C. D. Bruzewicz, J. Chiaverini, R. McConnell, and J. M. Sage, "Trapped-ion quantum computing: progress and challenges", Applied Physics Reviews 6, 021314 (2019).
- [34] G. Wallis and D. I. Pomerantz, "Field assisted glass-metal sealing", Journal of Applied Physics 40, 3946 (1969).
- [35] N. D. Guise, S. D. Fallek, K. E. Stevens, K. R. Brown, C. Volin, A. W. Harter, J. M. Amini, R. E. Higashi, S. T. Lu, H. M. Chanhvongsak, T. A. Nguyen, M. S. Marcus, T. R. Ohnstein, and D. W. Youngner, "Ball-grid array architecture for microfabricated ion traps", Journal of Applied Physics **117**, 174901 (2015).
- [36] J. Stuart, R. Panock, C. Bruzewicz, J. Sedlacek, R. McConnell, I. Chuang, J. Sage, and J. Chiaverini, "Chip-integrated voltage sources for control of trapped ions", Physical Review Applied 11, 024010 (2019).
- [37] M. Sieberer, C. Sandner, and P. Hadley, "A cryogenic high-voltage amplifier for ion traps", SMACD / PRIME 2021; International Conference on SMACD and 16th Conference on PRIME, 1 (2021).
- [38] K. K. Mehta, C. D. Bruzewicz, R. McConnell, R. J. Ram, J. M. Sage, and J. Chiaverini, "Integrated optical addressing of an ion qubit", Nature Nanotechnology 11, 1066 (2016).
- [39] R. J. Niffenegger, J. Stuart, C. Sorace-Agaskar, D. Kharas, S. Bramhavar, C. D. Bruzewicz, W. Loh, R. T. Maxson, R. McConnell, D. Reens, G. N. West, J. M. Sage, and J. Chiaverini, "Integrated multi-wavelength control of an ion qubit", Nature 586, 538 (2020).
- [40] M. L. Day, K. Choonee, Z. Chaboyer, S. Gross, M. J. Withford, A. G. Sinclair, and G. D. Marshall, "A micro-optical module for multi-wavelength addressing of trapped ions", Quantum Science and Technology 6, 024007 (2021).
- [41] S. Earnshaw, "On the nature of the molecular forces which regulate the constitution of the luminiferous ether", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 7, 97 (1848).
- [42] W. Paul, "Electromagnetic traps for charged and neutral particles", Reviews of Modern Physics 62, 531 (1990).
- [43] P. K. Ghosh, *Ion traps* (Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1995).
- [44] D. Leibfried, R. Blatt, C. Monroe, and D. Wineland, "Quantum dynamics of single trapped ions", Reviews of Modern Physics 75, 281 (2003).
- [45] C. Decaroli, "Multi-wafer ion traps for scalable quantum information processing", PhD thesis (ETH Zürich, 2021).

- [46] A. Steane, "The ion trap quantum information processor", Applied Physics B: Lasers and Optics 64, 623 (1997).
- [47] P. A. Barton, C. J. S. Donald, D. M. Lucas, D. A. Stevens, A. M. Steane, and D. N. Stacey, "Measurement of the lifetime of the 3d2d5/2 state in ⁴⁰Ca⁺", Physical Review A 62, 032503 (2000).
- [48] J. Jin and D. A. Church, "Precision lifetimes for the Ca⁺ 4p2p levels: experiment challenges theory at the 1% level", Physical Review Letters **70**, 3213 (1993).
- [49] C. Roos, "Controlling the quantum state of trapped ions", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2000).
- [50] D. J. Wineland and W. M. Itano, "Laser cooling of atoms", Physical Review A 20, 1521 (1979).
- [51] M. Ramm, T. Pruttivarasin, M. Kokish, I. Talukdar, and H. Häffner, "Precision measurement method for branching fractions of excited p1/2 states applied to ⁴⁰Ca⁺", Physical Review Letters **111**, 023004 (2013).
- [52] I. Marzoli, J. I. Cirac, R. Blatt, and P. Zoller, "Laser cooling of trapped three-level ions: designing two-level systems for sideband cooling", Physical Review A 49, 2771 (1994).
- [53] C. Roos, T. Zeiger, H. Rohde, H. C. Nägerl, J. Eschner, D. Leibfried, F. Schmidt-Kaler, and R. Blatt, "Quantum state engineering on an optical transition and decoherence in a Paul trap", Physical Review Letters 83, 4713 (1999).
- [54] H. Häffner, C. Roos, and R. Blatt, "Quantum computing with trapped ions", Physics Reports 469, 155 (2008).
- [55] F. Lindenfelser, M. Marinelli, V. Negnevitsky, S. Ragg, and J. P. Home, "Cooling atomic ions with visible and infra-red light", New Journal of Physics 19, 063041 (2017).
- [56] H. Dehmelt, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **20** (1975).
- [57] P. H. Leung and K. R. Brown, "Entangling an arbitrary pair of qubits in a long ion crystal", Physical Review A 98, 032318 (2018).
- [58] C. Monroe, R. Raussendorf, A. Ruthven, K. R. Brown, P. Maunz, L.-M. Duan, and J. Kim, "Large-scale modular quantum-computer architecture with atomic memory and photonic interconnects", Physical Review A 89, 022317 (2014).

- [59] L. Stephenson, D. Nadlinger, B. Nichol, S. An, P. Drmota, T. Ballance, K. Thirumalai, J. Goodwin, D. Lucas, and C. Ballance, "High-rate, high-fidelity entanglement of qubits across an elementary quantum network", Physical Review Letters 124, 110501 (2020).
- [60] D. Wineland, C. Monroe, W. Itano, D. Leibfried, B. King, and D. Meekhof, "Experimental issues in coherent quantum-state manipulation of trapped atomic ions", Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology 103, 259 (1998).
- [61] W. K. Hensinger, S. Olmschenk, D. Stick, D. Hucul, M. Yeo, M. Acton, L. Deslauriers, C. Monroe, and J. Rabchuk, "T-junction ion trap array for two-dimensional ion shuttling, storage, and manipulation", Applied Physics Letters 88, 034101 (2006).
- [62] J. P. Home, D. Hanneke, J. D. Jost, J. M. Amini, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "Complete methods set for scalable ion trap quantum information processing", Science **325**, 1227 (2009).
- [63] M. G. Raizen, J. M. Gilligan, J. C. Bergquist, W. M. Itano, and D. J. Wineland, "Ionic crystals in a linear Paul trap", Physical Review A 45, 6493 (1992).
- [64] F. Schmidt-Kaler, H. Häffner, S. Gulde, M. Riebe, G. Lancaster, T. Deuschle, C. Becher, W. Hänsel, J. Eschner, C. Roos, and R. Blatt, "How to realize a universal quantum gate with trapped ions", Applied Physics B 77, 789 (2003).
- [65] P. Schindler, D. Nigg, T. Monz, J. T. Barreiro, E. Martinez, S. X. Wang, S. Quint, M. F. Brandl, V. Nebendahl, C. F. Roos, M. Chwalla, M. Hennrich, and R. Blatt, "A quantum information processor with trapped ions", New Journal of Physics 15, 123012 (2013).
- [66] J. Chiaverini, R. B. Blakestad, J. Britton, J. D. Jost, C. Langer, D. Leibfried, R. Ozeri, and D. J. Wineland, "Surface-electrode architecture for ion-trap quantum information processing", Quantum Information & Computation 5, 419 (2005).
- [67] M. A. Rowe, B. Ben-Kish, B. Demarco, D. Leibfried, V. Meyer, J. Beall, J. Briton, J. Hughes, W. M. Itano, C. Jelenkovic, C. Langer, T. Rosenband, and D. J. Wineland, "Transport of quantum states and separation of ions in a dual RF ion trap", Quantum Information & Computation 4, 257 (2002).
- S. Seidelin, J. Chiaverini, R. Reichle, J. Bollinger, D. Leibfried, J. Britton, J.
 Wesenberg, R. Blakestad, R. Epstein, D. Hume, W. Itano, J. Jost, C. Langer,
 R. Ozeri, N. Shiga, and D. Wineland, "Microfabricated surface-electrode ion

trap for scalable quantum information processing", Physical Review Letters **96**, 253003 (2006).

- [69] D. T. C. Allcock, J. A. Sherman, D. N. Stacey, A. H. Burrell, M. J. Curtis, G Imreh, N. M. Linke, D. J. Szwer, S. C. Webster, A. M. Steane, and D. M. Lucas, "Implementation of a symmetric surface-electrode ion trap with field compensation using a modulated Raman effect", New Journal of Physics 12, 053026 (2010).
- [70] N. Daniilidis, S. Narayanan, S. Möller, R. Clark, T. Lee, P. Leek, A. Wallraff, S. Schulz, F. Schmidt-Kaler, and H. Häffner, "Fabrication and heating rate study of microscopic surface electrode ion traps", New Journal of Physics 13, 013032 (2011).
- [71] J. Britton, D. Leibfried, J. A. Beall, R. B. Blakestad, J. H. Wesenberg, and D. J. Wineland, "Scalable arrays of rf paul traps in degenerate Si", Applied Physics Letters 95, 173102 (2009).
- [72] D. Leibrandt, J. Labaziewicz, R. Clark, I. Chuang, R. Epstein, C. Ospelkaus, J. Wesenberg, J. Bollinger, D. Leibfried, D. Wineland, D. Stick, J. Stick, C. Monroe, C.-S. Pai, Y. Low, R. Frahm, and R. Slusher, "Demonstration of a scalable, multiplexed ion trap for quantum information processing", Quantum Information and Computation 9, 901 (2009).
- [73] K. K. Mehta, A. M. Eltony, C. D. Bruzewicz, I. L. Chuang, R. J. Ram, J. M. Sage, and J. Chiaverini, "Ion traps fabricated in a CMOS foundry", Applied Physics Letters 105, 044103 (2014).
- [74] F. A. Shaikh and A. Ozakin, "Stability analysis of ion motion in asymmetric planar ion traps", Journal of Applied Physics 112, 074904 (2012).
- [75] D. T. C. Allcock, T. P. Harty, H. A. Janacek, N. M. Linke, C. J. Ballance, A. M. Steane, D. M. Lucas, R. L. Jarecki, S. D. Habermehl, M. G. Blain, D. Stick, and D. L. Moehring, "Heating rate and electrode charging measurements in a scalable, microfabricated, surface-electrode ion trap", Applied Physics B 107, 913 (2011).
- [76] D.-I. " Cho, S. Hong, M. Lee, and T. Kim, "A review of silicon microfabricated ion traps for quantum information processing", Micro and Nano Systems Letters 3, 2 (2015).
- [77] M. Diederich, H. Häffner, N. Hermanspahn, M. Immel, H. Kluge, R. Ley, R. Mann, W. Quint, S. Stahl, and G. Werth, "Observing a single hydrogen-like ion in a Penning trap at T = 4 K", Hyperfine Interactions 115, 185 (1998).

- [78] P. B. Antohi, D. Schuster, G. M. Akselrod, J. Labaziewicz, Y. Ge, Z. Lin, W. S. Bakr, and I. L. Chuang, "Cryogenic ion trapping systems with surface-electrode traps", Review of Scientific Instruments 80, 013103 (2009).
- [79] P. C. Holz, "Towards ion-lattice quantum processors with surface trap arrays", PhD Thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2019).
- [80] M. Mielenz, H. Kalis, M. Wittemer, F. Hakelberg, U. Warring, R. Schmied, M. Blain, P. Maunz, D. Moehring, D. Leibfried, and T. Schaetz, "Arrays of individually controlled ions suitable for two-dimensional quantum simulations", Nature Communications 7, ncomms11839 (2016).
- [81] M. G. House, "Analytic model for electrostatic fields in surface-electrode ion traps", Physical Review A 78, 033402 (2008).
- [82] Q. A. Turchette, Kielpinski, B. E. King, D. Leibfried, D. M. Meekhof, C. J. Myatt, M. A. Rowe, C. A. Sackett, C. S. Wood, W. M. Itano, C. Monroe, and D. J. Wineland, "Heating of trapped ions from the quantum ground state", Physical Review A 61, 063418 (2000).
- [83] M. D. Barrett, J. Chiaverini, T. Schaetz, J. Britton, W. M. Itano, J. D. Jost, E. Knill, C. Langer, D. Leibfried, R. Ozeri, and D. J. Wineland, "Deterministic quantum teleportation of atomic qubits", Nature 429, 737 (2004).
- [84] G. Wilpers, P. See, P. Gill, and A. G. Sinclair, "A monolithic array of threedimensional ion traps fabricated with conventional semiconductor technology", Nature Nanotechnology 7, 572 (2012).
- [85] R. Bowler, J. Gaebler, Y. Lin, T. R. Tan, D. Hanneke, J. D. Jost, J. P. Home, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "Coherent diabatic ion transport and separation in a multizone trap array", Physical Review Letters 109, 080502 (2012).
- [86] V. Kaushal, B. Lekitsch, A. Stahl, J. Hilder, D. Pijn, C. Schmiegelow, A. Bermudez, M. Müller, F. Schmidt-Kaler, and U. Poschinger, "Shuttling-based trapped-ion quantum information processing", AVS Quantum Science 2, 014101 (2020).
- [87] R. B. Blakestad, "Transport of trapped-ion qubits within a scalable quantum processor", PhD thesis (California Institute of Technology, 2010).
- [88] S. Ragg, C. Decaroli, T. Lutz, and J. P. Home, "Segmented ion-trap fabrication using high precision stacked wafers", Review of Scientific Instruments 90, 103203 (2019).

- [89] M. G. Blain, R Haltli, P Maunz, C. D. Nordquist, M Revelle, and D Stick, "Hybrid MEMS-CMOS ion traps for NISQ computing", Quantum Science and Technology 6, 034011 (2021).
- [90] D. Stick, W. K. Hensinger, S. Olmschenk, M. J. Madsen, K. Schwab, and C. Monroe, "Ion trap in a semiconductor chip", Nature Physics 2, 36 (2005).
- [91] A. Sørensen and K. Mølmer, "Entanglement and quantum computation with ions in thermal motion", Physical Review A 62, 022311 (2000).
- [92] M. Brownnutt, M. Kumph, P. Rabl, and R. Blatt, "Ion-trap measurements of electric-field noise near surfaces", Reviews of Modern Physics 87, 1419 (2015).
- [93] J. B. Johnson, "Thermal agitation of electricity in conductors", Phys. Rev. 32, 97 (1928).
- [94] H. Nyquist, "Thermal agitation of electric charge in conductors", Phys. Rev. 32, 110 (1928).
- [95] I. A. Boldin, A. Kraft, and C. Wunderlich, "Measuring anomalous heating in a planar ion trap with variable ion-surface separation", Physical Review Letters 120, 023201 (2018).
- [96] J. A. Sedlacek, A. Greene, J. Stuart, R. McConnell, C. D. Bruzewicz, J. M. Sage, and J. Chiaverini, "Distance scaling of electric-field noise in a surface-electrode ion trap", Physical Review A 97, 020302 (2018).
- [97] J. Labaziewicz, Y. Ge, D. Leibrandt, S. Wang, R. Shewmon, and I. Chuang, "Temperature dependence of electric field noise above gold surfaces", Physical Review Letters 101, 180602 (2008).
- [98] J. Chiaverini and J. M. Sage, "Insensitivity of the rate of ion motional heating to trap-electrode material over a large temperature range", Physical Review A 89, 012318 (2014).
- [99] K. R. Brown, J. Chiaverini, J. M. Sage, and H. Häffner, "Materials challenges for trapped-ion quantum computers", Nature Reviews Materials 6, 892 (2021).
- [100] D. A. Hite, Y. Colombe, A. C. Wilson, K. R. Brown, U. Warring, R. Jördens, J. D. Jost, K. S. McKay, D. P. Pappas, D. Leibfried, and D. J. Wineland, "100-fold reduction of electric-field noise in an ion trap cleaned with in-situ argon-ion-beam bombardment", Physical Review Letters 109, 103001 (2012).
- [101] P. Richerme, "Two-dimensional ion crystals in radio-frequency traps for quantum simulation", Physical Review A 94, 032320 (2016).

- [102] M. Kumph, P. Holz, K. Langer, M. Meraner, M. Niedermayr, M. Brownnutt, and R. Blatt, "Operation of a planar-electrode ion-trap array with adjustable RF electrodes", New Journal of Physics 18, 023047 (2016).
- [103] R. Schmied, J. H. Wesenberg, and D. Leibfried, "Optimal surface-electrode trap lattices for quantum simulation with trapped ions", Physical Review Letters 102, 233002 (2009).
- [104] G. Stocker, "Development of novel microfabricated ion traps", MA thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2018).
- [105] U. Hilleringmann, Silizium-Halbleitertechnologie (Springer-Verlag GmbH, Jan. 18, 2019).
- [106] D. Schärtl, "High temperature superconducting ion traps", MA thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2016).
- [107] J. Krupka, J. Breeze, A. Centeno, N. Alford, T. Claussen, and L. Jensen, "Measurements of permittivity, dielectric loss tangent, and resistivity of float-zone silicon at microwave frequencies", IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques 54, 3995 (2006).
- [108] S. Sun and J. Plummer, "Electron mobility in inversion and accumulation layers on thermally oxidized silicon surfaces", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 27, 1497 (1980).
- [109] G. Kaye and Laby, "Tables of physical and chemical constants and some mathematical functions", Journal of the Society of Chemical Industry 55, 861 (1936).
- [110] T. Yang, C. Fu, T. Wolf, T. Adams, J. Costigan, J. Ryan, D. Schrope, D. Stone, and J. Cuthbert, "Advanced i-line lithography for 0.5 mu m CMOS technology", in 1991 international symposium on VLSI technology, systems, and applications proceedings of technical papers (1991), pp. 22–27.
- [111] M. Valentini, "To be published", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2023).
- [112] J. M. Amini, H Uys, J. H. Wesenberg, S Seidelin, J Britton, J. J. Bollinger, D Leibfried, C Ospelkaus, A. P. VanDevender, and D. J. Wineland, "Toward scalable ion traps for quantum information processing", New Journal of Physics 12, 033031 (2010).
- [113] M. D. Henry and C. R. Ahlers, "Platinum diffusion barrier breakdown in a-Si/Au eutectic wafer bonding", IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology 3, 899 (2013).

- [114] L. K. Shiuann, "Laser as a future direction for wafer dicing: parametric study and quality assessment", in 2006 thirty-first IEEE/CPMT international electronics manufacturing technology symposium (2006), pp. 506–509.
- [115] M. Kumagai, N. Uchiyama, E. Ohmura, R. Sugiura, K. Atsumi, and K. Fukumitsu, "Advanced dicing technology for semiconductor wafer—stealth dicing", IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing 20, 259 (2007).
- [116] R. Barnett, O. Ansell, and D. Thomas, "Considerations and benefits of plasma etch based wafer dicing", in 2013 IEEE 15th electronics packaging technology conference (EPTC 2013) (2013).
- W.-S. Lei, A. Kumar, and R. Yalamanchili, "Die singulation technologies for advanced packaging: a critical review", Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena **30**, 040801 (2012).
- [118] DISCO Corporation, https://www.disco.co.jp/eg/index.html, Accessed: 2023-03-22.
- [119] M. C. Revelle, "Phoenix and peregrine ion traps", arXiv: 2009.02398 (2020).
- [120] M. Dietl, "To be published", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2024).
- [121] D. R. Lide, Crc handbook of chemistry and physics, 75th ed. (CRC press, 1994).
- [122] P. Patsalas, C. Charitidis, S. Logothetidis, C. A. Dimitriadis, and O. Valassiades, "Combined electrical and mechanical properties of titanium nitride thin films as metallization materials", Journal of Applied Physics 86, 5296 (1999).
- [123] J. Ekin, *Experimental techniques for low-temperature measurements* (Oxford University Press, 2006).
- [124] K. Lakhmanskiy, "On heating rates in cryogenic surface ion traps", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2019).
- [125] C. M. Osburn and D. W. Ormond, "Dielectric breakdown in silicon dioxide films on silicon", Journal of The Electrochemical Society 119, 591 (1972).
- [126] S. Li, "Improvement of surface flashover in vacuum", High Voltage 5, 122 (2020).
- [127] M. Niedermayr, "Cryogenic surface ion traps", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2015).
- [128] M. F. Brandl, P. Schindler, T. Monz, and R. Blatt, "Cryogenic resonator design for trapped ion experiments in Paul traps", Applied Physics B 122, 157 (2016).

- [129] D. Gandolfi, M. Niedermayr, M. Kumph, M. Brownnutt, and R. Blatt, "Compact radio-frequency resonator for cryogenic ion traps", Review of Scientific Instruments 83, 084705 (2012).
- [130] R. Lechner, "Photoionization of ⁴⁰Ca with a frequency-doubled 422 nm laser and a 377 nm laser diode", MA thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2010).
- [131] M. Kumph, "2D arrays of ion traps for large scale integration of quantum information processors", PhD thesis (Leopold-Franzens Universität Innsbruck, 2015).
- [132] R. Stricker, "Gatteroperationen hoher Güte in einem optischen Quantenbit", MA thesis (Leopold-Franzens Universität Innsbruck, 2017).
- [133] R. W. P. Drever, J. L. Hall, F. V. Kowalski, J. Hough, G. M. Ford, A. J. Munley, and H. Ward, "Laser phase and frequency stabilization using an optical resonator", Applied Physics B Photophysics and Laser Chemistry **31**, 97 (1983).
- [134] Grafana, https://grafana.com, Accessed: 2023-03-22.
- [135] P. Schindler, "Frequeny synthesis and pulse shaping for quantum information proessing with trapped ions", MA thesis (Leopold-Franzens-Universität Innsbruck, 2008).
- [136] W. Bludau, A. Onton, and W. Heinke, "Temperature dependence of the band gap of silicon", Journal of Applied Physics 45, 1846 (1974).
- [137] M. Kumph, C. Henkel, P. Rabl, M. Brownnutt, and R. Blatt, "Electric-field noise above a thin dielectric layer on metal electrodes", New Journal of Physics 18, 023020 (2016).
- [138] D. A. Hite, K. S. McKay, and D. P. Pappas, "Surface science motivated by heating of trapped ions from the quantum ground state", New Journal of Physics 23, 103028 (2021).
- [139] G. Tan, M. F. Lemon, and R. H. French, "Optical properties and london dispersion forces of amorphous silica determined by vacuum ultraviolet spectroscopy and spectroscopic ellipsometry", Journal of the American Ceramic Society 86, 1885 (2003).
- [140] W. J. Gignac, R. S. Williams, and S. P. Kowalczyk, "Valence- and conductionband structure of the sapphire (11⁻⁰²) surface", Physical Review B 32, 1237 (1985).

- [141] S. Auchter, C. Axline, C. Decaroli, M. Valentini, L. Purwin, R. Oswald, R. Matt, E. Aschauer, Y. Colombe, P. Holz, T. Monz, R. Blatt, P. Schindler, C. Rössler, and J. Home, "Industrially microfabricated ion trap with 1 eV trap depth", Quantum Science and Technology 7, 035015 (2022).
- [142] M. Niedermayr, K. Lakhmanskiy, M. Kumph, S. Partel, J. Edlinger, M. Brownnutt, and R. Blatt, "Cryogenic surface ion trap based on intrinsic silicon", New Journal of Physics 16, 113068 (2014).
- [143] *PIEDMONS*, https://www.piedmons.eu, Accessed: 2022-10-09.
- [144] J. K. Rowling, Harry Potter and the Prisoner of Azkaban (London: Bloomsbury Pub., 1999).
- [145] M. Teller, D. A. Fioretto, P. C. Holz, P. Schindler, V. Messerer, K. Schüppert, Y. Zou, R. Blatt, J. Chiaverini, J. Sage, and T. E. Northup, "Heating of a trapped ion induced by dielectric materials", Physical Review Letters **126**, 230505 (2021).
- [146] G. R. Brady, A. R. Ellis, D. L. Moehring, D. Stick, C. Highstrete, K. M. Fortier, M. G. Blain, R. A. Haltli, A. A. Cruz-Cabrera, R. D. Briggs, J. R. Wendt, T. R. Carter, S. Samora, and S. A. Kemme, "Integration of fluorescence collection optics with a microfabricated surface electrode ion trap", Applied Physics B 103, 801 (2011).
- [147] R. Noek, G. Vrijsen, D. Gaultney, E. Mount, T. Kim, P. Maunz, and J. Kim, "High speed, high fidelity detection of an atomic hyperfine qubit", Optics Letters 38, 4735 (2013).
- [148] A. L. Danilyuk, A. G. Trafimenko, A. K. Fedotov, I. A. Svito, and S. L. Prischepa, "Low temperature conductivity in n-type noncompensated silicon below insulatormetal transition", Advances in Condensed Matter Physics **2017**, 1 (2017).
- [149] K. M. Knowles and A. T. J. van Helvoort, "Anodic bonding", International Materials Reviews 51, 273 (2006).
- [150] R. Ghodssi and P. Lin, MEMS Materials and Processes Handbook (Springer-Verlag GmbH, Mar. 18, 2011), 1188 pp.
- [151] R. Wolffenbuttel and K. Wise, "Low-temperature silicon wafer-to-wafer bonding using gold at eutectic temperature", Sensors and Actuators A: Physical 43, 223 (1994).
- [152] S. Tsau Spearing, "Fabrication of wafer-level thermocompression bonds", Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems 11, 641 (2002).
- [153] R. Knechtel, "Glass frit bonding: an universal technology for wafer level encapsulation and packaging", Microsystem Technologies 12, 63 (2005).

- [154] M. Wiemer, C. Jia, M. Toepper, and K. Hauck, "Wafer bonding with BCB and SU-8 for MEMS packaging", in 2006 1st electronic systemintegration technology conference, Vol. 2 (2006), pp. 1401–1405.
- [155] E. Peeters, S. Vergote, B. Puers, and W. Sansen, "A combined silicon fusion and glass/silicon anodic bonding process for a uniaxial capacitive accelerometer", Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering 2, 167 (1992).
- [156] T. Rogers, N. Aitken, K. Stribley, and J. Boyd, "Improvements in MEMS gyroscope production as a result of using in situ, aligned, current-limited anodic bonding", Sensors and Actuators A: Physical **123-124**, 106 (2005).
- [157] J. He, F. Yang, W. Wang, L. Zhang, X. Huang, and D. Zhang, "Electric current characteristic of anodic bonding", Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering 25, 065002 (2015).
- [158] V. Dragoi, P. Lindner, T. Glinsner, M. Wimplinger, and S. Farrens, "Advanced anodic bonding processes for MEMS applications", MRS Online Proceedings Library 782, 580 (2003).
- [159] L. Purwin, "Development of a triple stack wafer bond for ion traps", MA thesis (Technische Universität Chemnitz, 2021).
- [160] F. Paschen, "Über die zum Funkenübergang in Luft, Wasserstoff und Kohlensäure bei verschiedenen Drucken erforderliche Potentialdifferenz", Annalen der Physik 273, 69 (1889).
- [161] A. J. Garratt-Reed, D. C. Bell, and P. Nicholson, "Energy-dispersive X-ray analysis in the electron microscope", Scanning 25, 162 (2006).
- [162] L. W. Kong, A. C. Diebold, A. Rudack, S. Arkalgud, E. M. Secula, D. G. Seiler, R. P. Khosla, D. Herr, C. M. Garner, R. McDonald, and A. C. Diebold, "Scanning acoustic microscope of 3D-interconnect", in AIP conference proceedings, Vol. 1173, 1 (2009), pp. 159–162.
- [163] A. Briggs and O. Kolosov, Acoustic microscopy (Oxford University Press, 2009).
- [164] A. T. J. van Helvoort, K. M. Knowles, and J. A. Fernie, "Characterization of cation depletion in Pyrex during electrostatic bonding", Journal of The Electrochemical Society 150, G624 (2003).
- [165] S. Satoh, H. Fukushi, M. Esashi, and S. Tanaka, "Comprehensive die shear test of silicon packages bonded by thermocompression of Al layers with thin Sn capping or insertions", Micromachines 9, 174 (2018).
- [166] M. Malinovski, "Unitary and dissipative trapped-ion entanglement using integrated optics", PhD thesis (ETH Zürich, 2021).

- [167] C. Zhang, "Scalable technologies for surface-electrode ion traps", PhD thesis (ETH Zurich, 2021).
- [168] A. Zesar, "Evaluation of dielectric loss in plasma oxides in microfabricated ion traps", MA thesis (Graz University of Technology, 2021).
- [169] C. Ji, D. Liu, C. Zhang, and L. Guo, "Ultrathin-metal-film-based transparent electrodes with relative transmittance surpassing 100%", Nature Communications 11, 3367 (2020).
- [170] L. Skowronski, A. Wachowiak, and A. Grabowski, "Characterization of optical and microstructural properties of semitransparent TiO₂/Ti/glass interference decorative coatings", Applied Surface Science **388**, 731 (2016).
- [171] Z. Wang, "3-d integration and through-silicon vias in MEMS and microsensors", Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems 24, 1211 (2015).
- [172] F. Chen and J. R. V. de Aldana, "Optical waveguides in crystalline dielectric materials produced by femtosecond-laser micromachining", Laser & Photonics Reviews 8, 251 (2013).
- [173] F. He, J. Lin, and Y. Cheng, "Fabrication of hollow optical waveguides in fused silica by three-dimensional femtosecond laser micromachining", Applied Physics B 105, 379 (2011).
- [174] S. Gross, M. J. Withford, and A. Fuerbach, "Direct femtosecond laser written waveguides in bulk Ti³⁺:Sapphire", in Frontiers in ultrafast optics: biomedical, scientific, and industrial applications x, Vol. 7589, edited by A. Heisterkamp, J. Neev, S. Nolte, and R. P. Trebino (2010), 75890U.
- [175] J. Bai, G. Cheng, X. Long, Y. Wang, W. Zhao, G. Chen, R. Stoian, and R. Hui, "Polarization behavior of femtosecond laser written optical waveguides in Ti:Sapphire", Optics Express 20, 15035 (2012).
- [176] S. Winkler, "Depressed cladding waveguides in sapphire feasibility study for integrated optics in trapped ion quantum processors", MA thesis (Graz University of Technology, 2022).
- [177] J. S. Orcutt, S. D. Tang, S. Kramer, K. Mehta, H. Li, V. Stojanović, and R. J. Ram, "Low-loss polysilicon waveguides fabricated in an emulated high-volume electronics process", Optics Express 20, 7243 (2012).
- [178] T. Asikainen, M. Ritala, and M. Leskelä, "Growth of indium-tin-oxide thin films by atomic layer epitaxy", Journal of The Electrochemical Society 142, 3538 (1995).

- [179] H. Salami, A. Uy, A. Vadapalli, C. Grob, V. Dwivedi, and R. A. Adomaitis, "Atomic layer deposition of ultrathin indium oxide and indium tin oxide films using a trimethylindium, tetrakis(dimethylamino)tin, and ozone precursor system", Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 37, 010905 (2019).
- [180] M. Wiesel, G. Birkl, M. S. Ebrahimi, A. Martin, W. Quint, N. Stallkamp, and M. Vogel, "Optically transparent solid electrodes for precision Penning traps", Review of Scientific Instruments 88, 123101 (2017).
- [181] H. Bisht, H.-T. Eun, A. Mehrtens, and M. Aegerter, "Comparison of spray pyrolyzed FTO, ATO and ITO coatings for flat and bent glass substrates", Thin Solid Films 351, 109 (1999).
- [182] C. R. Clark, C. wen Chou, A. Ellis, J. Hunker, S. A. Kemme, P. Maunz, B. Tabakov, C. Tigges, and D. L. Stick, "Characterization of fluorescence collection optics integrated with a microfabricated surface electrode ion trap", Physical Review Applied 1, 024004 (2014).
- [183] Y. Bellouard, A. Said, M. Dugan, and P. Bado, "Fabrication of high-aspect ratio, micro-fluidic channels and tunnels using femtosecond laser pulses and chemical etching", Optics Express 12, 2120 (2004).
- [184] M. Lueck, A. Huffman, and A. Shorey, "Through glass vias (TGV) and aspects of reliability", in 2015 IEEE 65th electronic components and technology conference (ECTC) (2015), pp. 672–677.
- [185] A. B. Shorey and R. Lu, "Progress and application of through glass via (TGV) technology", in 2016 pan pacific microelectronics symposium (pan pacific) (2016), pp. 1–6.
- [186] L. Chen, H. Wu, M. Zhang, F. Jiang, T. Yu, and D. Yu, "Development of laserinduced deep etching process for through glass via", in 2019 20th international conference on electronic packaging technology(ICEPT) (2019), pp. 1–4.
- [187] R. Ostholt, N. Ambrosius, and R. A. Kruger, "High speed through glass via manufacturing technology for interposer", in Proceedings of the 5th electronics system-integration technology conference (ESTC) (2014), pp. 1–3.
- [188] P. Zhao, J. P. Likforman, H. Y. Li, J. Tao, T. Henner, Y. D. Lim, W. W. Seit, C. S. Tan, and L. Guidoni, "TSV-integrated surface electrode ion trap for scalable quantum information processing", Applied Physics Letters 118, 124003 (2021).
- [189] K. K. Mehta, C. Zhang, M. Malinowski, T.-L. Nguyen, M. Stadler, and J. P. Home, "Integrated optical multi-ion quantum logic", Nature 586, 533 (2020).

- [190] P. Knapkiewicz, "Ultra-low temperature anodic bonding of silicon and borosilicate glass", Semiconductor Science and Technology 34, 035005 (2019).
- [191] G. Kalkowski, U. Zeitner, T. Benkenstein, J. Fuchs, C. Rothhardt, and R. Eberhardt, "Direct wafer bonding for encapsulation of fused silica optical gratings", Microelectronic Engineering 97, 177 (2012).
- [192] OptoQuant, https://projekte.ffg.at/projekt/3995850, Accessed: 2022-10-09.
- [193] ATIQ, https://www.quantentechnologien.de/forschung/foerderung/ quantencomputer-demonstrationsaufbauten/atiq.html, Accessed: 2022-10-09.
- [194] R. Chatterjee, "Integration of cryogenic MOS switches for quantum computers", MA thesis (Technische Universität Dresden, 2022).

Acknowledgements

In the first place I want to thank Prof. Rainer Blatt for giving me the great opportunity to work in the Quantum Optics and Spectroscopy Group, experience state-of-art research in a very interesting field of quantum physics, and making this thesis even possible. Many thanks to my supervisors Yves Colombe and Philipp Schindler who helped me finding my way in the new research topic and were always available for discussions to support the progress of the project. I would also like to thank Philip Holz and Kirill Lakhmanskiy for the detailed briefing on the peculiarities of the Cryolab. The first attempts to trap an ion have remained in my memory as a very fascinating and thrilling time. I got to spend most of my time in the lab with Marco Valentini, with whom I experienced exciting as well as exasperating moments. Nevertheless, we have always found a reason to laugh! Special thanks to Viktor Messerer, who made my time in Innsbruck even more enjoyable through interesting conversations every noon and various sporting activities on the weekends.

I would also like to mention the fruitful collaboration with the TIQI group led by Jonathan Home at ETH Zurich, in particular Chiara Decaroli and Chris Axline, who went to great lengths to help characterize the Azkaban trap.

On the Infineon side, I wish to thank Elmar Aschauer for welcoming me into his group, where I was able to work directly with very helpful experts in MEMS technology. A great thanks goes to Clemens Rössler, for his amazing support as my Infineon supervisor. He always took time to discuss fabrication topics and showed me how much fun problem solving can be. I thank Infineon UPE, UPD, OP, FA and Assembly, without whom successful trap fabrication and characterization would not have been possible. I am grateful to Lina Purwin for her active support in the trap fabrication during my laboratory time in Innsbruck, especially for her help in optimizing the wafer bond. I would also like to mention my MEMS colleagues Andris, Jan, Yucheng, and many more who have always given me advice on a wide range of technical and general topics and have accepted me into their group, even though I am not a nerd. Thanks to the entire Infineon Iontrap team, all former and current colleagues, with whom one simply has so much fun working. Together, we developed so many incredible ideas and found creative solutions to tricky problems, one cannot imagine a better team spirit.

Thank you, Markus, you have always built me up and supported me when I doubted myself and my progress in work. Thank you, Matthias and Alex, for our wonderful time in Villach, the many fantastic moments and adventures that have made even the most stressful times bearable. Thank you, Mama, Peter, Anja and Papa for the unconditional support that only a family can give, no matter how far apart we may be.



Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel verwendet habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder inhaltlich den angegebenen Quellen entnommen wurden, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde bisher in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch nicht als Magister-/Master-/Diplomarbeit/Dissertation eingereicht.

Datum

Unterschrift